APPENDIX VI

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The information in this Appendix VI has been reproduced from the statutory accounts of Tuan Sing
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and has not
been specifically prepared for inclusion in this Information Memorandum.
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DIRECTORS’
STATEMENT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The Directors of the Company presant their statement together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and
staternent of financial position and staternent of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2018,

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a)

L]

the consolidated financial staterents of tha Group and the statemant of financial position and statement of changes in
equity of the Company as set out on pages 96 to 188 are drawn up 50 as to give a true and fair view of the financial
positicn of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2018, and the financial performance, changes in equity and
cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year than ended; and

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when
they fall due.

DIRECTORS
Thea Directors of the Company In office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Mr Ong Beng Kheong

Mr Willkam Mursalim alias William Lism
Mr Cheng Hong Kok

Mr Choo Teow Huat Albert

Mr David Lee Kay Tuan

Mz Michelle Liem Mei Fung

Mr Meo Ban Chuan

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TD ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Meither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party fo any arrangemant
whose object is to enable the Directors of the Company to acguire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS® INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interest in the share capital and
debantures of the Company or of related corporaticns as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the
Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) except as follows:

Heoldings registered Holdings in which Director is
in name of Director deemed to have an interest
As at As at As at As at
MNames of Directors and companies in 31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January
which interests are held 2018 2018 2018 2018
The Company (Ordinary Shares)
Mr Ong Bang Kheong 2,200 2,200 - -
Mr David Lea Kay Tuan 250,000 250,000 - =
Mz Michelle Liem Meal Fung - - 628,814,529 546,383 828
Mr William Mursalim aliags William Liem - - B2B,814,529 546,383,829
The Company
5580 million 5-year 4.50% per annum Notes
dug 2018 pursuant to the S3800,000,000
Multicurrency  Meadium  Term  Mote
Programme ("MTN Programme”)
Mr Willkam Mursalim alias William Liem 500,000 £500,000 = =
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3

DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONT'D)

Holdings registered Holdings in which Director is
in name of Director deemed to have an interest
As at As at As at As at
MNames of Directors and companies in 31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January
which interests are held 2018 2018 2018 2018
528150 million 3-year 6% per annum Motes
dug 2020 pursuant to the MTN Programme
Mr Ong Beng Kheong - - $500,000 £500,000
Mr Willkam Mursalim afias William Liem 500,000 £500,000 - =
Mr Choo Teow Huat Abert - - $250,000 $250,000
Mr David Lee Kay Tuan $500,000 £500,000 - =
Subsidiary
SP Corporation Limited (Ordinary Shares)
Ms Michelle Liem Mei Fung - - 28,148,319 28,146,319°
Hote

1 By virlue of intores! in Nuri Heldings (S) Pre Lid,

By virtue of Secticn 7 of the Act, M3 Michelle Liem Mei Fung and Mr Willlam Mursalim alias Wiliam Liem are deemed to
have an interest in the Company and in all the related corporations of the Company.

Thare was no change in any of the above-mentioned Directors’ interests between the end of the financial year and
21 January 2019,

SHARE OPTIONS
During the financial year, there were no options granted to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation
in the Group.

During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued by virtue of the
exgrcise of an option to take up unissued shares.

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group under
option.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

Tha Audit and Risk Committee performed functions specified in Section 2018 (5] of the Act, the SGX-ST Listing Manual
and the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance,

Tha Audit and Risk Committee of the Company Is chaired by Mr Choo Teow Huat Albert and includes Messrs David Lee
Kay Tuan and Neo Ban Chuan, all of whom are non-executive Directors and the majority including the Chairman, are
independent. The Audit and Risk Committee met eight times during the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and had
reviewed, inter alia, the following with the executive Director, external and internal auditors of the Company where relevant:

(&) the external and internal audit plans; the scope of the internal audit procedures and results of the internal auditors’
examination and evaluation of the Group's systems of intemal accounting controls;

[1+]] the Group's financial and operating results and accounting policies;

{c) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the financial statements of the Company before their
submission to the Directors of the Company and the external auditors' report on those financial statements;
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5 AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE {CONT D)
(d} the quarterly, half-yearly and annual announcemeants on the results and financial positions of the Company and the
Group,
(&) the interested person transactions as specified under Chapter 9 of the SGX-5T Listing Manual Rules;
i} the co-operation and assistance given by the management 1o the Group's external and internal auditors; and
(gl the re-appaintment of the extemal and internal auditors of the Group.
The Audit and Risk Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the
resources required for it to discharge its functions properly. It also has full discretion to invite any Director and executive
officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal avditors have unrestricted access 1o the Audit and Risk Committee.

The Audit and Risk Committee has recommended to the Directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for
ra-appointment as the external auditors of the Group at the ferthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Compary.

6 EXTERNAL AUDITORS
Dedoitte & Touche LLP have expressed their wilingness to accept re-appointment.

On Behalf of the Directors

Mr Ong Beng Kheong
Chairman

Mr William Mursalim alias William Liem
Chief Executive Officer

30 January 2019
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TO THE MEMEERS OF TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Tuan Sing Holdings Limited {the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive iIncome, consobidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of changes in equity
of the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, as set out on pages 98 to 188,

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and
statement of changes In equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) ("SFRS{)s") so as to give a trus and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and of the
consclidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and of the changes
in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Dpinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (*35As7). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority ("ACRA" Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities ("ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fullilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriata
to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are thosa matters that, in our professional judgement, ware of most significance In our audit of the financial
statements of the cument year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition of development properties

The Group enters into contracts with customers to sell specified residential unils which are under development based on the
terms and specifications as set out in the contracts. The analysis of whether the contracts comprises one or more performance
obligations, determination of whether the performance obligations are satisfied over time and the method used to measure progress
for revenue recognition for these development properties requires estimate by management.

The stage of completion iz measured by refarence to certifications of the value of work performed to date by third party quantity
surveyors as compared 1o the estimated total construction costs of the development project as approved by management.
Significant judgements are required to determine the total construction costs which include estimation for variation works and any
other claims from contractors, Any changes to the estimated total construction costs will impact the percentage of completion
("POC™), and consequentially the revenue recognised.

Our audit performed and responses thereon

We read the sales and purchase agreements of development properties and discussed with management to understand the
retevant terms of the agreements and the basis of management's identification of performance cbligations to determine whether
the criteria for recognising revenue over tima ware mal. We perormed proceduras to evaluate the design and implementation of
the relevant controds put in place by the Group in respect of revenua recognition from the development properties.

We also reviewed management's estimated total construction cost for each of the development projects, and assessed the
reasonableness of the assumptlions and estimates applied by management which included key elements such as construction costs
and variation works, taking also into consideration the need by management to account for any effects of significant or unusual
events that occurred during the year which may Impact the estimated total construction cost. In addition, we also used the value
of the work performed to date as provided by third party quantity surveyors, compared to the estimated total construction cost
and parformed arithmetic computations of the POC and revenue to be recognised for the year.
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We found managemaent’s basis of identifying performance obligations and the basis of revenue recognition for thase development
properties to be appropriate. We atso found management to have the relevant controls in place and that the key assumptions
applied by management for estimated total construction costs to be reasonable based on supportable information available.

Further disclosures are made in Mote 26 to the financial statemants.

Valuation of development properties

The Group has residential properties under development and held for sale which are mainly located in Singapore. These
developmeant properties are stated at the lower of cost and nat realisable valuees, The determination of the estimated net realisable
value of these development properties is dependent upen the Group's expectations of future selling prices. There is a risk that the
estimates of net realisable values may exceed future sefling prices, resulting In losses when properties are sold.

Our audit performed and responses thereon

We discussad with and evaluated management's basis used in their assessment in determining whather the Group's properties
under development and completed residential properties held for sale are impaired and the amount of impairment to be recorded
If any, based on the Group's estimated selling prices of these properties, by comparing where available, to recently transacted
prices and prices of past sales of comparable properties in surrounding locations. We also performed sensitivity analysis on the
estimated seling prices used by management in their assessment and considered the adequacy of the disclosures in respect of
the impairment losses presented in the financial statements for these properties.

We found management's estimates to be reasonable based on supportable information available, and that management had
applied thair knowledge of the business in determining the estimaled selling prices of the respective properties, by taking into
consideration the selling prices of recent sales of the respeciive properties and that of comparable properties, and expectations
of the property market conditions. We found that the Group had appropriately recorded the impairment loss in profit or loss and
the related disclosures to be appropriate,

Further disclosures are made in Mote 10 to the financlal statemants.

Valuation of investment properties and hotel properties
The Group has invesiment and hotel properties stated at fair value, determined based on professional external valuers engaged
by the Group.

The valuation process involves significant judgement and estimation. The valuations are depandent on the valuation methodology
applied and these are underpinned by a number of assumptions which incleded price per square metre of market comparables
used; capitalisation rates; price per square metre of gross/nel lettable area and value per room for hotel properties. A change in
the key assumgptions applied may have a significant impact to the valuation.

Our audit performed and responses thereon
We read the terms of engagement of the external valuers engaged and also considered the objectivity and independence of the
external valuers including their quakfications and competency.

We considered the appropriateness of the valuation techniques used by the external valuers for the respective investment and
hotel properties, taking Into account the profile and type of these properties. We discussed with the external valuers on the results
of their work, and compared the key assumptions used in their valuations by reference to externally publishad banchmarks where
available and considered whether these assumptions are consistent with the current market anvironment.

We alzo considered the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements, in describing the Inherent degree of subjectivity
and key assumptions in the estimates.

We found that the external valuers were recognised professionals with the appropriate level of gualifications and experience. The
valuation methodologies adopted were in Ene with generally accepted market practices for similar properties. The key assumptions
used were within reasonable rangs, laking into account historical rates and available industry data for comparable markets and
properties. We also found that the related disclosures in the financial staterments 1o be adeguate.

Further disclosures on the investment properties and hotel properties are found in Notes 13 and 12 to the financial statements
respactively.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Statement but does not
include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report,
and the Company and Strategy, Highlights of the Year, Corporate Stewardship, Management Discussion and Analysis, Corporate
Governance Report, Sustainability Report and Shareholding Statistics reports, which are expected to be made available to us
after that date.

QOur opinion an the financlal statements does nol cover the other informalion and we do not exprass any form of assurance
conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it
becomes avadable and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is malerially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge oblained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other infermation that we cbtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is materal misstaternent of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
repart in this regard.

When we read the other information which are expecled to be made avallable to us after the date of this auditor's report, if
we conclude that there is a material misstatement thersin, we are required to communicate the matier to those charged with
governance and take appropriate actions In accordance with SSAs.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Managemant is responsible for the preparation of financial staterments that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
provisions of the Act and SFRE{lls, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controds sufficient to provide
a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are
properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary (o permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and
to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going cencemn and using the going concarn basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Group or 1o cease operations, or has no realistic aternative but to do so.

The Directors’ responsibiliies include oversesing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or errer, and to Issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with S5As will always detect a matarial
misstaterment when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SS5As, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

ial Identify and assass the risks of material misstatement of the financial stalements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive 1o those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud s higher than for
ona resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intenticnal omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of intermnal control.

(b} Obtain an enderstanding of internal control relevant to the audit in crder to dasign awdit procadures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's intemnal control.

{c) Evaluatle the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

392



TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED STATUTORY REPORTS AND AccounTts 95
2018 ANNUAL REPORT

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

() Conclude on the appropriatenass of managemant’s usa of the going concern basis af accounting and, basad on the audit
evidence oblained, whather a material uncertainty exists related to evenls or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concem. If we conclude that a malerial uncertainty exisls, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modily our opinicn. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auvditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 10 cease to continue as a going concern.

{e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial stalements represent the underlying transactions and evenis in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

i Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinlon on the consclidated financlal statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion,

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we Identify during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all retationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters, We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 50 would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication,

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordanca with the provisions
of the Act.

The engagement partner an the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Loi Ches Keong.

Fublic Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

30 January 2019
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31 December 31 December 1 January 31December 31December 1 January
2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
(Restated)  (Restated) (Restated)  (Restated)
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balsnces 5 133,007 216,843 163,688 25,165 garar am
Trade and cther recehvables & T, 142 89,148 94,244 347 12,162 7,994
Contract assels 7 13,517 4,480 64,549 - - -
Confract cosls 8 757 485 3ar - - -
Amounts due from subsicianos 18 - - - 400,312 354,851 255 46T
Irveniones ] 2,792 2,506 3,554 - - -
Devedcpment propenies 10 358,530 188,680 183,232 - - -
Asset classified as held for sale 11 42,040 - - - £ =
Total current assats 626,785 502,542 500,614 425,824 455,750 263,762
Hon-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 425,944 446,749 422,921 67 £ =
Irvestment properties 13 1,742,662 1592687  1,108852 458 4598 4a8
Imvestments in subsidiaries 14 - - - 733,800 895,847 £84,755
Imvestments in equity accounted
vestens 15 117,914 93,185 83,579 - - -
Diefesred lax assats ! 2135 2,253 2,286 - - -
Contract assels T 1,934 5,057 = - = =
Cther non-cumen assats 12 12 1 - - -
Total non-current assets 2,200,601 2,139,843 1,617,440 734,365 BE6,145 BE85,253
Total assets 2,917,386 2642485 21270683 1,160,188 1,151,885 248,015
LIABRLITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Loans and bomowings 18 834,170 278,843 3406 TO.8TT - =
Trade and other payables 17 125,125 121,917 112,333 24,573 20,153 20,006
Amounts due to subsidianes 18 - - = 308,288 309,729 265,956
Contract labiities 20 583 ar2 - - - -
Derprative financial instruments 33 - a7 - - - -
Income tax payable 5317 13,523 22,290 14 84 &2
Total current kabilities 1,015,205 414,842 138,029 12,752 329,966 286,104
Hor-current liabilities
Loans and bomowings 16 T46,2T1 1179177 1,017,387 149,203 228,384 79,562
Derpvative inancial instruments 3 - - 1,019 - & =
Deterred tax kabities i 47,073 47,784 35,730 = = -
Caher non-cument Eabilities 17 ara 463 462 - - =
Total non-curment kabdies 9@, 717 1227424  1,054508 148,203 DOE3B4 79,562
Capftal, reserves and
non-controling interests
Share capial 22 173,845 172514 171,306 173,845 172,514 171,306
Treasury shanes 23 1,523 - - 1,523) e =
Reserves 24 921,080 BI7.077 752,006 425812 421,051 412,043
Enquity attributable to owners of
the company 1,093,452 989,591 923,402 598,234 553,565 583,349
Non-controling Interests : 15m2 10,628 1,04 o = a
Total equity 1,108,464 1,000,219 234,436 598,234 583,565 583,349
Total liabilities and equity 2, 917,386 2642485 2127063 1,160,189 1,151,885 949,015

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Mote £'000 $'000
(Restated)
Revenue 26 336,108 355,964
Cost of sales (267,390) {281,178}
Gross profit 68,718 64,785
Other operating income 10,632 7,346
Distribution costs (5,143) |5.885)
Administrative expenses (25,494) (26,319)
Other cperating expenses {5,577) (3,390)
Share of results of an equity accounted Investee 15 19,214 15,677
Interest income 27 5,226 4,150
Finance costs 2B {41,861) {33,173)
Profit before tax and fair value adjustments 25,715 23,19
Fair vaiue adjustmeants 29 113,084 44,814
Profit before tax 30 138,799 68,005
Income tax expansas E g {4,190) (5,261)
Profit for the year 134,609 62,744
Other comprehensive income
ltems that will not be reclassified subsequeantly to profit ar loss
Revaluation of properties 33 7,754 33,848
Income tax relating 1o components of other comprehensive income that
will not be reclassified subsequently 33 (2,358) (10,154)
5,396 23,892
lterns that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 33 {19,278) {9.045)
Share of other comprehensive income of an equity accounted investee 33 1,866 (6, 360)
Cash flow hedges a3 B2 6
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income that
may be reclazsified subsequently 33 (25) (275)
{17,355) {14,764)
Other comprehensive (less) income for the year, net of tax 33 (11,959) 8,928
Tetal comprehensive income for the year 122,650 71,672
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 134,376 62,632
Mon-controling interests 233 m2
134,609 62,744
Tetal comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 122,271 72,078
Mon-controlling interests a3re (406)
122,650 71,672
Basic and diluted eamings per share (in cents)
Including fair value adjustments 32 11.3 5.3
Excluding fair value adjustmeants 3z 1.9 1.8

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Note £000 $£'000
({Restated)
Operating activities
Profit before tax 138,789 68,005
Adjustments for:
Falr value gain 29 (113,084) (44.814)
Share of results of an equity accounted investee 15 (19,214) (15,677)
Write-back of allowance for diminution in value for
development properties, net 10 (1,576) {1,783)
Depreciation of property, ptant and egquipment 12 7.916 7776
Amaortisation of contract costs 8 725 a
Allowance for inventary obsolesceance, net g = 17
Allowance for doubtful trade and other recaivables, net B 525 425
MNet gain cn disposal of a subsidiary a0 (3,893) -
Met loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 30 36 ]
Interest income 27 (5,226) (4,150)
Finance costs 28 41,861 33,173
Operating cash flows belore movements in working capital 46,869 43,299
Development properties (162,227) (2.867)
Inventaries 65 872
Trade and other receivables 31,222 69,794
Contract costs (1,282) {148)
Contract assets (5,916) {7.238)
Contract liabilities 2 -
Trade and other payablas 3,298 8,350
Cash (used in)/generated from operations (87,750) 111,862
Interest received 6,114 2,059
Income tax paid {12,268) {12,406)
Nel cash (used In)/from operating activities (93,904) 101,515
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (3,433) (4,283)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 18 171
Additions to investment properties (85,949) (439,085)
Deposit paid for acquisition of land in Batam - {3.915)
Deposit collected from disposal of a subsidiary 35 - 4,284
Loan to a related party (20,000) -
Acquisition of investment in an associate (14,888) =
Acquisition of subsidiaries as {11,310}
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary as 16,547
Net cash used in investing aclivities (119,015) (442,808)
Financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 230,008 510,804
Repayment of loans and borrowings (38,349) (67,015)
Interest paid (50,054) (39,084)
Bank daposits (pledged)/released as securities for bank facilities (2,543) 656
Dividend pakd to shareholders (5,431) {5,866)
Purchase of treasury shares 23 (1,523) -
Shares bought back and cancelled 22 (258) {23)
Net cash from financing activities 131,850 399,552
Het (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (81,0689 58,250
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5 151,145 95,806
Foreign currency translation adjustments (3,509) (3.010)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 66,567 151,145

The accompanying notes form an ifegral part of the fnancial statemeants.
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Foreign Attributable
cumancy Asset Other 1o owners Non-

Share Treasury translation revaluation capital Revenue of the controlling Total

capital  Shares account reserve reserves’' reserve Company  interests Expusity
Group
At 1 Janusary 2018
{Previously reported) 172514 - (31,102) 130,112 150,662 583463 885,643 10628 996,277
Effects of adopting SFRS 1
and SFRS 15 : o = B4 3843 ) = 235 3,842 - 3942
A1 January 2018 (Restatod) 172,514 - (31,008 133755 150,562 553,550 869,551 10628 1,000,219
Total comprehensive income for
the year
Prifit for the year - - - - - 134,376 134,376 23 134,600
Exchangs differances on
tranelation of forsign
OPeratons 33 - - (17,558} - - - (17,558 146 (17413
Revalustion of properties 3 - 7,754 - 7,754 - 7,754
Cash flow hadges b - - - B2 B2 - B2
Income tax adustments
redating to other
Concsehensln incoimg = = = = BER B = 2383 e .
Other comprehensive fioss)/
ncorme for the year,
et of tax - - (17,558 5,396 57 - {12,105 146 (11,959
Total - - (17,558) 5,306 57 134376 12 79 122650
Tramsactions with owners,
rocognised directly in cguity
Transfer from revenue resane |
tey cther capital nesenes - - - - 17,388  (17,388) - - -
Mon-controling inferest ansing
from acouesition of
& subsary - - - - - - - 3405 3405
Mon-controding interest ansing
from incorporation of
& subsickary - - - - - - - 600 600
Issue of shares under the
Scrip Dhvidend Schema =2 1,689 - - - - - 1,669 - 1,689
Shares bought back and
canoeled el (258) - - (258) - (258
Repurchase of shares 3 - (1,523) = = (1,523 = 1,523
Diwvichand paid to shareholders
—Cash o - - (5431) (5.431) = (5431)
- Share F - - (1,688) (1,688 - (1,669
Goodwill paid over acquinng
ackEtional Shangs ina
member of associale - - - - {11,188 = (11,188 Sl VL
Total 1431 1,523 B - 6,180  [24,508) (18,410 4005 (14,405
A1 31 December 2018 173,845 (1,523)  (48,596) 139,151 156909 673566 1093452 15012 1,108,464

& Dafads of "Olher capilal resarves ™ ane disclosed in Nole 24.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial staterments.
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Foreign Attributable
currency Aszet Other o owners MNon-
Share tramslaion revaluation  capitsl  Revenue ofthe controling Total
capital  sccount  reserve  reserves' reserve  Company  interests Equity
Mote £'000 §'000 §'000 £'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 £000

Grup.
AL Janusary 2017 (Previousty reporied) 171,306 {16,151) 106420 126,787 531060 919432 11,034 930,456
Effects of adopting SFRSA) 1 and

SFRSM 15 - - 3,643 - aar 3.980 - 3,980
AR January 2017 (Restatod) 171,306 (16,151} 110063 128,787 531,387 823402 11,004 B34435
Total comprehensive income for

et yesar
Profit for the yaar - - - = 52,632 62532 112 2,744
Exchange dffemances on ransition '

of foregn operafions 3 | - {14,887) = - - 14,887 518 (15,408)
Rewvaluation of propertiss 3 - - 33,848 - - 33846 - 33848
Cash flow hedges 33 | = = - 916 = 96 - mME
Income tix acfustmants matng to

other comprehensive iIncome 33 | - - 110.154) 275 - (10429 - o429
Other comprehensive fosslincome:

for the year, net of tx - (4pe7) 2389 Bl - 94 515 8828
Tertal - {14,887 23,892 641 62 52 T2078 (405 71672
Transactions with owners, recognised

directty in equity
Transfer from nevenue resana 1o

other capital resenves - = = 23234 23234 - = =
ez of shanes under the

Senip Deadand Scheme 22 1,23 - - - = 123 - 1.231
Shares bought back and cancelled =~ 22 [ ]| = = - = =3 = =23
Dradend pad to sharehoidens

- Cash % - - - - (2,866 {5,856 - {5,866)

- Sharm 2% - - - - {1.231) {1.231) - 1,231)
Total 1,208 - - 23,234 30.331) {5,585 = (5,885
An 31 December 2017 (Restated) 172514 (31,068 133,755 150,662 563,608 083 50 10658 1000219

¥ Defads of *Other capilal resanas” ane disclosed in Nole 24,

The accompanying notes form an itegral part of the fnancial statements.
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Other
Share Treasury capital Revenue Total
capital shares reserve’ reserve equity
Note $'000 $'000 £'000 $'000 £'000
Company
At 1 January 2018 172,514 - 101,264 319,787 593,565
Profit for the year, representing total
comprehensive income for the year - - - 11,881 11,881
Transactions with owners, recognised
directly in equity
Issue of shares under the
Scrip Dividend Scheme 22 1,689 - - - 1,689
Déividend paid to shareholders
= Cash 25 - - - (5,431) (5,431)
- Share 25 = - - (1,6889) (1,689)
Shares bought back and cancelled 22 (258) - - - (258)
Repurchasze of shares 23 - (1,523) - - {1,523)
Total 1,431 {1,523) - (7,120) (7.212)
At 31 December 2018 173,945 (1,523) 101,264 324,548 598,234
At 1 January 2017 171,306 = 101,264 310,779 583,349
Profit for the year, representing total
comprehensive income for the year - - - 16,105 16,105
Transactions with owners, recognised directly
in equity
Issue of shares under the Scrip Dividend
Scheme 22 1,231 = = - 1,231
Dividend paid to shareholders
- Cash 25 - - - {5,866) (5.856)
- Shara 25 - - - 1,231) {1,231)
Shares bought back and cancelled 22 123) - - - {23)
Repurchase of shares | - - - - = |
Total 1,208 - - (7,097} (5.889)
At 31 December 2017 172,514 - 101,264 319,787 583,565

®  Derais of "Other capilal resanes” are disciosed in Note 24.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial staterments.
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1

GEMERAL

Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (Registration number: 196900130M) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with its
principal place of business and registered office at 9 Oxley Rise, #03-02 The Oxlay, Singapore 238697, The Company is
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars,

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its significant subsidiaries
and associates are disclosed in Notes 30 and 40 to the financial staterments respectively. There have been no significant
changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

The conscidated financial statemeants of the Group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 were authorisad for issue by the Board of Direclors on 30 January 2019,

For all periods up to and including the year ended 31 December 2017, the financial statemants were prepared in accordance
with the previous framewark, Financial Reparting Standards in Singapore ("FRSs"). Thesa financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 are the first set that the Group and the Company have prepared in accordance with Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (International) (*SFRS(1)"). Details of first-time adoption of SFRS{I) are included In Note 41.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(&) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, except as disclosed in
the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companias
Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (Intemnational) (“SFRS{)s").

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sall an asset or paid to transfer a liabdity in an orderly transaction
betwean market participants at the measurament date, regardiess of whether that price is directly cbservable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a Rability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or kabdity which market participants would take into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements ks determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of SFRS{l} 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
SFRSI) 1-17 Leases, and measuraments that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, swch as net
realisable value in SFRS(l) 1-2 Inventories or value in use in SFRS() 1-36 impairment of Assets.

in addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are calegorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

*  Leval 1 inputs are quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measuremant date;

= Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Leval 1, that are observabla for the asset
or Rability, either directly or indirectly; and

+  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
(b} Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:
*  Has power over the investes;
* |z exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

= Has the ability 10 use i1s power to affect its relurns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes 1o ong of more of the three elements of control listed above.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

(b}

Basis of consolidation (cont'd)

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investes when
the voting rights ara sufficient to give it the practical abiity 1o direct the relevant activities of the investea unilatarally.
The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances In assessing whether or not the Company's voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

*  The size of the Company’s halding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other
vole hotders;

+  Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
= Rights arising from other coniraciual arrangements; and

* Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current
ability 10 direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voling patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.

Conscéidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases whan the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposad of
during the year are Included in the consodated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprahensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controling interests, Total comprehensive incoma of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial staternents of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policles
im line with the Group's accounting policies.

Changes in the Group's ownership inferesls in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounis of the Group's interests and the non-
controlling interasts are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Whan the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recagnised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
Interest and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill}, and liabilitles of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprahensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly dispased of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
{i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
SFRS(s). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
reqgarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under SFRS{) 9, or when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint ventura.

In the Company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiares and associates are carmed at cost less
any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for
each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of assats given, Eabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred,
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

(b}

Basis of consolidation [cont'd)

Business combinations (cont'd)

Where applicable, the considaration for the acquisition includes any assel or liability resulting from a contingant
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values
are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below).
The subsequent accounting for changes in tha fair value of the contingent consideration that do not quality
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration s classified. Contingent
coensideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that Is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates at falr value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held interests in the acquired entity
are re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date {i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain
or loss, if any, B recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior 1o the acquisition
date that have praviously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, whera
such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquires's identifizble assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under
the SFRS() are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

+ Deierred tax assets or liabilities and liabslities or assets related to emplovee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with SFRS{l) 1-12 Income Taxes and SFRS() 1-19 Employes Benefits respectively,

+ Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacemeant
of an acquiree's share-based paymant awards transactions with share-based payment awards transactions of
the acquirer in accordance with the method in SFRS{T) 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

= Aszsats (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with SFRS{I) 5 Non-currant Assels
Hetd for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard.

Mon-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquirea’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis, Other types of non-controfling interasts are
measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another SFRS{).

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assats or liabiities
are recognised, to reflect new informaticn obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date that, if known, would have aflected the amounts recognised as of thal date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete
Information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and is subject to a maximum of
one year from acquisition date.

Associates (eguity accounted invesiees)

An associate is an enlity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence s the power to
participate in the financial and operating dacisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies,

The results of and assets and labilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is accounted for In accordance with SFRS{l) 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued COperations.
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(6}

]

Basis of consolidation (cont'd)

Associates (equity accounted investees) (cont'd)

Under the equity method, investment in associates are initially recognised in the consclidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the assoctates. When the Group's share of losses of the associate exceed the Group's
imterast in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
Investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further logses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive abfigations or made payments on
behalf of the assoclates.

An invastment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assels and liabilities of the investes is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and kabilities over tha cost of investment, after reassassment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired [Note 2(f)].

The requirements of SFRS{I} 9 are applied to determine whether it is necessary 1o recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group's investmeant in associates. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impaiment in accordance with SFRS() 1-36 Impalirment of Assels as a single
asset by comparing its recovaerable amount (higher of value In use and falr value less costs to sall) with its carrying
amaount, any impairment loss recognised lorms part of the carrying amount of the invesimant. Any reversal of that
impairment loss s recognised in accordance with SFRS(l) 1-36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
Investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to ba an associate,
or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the
fair value s regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with SFRS{) 9. The difference batwean the
carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interast in the associate s included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associates. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the refated assets or liabilites. Therefore, il a gain or loss praviously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or Rabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
whan the aquity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an assocciate becomes an investment in a
Joint venture, There Is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in cwnership interests.

Whaen the Group reduces its ownearship interast in an associate but the Group continues 1o use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in
othar comprehensive income refating to that reduction in ownerghip interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the refated assels or kabdities.

Where the group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and lossas resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
In the associate that are not related to the Group.

Foreign currency transactions and translation

Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each group entity are measured and prasented in the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (i.e. its functional currency).

The consolidated financial statemaents of the Group and the statement of financial position and statemeant of changes
in equity of the Company are presanted in Singapora dollar (*SG07) which is the functional currency of the Comparny
and the presentation currency for the consaolidated financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

(e}

(d)

Foreign currency transactions and transiation {cont'd)

Foreign cumrency ltransactions

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity's
functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. Al the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated to the functicnal currency at the
ratas prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monatary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary ilams that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency ara not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are
inciuded in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary iterms
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differances arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. For
such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
Income.

Exchange differences on forelgn currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, ara included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those
foraign currency borrowings.

Exchange differences on transactions entered Into In crder to hedge certain foreign currency risks are described
In the hedge accounting policies below Note 2(d).

Foreign currency translafion

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations (including comparatives) are expressed In Singapore dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (inclueding comparatives) are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluciuated significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
In other comprahensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign
currency translalion account.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a joint
venlure that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences In respect of that operation attributable to the Group are
reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed to non-controlling
Imterasts are derecognised, but they are not reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of partial disposal {i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controfling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all othaer partial disposals (l.e. of associates or joint ventures that do not result in
the Group losing significant influence or joint cantrol), the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
Is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assels and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translaled at the closing rate.

MNet investment in forelgn operations

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities (inchuding
monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign curmency translation account.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabisties are recognised on the Group's statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrumeants.

404



TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED STATUTORY REPORTS AND accounts 107
2018 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2018

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

(d}

Financial instruments (cont'd)

Financial assets and financial Rab#ities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added 10 or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial kabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquigition of financial assets or financial kabiities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
I profit or loss.

Financial azsets
Al financial assets are recognsed and de-recognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of financial assets
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of assets within the time frame establshed by the market concerned,

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

*  The financial asset is held within a business moedel whose objective is to hold financial assets in crder to collect
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

=  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates 1o cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FYTOCIH):

+  The financlal asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

*  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Despite the aforegoing, the Group may make the following irevocable election/designation at initial recognition of
a financial assat:

= the Group may irmevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

= the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch,

Amaortised cost and effective interest meathod
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
Interast income over the relavant pericd.

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assels, the effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash recelpts (including alf fees and points pakd or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding
expected credit lossas, through the expacted life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to
the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows,
Including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the dabt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repaymeants, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference
batween that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On the other hand, the gross
camrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.,

405



108 sSTATUTORY REPORTS AND ACCOUNTS TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

2018 ANNUAL REFORT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2018

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

(d)

Financial instruments (cont'd)

Amartized cost and effective interest method (cont'd)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost and at FVTOC!, For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financkal
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, excapt for financlal assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial agsets that have
subsaquently become credil-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate 1o the
amortisad cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting pericds, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial Instrument Improves so that the financlal asset s no longer credit-impalred, interest income Is recognised
by applying the effective intarest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financlal asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group recognises interest Income by applying
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The
calculation does not revert to the gross basis even il the credit risk of the financial asset subsaquently improves
50 that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interast income s recognisad in profit or loss under “interast incoma” line itam.

Fnancial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amorised cost or FVTOC! are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically:

+  |mvesiments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investment
that is neither held for trading nor a contingent considaration arising from a business combinaticn as at FYTOCH
on initial recogniticn.

* Debt instruments that do not meat the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOC! criteria are classified as at
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amaortised cost criteria or the FVTOC eriteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and kosses on them on different bases. The Group has not designated any debt instruments as at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised In profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The nat gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividand or interest earnad on the financial asset and is included
In the “other operating income” or "other operating expenses” ling item, Fair value is determined in the manner
describad in Note 38(a).

Foraign exchange gaing and losses

The carrying amount of financial assats that are denominaled in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translkated at the spot rate as at each reporting date. Specifically, for financial asseis measured at
FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging refationship, exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss
in the "other operating incoma” or "other operating expenses” line items.

Impairment of financial assels

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") on investments in debt instruments
that are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCH, contract assets, as well as on loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts. Mo impairment loss is recognised for investments in equity instruments. The amount of
expeclad credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition
of the respective financial instrurnent,

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for frade receivables and contract assets, The expected credit losses on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group®s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporing date, including time value of money whera
appropriate.
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(d)

Financial instruments (cont'd)

Impairment of financial assels (cont'd)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since Initial recognition. I, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
Increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessmant of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence
of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual default occuring.

Litetime ECL represants the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expectad
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit sk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default cccurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default cccurring on the financial Instrument as at the date of initial recogniticn. In making this assessment,
the Group considers bath quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-locking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-
looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group's debtors
operata, oblained from economic expert regorts, financial analysts, governmeantal bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate 1o the Group's core operations, namely the residential properties development, investment
properties, hotel operations and industrial services business.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

= Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditicns that are expected to cause
a significant decrease In the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations; thinness of counterparties;

* An actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
=  Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and

«  An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological envircnment
of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since Initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A financial instrumant is determined to have low credit risk if ([) the financial instrurment has a low risk of default,
{ii} the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (i) adverse
changes in economes and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower o fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood definition.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocabie
commitment is considerad 1o be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit nisk since initial recognition
of a loan commitment, the Group considers changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to which a lcan
commitment relates; for financial guarantes contracts, the Group considers the changes Iin the risk that the spacified
dablor will dafault on tha contract.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

(d}

Financial instruments (cant'd)

Significant increase in credlt sk (cont'd)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identity whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
Increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal cradit risk management purposes as
historical experence indicates that recelvables that meet either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable,

= When thera is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

+ |nformation developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the deblor is unlikely to pay
its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the abowe analysis, the Group considers that default has cccurred when a financial asset is more
than 80 days past due unless the Group has reascnable and supportable informaticn to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion ks more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial aszet s credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash fiows of that financial asset have occurrad. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
obsarvable data about the following events:

+  significant financial difficulty of the Issuer or the borrower;
* 3 breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

= the lender(s) of tha borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating 1o the borrower’s financial ditficulty,
having granted to tha borrower a concession(s) that the lendar(s) would not otherwise consider;

* it iz becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial recrganisation; or

+ tha disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Wiite-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset whan there & information indicating that the counterparty is in savers financial

difficulty and thera is no realistic prospect of recovery, 8.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner, Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking Into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurameant and recognition of expected credif iosses

The measuremant of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default {i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and tha exposure at default, The assessment of the probabiity of dafault
and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above, As
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets' gross carrying amount at the
reporting date; for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includas the amount drawn
down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by
default date determined based on historical trend, the Group's understanding of the specific future financing needs
of the debtors, and other relevant forward-kooking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference batween all contractual cash flows that
are due 1o the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the criginal effective interest rate.
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Financial instruments (cont'd)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses (cont'd)

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default by
the debior in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to recaive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For undrawn loan commitments, the expected credit loss is the present value of the difference between the
contractual cash flows that are due to the group if the holder of the loan commitment draws down the loan, and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant increases
in cradit risk at the individual instrument level may not yet be avallable, the financial instruments are Grouped on
the following basis:

*  Nature of financial instruments {i.e. the Group's trade and other recaivables and amounts due from customers
are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to related parties are assessed for expected credit losses on
an individual basis);

*  Past-due status,

= Mature, size and industry of debtors;

* Mature of collaterals for finance lease receivables; and
=  External cradit ralings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
simitar credit risk charactenstics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifstime ECL in the
previcus reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
data.

The Group recognises an iImpalrment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carying amount through a loss allowance account, except for irvestments in debt instruments
that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the camying amount of the financial asset
I the statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assat expire,

or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownerghip of the asset to
anather party. Il the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially alt the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a coflateralised
borrowing for the proceads received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s camrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Fnancial kabiities and equify instrurments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements enterad and the definitions of a financial abiity and an equity
Instrument.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

(d}

Financial instruments (cont'd)

Financial iabiities and equily instruments fcont'd)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its kabdiities. Equity instruments issued by a Group entity are recognised at the proceeds recelved, net of direct
Issue costs.

Repurchase of the company’s own equity instrumenis is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
Is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, Bsue or cancellation of the company’s own equity instruments.,

Financial liabilitias
Al financial liabdlities are subseguently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FYTPL.

However, financial liabilities that arisa when a transfer of a financial asset does not gualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies, financial guarantes contracts issued by the Group, and commitments
issued by the Group to provide a loan at below-market interest rate are measured in accordance with the specific
accounting policies set out below.

Financial iabiities at FYTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability Is () contingent consideration of an acquirer
In a business combination to which SFRS(l) 3 applies, (i) held for trading, or (i) it iz designated as at FYTPL.

A financial Eability is classified as hald for trading if:
* it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

*  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial nstruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattemn of short-term profit-taking; or

= it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee confract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument.

A financial Nabdlity other than a financial Hability held for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

= such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

*  the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, In accerdance with the Group's documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information about the group is provided internally on that basis; or

* |t forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and SFRS{) 9 permits the entire
combined contract 1o be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FYTPL are stated at fak value with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging refationghip. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is included in tha
“other operating incoma™ or “other operating expenses” line item.

Howewver, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial lab#ity that ks attributable to changes in the credit risk of that Eability is recognised in other comprehansive
income, unless the racognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehansive incoms
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value
of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk that
are recognised in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to refained earnings upon derecognition of the financial lability.
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Financial instruments (cont'd)

Financial Kabiities and equify instruments fcont'd)

Financial Kabiities at FVTPL (cont'd)

Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments issued by the Group that are designated
by the Group as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 38(g).

Financial fabilities subseguently measured 8t amortised cosf

Financial kabilities that are not (1) contingent considaration of an acquirer in a business combination, (2] held-for-
trading, or (3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amoriised cost using the effective interest
method.

The eflactive intarest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allccating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interast rate ks the rate thal exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
Interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability,
or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amartised cost of a financial liability.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantes contract I8 a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a less it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordanca with tha
terms of a debt instrument.

Financlal guarantee contracts izsued by a Group entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated
as at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

+ the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with SFRE(I) 9; and

= the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumuiative amount of income recognisad in accordance
with the revenua recognition policies.

Foreign exchange gaing and losses

For financial Eabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured al amortised cost as at
each reporting date, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
Instrumants. These forelgn exchange gains and losses are recognised In the “octher operating income® or “other
operating expense” line ilem In profit or loss for financial labilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

The falr value of financial labflities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spol rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial llabilities that are measured as at FVTPL,
the foreign exchange componant forms part of the fair value gains or losses and i recognised in profit or loss for
financial Kabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Daracognition of financial kabiities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial kability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Dertvative financial instruments
Thie Group enters into foresgn exchange forward contract to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risks.
Further details of derivative financial instrumants are disclosad in Mote 33.

Derivalives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative confracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value as at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event
the timéng of the recogniticn in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge retaticnship,
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(d)

Financial instruments (cont'd)

Financial abiities and equify instruments fcont'd)
ﬂgg‘_t‘gg accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest
rate risk in cash flow hedges as appropriate. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted
for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of tha hadge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrumeant
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether
the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to
the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

= thera is an economic refationship batween the hedged item and the hedging instrumant;
* the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and

= the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of tha hedged item
that the group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness reguirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk
managemant objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the sama, the Group adjusts the hedge
ratio of the hedging relationship {i.e. rebalances the hedge) 5o that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Cash flow

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments that are
designated and qualify as cash fiow hedges Is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of cash flow hedging reserve, limited to the cumulative change in falr value of the hedged ltem from
inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating o the inaffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or
Ioss, and is included in the 'other gains and losses’ line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit
or loss in the paricds when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item.
However, when the hedged forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial
liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
removed from aquity and included In the initial measurament of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial
liability. This transfer doas not affect other comprehensive income. Furtharmore, If the Group expects thal somea
or all of the loss accumulated in other comprehensive income will not be recoverad in the future, that amount is
Immediately reclassified to profit or loss,

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereol) ceasas to meet
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires
or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Amy gain or loss recognised
in other comprahensive income and accumulated in equity at that time remaing in equity and is recognised whan
the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected
to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Offset ar, s

Financial assets and financial Eabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when the Company and the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
gither to saettle on a net basis, or 1o realise the asset and settle the Rability simultaneoushy. A rght to sat-off must
be available as of the date of the reporting rather than being contingent on a fulure event and must be exarcisabls
by any of the counterparties, both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insclvency or
bankruptcy.
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Property, plant and equipment

Measurament

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods or senvices, or for administrative
purposes are stated at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impaiment losses.

Cost includes professional fees and for qualifying assets, borrowing cost, capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Depreciation of thesa assets, on tha same basis as other property assets, commenceas when
the assets are ready for thair intended use.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful Ives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major componants) of property, plant and equipment.

Revaluation

Certain land and buildings held for use in the preduction or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purpose, are stated in the statemeant of financial position at their revalued amounts, baing the fair valua at the date
of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from
that which would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising from the revaluation of such land and bulldings is recognised In other comprehensive
Income and accumulated in the asset revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease
for the same assel previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is cradited to profit or loss
to the extent of the decrease previously charged to profit or loss. A decrease in carrying amount arising from the
revaluation of such land and buildings is charged to profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any,
hetd in the asset revaluation reserve relating to a previcus revaluation of that asset.

iafion
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than properties under construction
and freehold land, over their estimated useful fves, using the straight-line mathod, on the following bases:

Useful lives
Building on freehold land 50 years
Leasehold land, buildings and improvements Ower the remaining lease periods ranging 3 to 99 years
Plant and equipment 1 to 15 years
Maotor vehicles 5 to 10 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depraciation meathod are reviewed at each year and, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful fives on the same basls as owned
assets or, If there iz no certainty that the lessea will obtain ownership by the end of the leasa term, the asset shall
be fully depreciated over tha shorter of the kease term and its useful life.

Disposal
Thi gain or lass arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determinad as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the assetl and is recognised in profit or loss,
On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the
properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. Mo transfer is made from the revaluation
resarve to retained earmings except when an asset is derecognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising In a business combination is recognisad as an asset at the date that control i acquired (the
acquisition date). Goodwill is maasurad as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferrad, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's prenviously held equity interest (if any)
in the entity over net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed,
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in

]

Goodwill {cont'd)

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the
sum of the consideration transiarred, the amount of any non-contralling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer's previously held equity interest In the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gaén.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewad for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairmant testing,
goodwill is alfocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impakrment annually, or more
frequently when there s an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is bess than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period,

On disposal of a subsidiary or a relevant cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets acquired i a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognized separately from goodwill. The
cost of such intangible assets is thelr falr value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired In a business combination are reported at cost less
accumulated amaortisation and accumulated impairment kesses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired
separately.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the camying amounts of its tangible and non-tangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication axists, the recoverabla amount of the assel is estimated in order to determine the axtent of the
impairmant loss (if any). Whera it is not possible to estimate the recoverabla amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonabée and
consistent basis of allecation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units (CGLUY), or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverabla amount s the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value In use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discountad 1o their presaent value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assat for which the astimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

i the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) Is estimated to be less than Its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment [0ss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is camried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as
a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the camying amount of the assst (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carmying amount doas not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years.

A reversal of an impalrment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount, In which casa the reversal of the impakrment loss is treated as a revaluation increasa.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impaiment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
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(k}

{n

Invesiment properties

Investment properties comprise completed properties and properties under construction or redevelopment held to
eam rental and/or for capital appreciation. Investiment propertias are measured inftially at cost, including transaction
costs, Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value, Gains or losses arising
from changes in the falr value of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss for the pericd in which they
arisa.

Investment properties are derecognised upon disposal or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefit is expected from their disposal, Any gain or loss on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carmrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Transfers are made to or from investment properties when and only when there is a change in use. For a transfer
from investment property to owner occupied property, the deemed costs of property for subsequent accounting
is its fair value at the date of change in use. For a transfer from awner occupied property to investmant property,
the property is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for property, plant and eguipment Note
2le) up to the date of change in use.

Development properties
Development properties comprise proparties in the course of development and completed properties held for sale
In the crdinary course of business.,

Completed propertias held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value, Cost is
determined by apportionment of the total land cost and development costs capitalised attributable to properties.
Met realisable value takes into account the estimated selling price, less cost to be incurred in marketing and sefing,
and the expected costs to completion, where appropriate.

Cost of development properties comprises costs that relate directly to the development, such as cost of land
and construction and related costs that are attributable to development activities and can be aliocated to the
development project.

Whan losses are expected, Tull allowance are recognised as expenses immediately based on best estimates of net
realisable value and estimated cosis 1o completion.

Lands held for development and costs attributable to the development activities which are held for future
development where no significant development has been undertaken Is stated al cost less impairment loss (if anyl.

The Group's policy for revenua recognition in relation to development properties |s described under “Revenus
recognition” Note 2(n).

Inventories

Inveniories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and direct labour
costs where applicable and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to thelr prasant
location and condition. Cost s calculated using the weighted average method.

Met realisable value represents the estimated salling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs o ba
incurred in marketing, selling and distributicn. Allowance is made where necassary for cbsolete, slow-moving and
defective inventories.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, bank overdrafts and other short-term highly kguid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cagh and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in valua. Cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statement of cash flows excluds encumberad fixed deposits.

Leases

Leases are classified as financa leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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Leases (cont'd)

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net
irvestment in the leases. Finance lease income is aiocated lo accounting pericds so as to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding In respect of the leases.

Rental income from cperating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the ferm of the relevant lease
unless another systemalic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which the benefit attributable to the
leased asset is diminished. Initial direct cost incurred in negotiating and amanging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis
as the lease income.

Tha Group as lassee
Assats held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at thesr fair value at the inception of the

lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
Is included In the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liabilty. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss, unless thay are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which casa they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s genaral policy on
borrowing costs Note 2{o). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as expensas
In the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate banefit of incantives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis,
excapt whera another systematic basis is more reprasentative of the time pattern in which econamic banefits from
the leased asset are consumed,

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
evant, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the cbligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
oblkgation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncerainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows.

Whean some or afl of the econamic banefits required 10 settle a provision are expected 10 be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virlually certain that reimbursement will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably,

Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

* Sale of goods
*  Sale of development properties

*  Ravenue from hotel operations

=  Revenue from senvices rendered

«  Rental ncome
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Revenue recognition (cont'd)
+  |nterest income

+ Dividend income

Revenue 5 measured based on the consideration specified in a confract with a customer and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product or service
o a customer.

Saie of goods

The Group selts commodity trading products and polypropylene and polyethylene woven bags. Revenue is
racognisad when control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to the customer's
location [delivery). Following delivery, the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to
sell the goods, has the primary responsibiiity when onsealling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the goods., A recelvable is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to the customar
as this represents the paint in time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage
of time is required before payment is due.

Under the Group's standard contract terms, customers do not have a right of return.

Sale of residantial proparties
The Group constructs and selis residential properties under long-term contracts with customers.

Under the terms of the contracts for sale of residential properties in Singapore, the Group is contractually restricted
from redirecting the properties to another customer and has an enforceable right to payment for work done.
Revenue is recognised based on the percentage of completion of construction, The percentage of completion is
measured by reference to certifications of the value of work performed to date as compared to the estimated total
construction costs of the development projects as approved by management. Management considers that this
method Is an appropriate measure of the progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance obligations
under SFRS(l) 15. Profits are recognised only in respect of finalised sales contracts to the extent that such profits
relate 1o the progress of the construction work.,

For development properties whareby the Group has no enforceable right to payment until legal title has passed
to the customer, revenue is recognised when the legal title has been transferred to the cusiomer, The revenue is
measured at the transaction price agread under the contract.

For development properties under construction, the Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for construction
of residential proparties basad on achieving a seres of performance-ralated milestones. When a particular milestona
Is reached, the customer is sent a relevant statement of work signed by a third party surveyor and an invoice for
the related milestone payment. For completed development properties, the Group is entitied to invoice customers
In accordance with the payment schedule in the sales contract.

The Group will previously have recognised a contract asset for any work performed (for development properties
under construction) or for any revenue recognised (for completed development properties). Any amount previously
recognised as a contract asset |5 reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it is involced to the customer.
If the milestone payment exceeds the revenue recognised to date, the Group recognises a contract liability for the
difference. When the pericd between the recogniticn of revenue and payment by the customer exceeds one year,
an adjustment s made to the transaction price for the time value of money.

Revenwe from hotel operations
Revenue from operations of a hotel is recognised from the following major sources; hotal stays, valet parking
services and sales of food and beverages.

Provigion of hotel stays and valet parking services are recognized as performance obligations satisfied over time.
Progress towards complete satisfaction of these paerformance obligations is measured based on the proportion
of the total duration of stay that has elapsed at the end of the reporting period. Payment for hotel stays and valet
parking services sold to corporates are due from the customer at the end of the duration of stay. Payment for such
services sold to individual customers are due from the customer prior to the stay. A contract asset is recognised
for time which has elapsed representing the Group's right to consideration for the services performed to date,
except for short durations of service where the effect would be immaterial,
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Revenue recognition (cont'd)

Revenue from hotel operations {cornt'd)

Revenue from sales of food and beverages are recognisad when control of the goods has transferred, baing at
the peint in time when the food and beverages are consumed. This is also the point where the Group is entitled
to payment.

The Group selis hotal packages to customers. The hoted packages offer combined goods and services. These goods
and services are considered distingt as they are regularly supplied by the Group to customers on a stand-alone
basis. Thesa are therefore accounted for as separate performance obligations. In this case, the transaction price will
be allocated to each performance obligation based on their stand-alone selling prices. Payment of the transaction
price is due immediately when the customer purchases the hotel package.

Revenua from services rendered

The Group provides services to lessees of its investment properties and property management services. Such
services are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time. Revenue of recognised for thesa services
based on the stage of completion of the contract. Management has assessed that the stage of completion is
determined as the proportion of the total service period that has elapsed as at the end of tha reporting period is an
appropriate measure of progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under SFRS{) 15.
Payment for these services are due in accordance with payment schedules in the customer confract, on straight-
line basis over the term of the contract.

Rental income
The Group's palicy for recognition of revenus from operating leases is described above In Note 2(]).

Interast income
The Group's palicy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described above in Note 2{d).

Dividend incame
Dividends on investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right 1o receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Borrowing costs

Barrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial pericd of time to get ready for thelr intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for thelr intended use or zale, Investment
inceme earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expanditure on gualilying assets
Is deducted from the borrowing costs efigible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Share capital

Crdinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and
share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. Dividends are deducted from
shareholders’ equity and recorded as a liability when declared payable. Proposed dividends which are subject to
shareholders’ approval are not deducted from equity and are nol recorded as liabilities.

Employee benafits
Retirement benefit obligations

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as expenses when employees have
rendered the services entiting them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement banefit
schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans
where the Group's obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirerment
benedit plan.

A ligbility for & termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer
of the termination benefit and when the enlity recognised any refated restructuring costs,

Employess' laave antitlemant
Employes entitlerments to annual leave are recognised when they accrue fo employees. A provision is made for
the estimated lability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of reporting pericd.
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Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Currant tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reparted in
profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group's Eability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and
subsidiaries oparate by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on the difference between the carrying amounts of assets and kabdities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary difierences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
It iz probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary diffesences can be utiised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognisad if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combinalion) of othar assels and labilitias in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future, Deferred tax assets
ariging from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficiant taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting pericd and reduced to the
extant that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets
to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the kability is settied or
whan the assat is realised based on the tax rates and tax laws that have bean anacted or substaniively anacted
by the and of the reporting perod, Except for investment properties and hotal properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the measurement of deferred tax fiabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or setthe
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferrad tax llabilities and deferred tax assats for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the camying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
through sale, unless the prasumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied In the Investment property over time, rather than through sale. The Group
has not rebutted the presumption that the carrying amount of the investment properties will be recoverad entirely
through sake.

Deferred tax assets and liabilitias are offsel when there is a legally enforceable right to setl off currant tax assets
against curren! tax labiities and when they relate 1o income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to setthe its current lax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items
credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity], in which case
the tax is also recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, or where they arise from the
Initkal accounting for business combination. In case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account
in calculating goodwill or determining the aexcess of the acquirer's interast in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assats, kabilities and contingent liabdities over cost,
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(s} Non-current assel held for sale

Mon-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as mat only

when the sale Is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) Is available for immediate sale in its present

condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a

completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities

of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardiess of whether

the Group will retain a non-controlling interast in its former subsidiary after the sale,

Mon-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous

carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

+ A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held
for sala, and:

= represenis a separate major line of business or gecgraphical area of operations,

= iz part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geocgraphical area of
operations or

* s a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

(1] Segment reporting

An operating segment i3 a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn

revenua and incur expanses, including revenue and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's

other components.

The Group determines and presents operating segments based on information that is provided imernally to the Cheal

Executive Officer ("CEOQ"), who is the Group's chief operating decision maker. All operating segments’ operating

results are reviewed regularly by the Group's Chief Executive Officer to make decision about resources o be

allocated to the segments and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in Mote 2, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and Habilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experence and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the pericd of the
revision and future periods il the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management has made
in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statemeants.

Tarmination of main coniractor

ir 2014, the Group terminated the serdces of the previous main contractor for Seletar Park Resicance on grounds of unsatisfaciony
performance. The Group received a partial award from the arbitration tribunal. The tribunal ruled inter alia that the Group was
entitied to terminate the previous main contractor’s employment under the contract based on termination certificates issued by
the project architect for their fallure to comply with a number of architect’s directions and failure to proceed with diigence and
due expedition within the relevant prescribed periods pursuant to the conditions of contract between the two parties. The last
phase of arbitration was held in 2018 to deal with the quantum and costs claimed by both parties.

As at 31 December 2018, the ensuing legal and arbitration proceedings were still on-going and the tribunal has yet to render
his award on quantum and costs. Legal and professional expenses of $723,000 (2017: £315,000) have been recorded in
the profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018,
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Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies (cont'd)
Significant influence over Sanya Summer Real Estate Co. Lid
Mote 15 describes that Sanya Summer Real Estate Co. Ltd is an associate of the Group although the Group only owns a
7.8% ownership interest in Sanya Summer Real Estate Co. Ltd. The Group has significant influence over Sanya Summer
Real Estate Co. Lid by virtue of its confractual right to appoint one out of six directors to the board of directors of that entity.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key assumptions conceming the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting pericd,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the camying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below:

Percenlage of complation for revenue recognition

The Group recognises contract revenue in Note 26 based on the stage of completion for the sale of development properties
in Singapore where the Group has enforceable rights to payment for performance completed to date. The stage of
completion is measured by reference to cerifications of the value of work performed to date as comparad 1o the estimated

total construction costs of the development prejects as approved by management,

Significant judgements are required to estimate the total construction costs which inclede estimation for variation works
and any other claims from contractors. In making the judgaments, the Group relies on past experience and the wark of
specialists. The valuation of development proparties and provisions for foreseeabla losses, if any, are therefore subject to
uncertainty in respect of variation works and estimation of future costs. The Group adopts a prudent approach in evaluating
these uncertainties.

The carrying amount of the Group's revenue recognised based on the percentage of completion are disclosed in Note 26
to the financial stalements,

Atlowance for diminution in value for development properties

Development properties in the course of development and complated properties are stated at lower of cost and estimated
net realisable value, assessed on an individual property basis. When it is probable that the total development costs will
exceed the total projected revenue, the amount in excess of net realisabla value is recognised as an expense immediately.

The process of evaluating the net realisable value of each property is subject 1o management judgement and the effect of
assumptions in respect of development plans, timing of sale and the prevailing market conditions. Management performs
cost studies for each property, taking into account the costs incumred to date, the development status and costs to complete
each development property. Any future variation in plans, assumptions and estimates can potentially impact the carrying
amounts of the respective properties.

During the year, a net write-back of allowance for diminution in value of $1,576,000 (2017: write-back of allowance for
diminution in value of £1,783,000) was made on Singapore development proparties, taking into account with reference to
past zales of the respective properties and that of comparable properties, location and market conditions.

The carrying amounts of development propertias and allowance for diminution in value are disclosed in Mote 10.
Fair value measurement and valualion processes

The Group carries its hotel properties and investment properties at fair value based on independent professional valuations
or internal valualions.

In determining fair values, the valuers have used valuation techniques (including direct comparison method, income mathod,
capitalization method and discounted cash flow method) which involve certain estimates and significant uncbservable
inputs which are disclosed in Motes 12 and 13. The direct comparison method involves the analysis of comparable sales of
similar properties and adjusting prices to those reflective of the investiment properties. The investmeant method capitalises
an income stream into a present value using single-year capitalisation rates. Capitalisation method involves assessment of
the income eaming capacilty and capitalised it at the adopted capitalisation rate to derive a core value. Discounted cash
flow mathod recognises the time value of money by estimating the net present value of future cash flows. In relying on
valuation reports, the management has exercised its judgement and is satisfied that the valuation methods and estimates
are reflective of current market conditions.

Information relating to the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the falr value of hotel properties and
investment properties are disclosed in Notes 12 and 13 respectively 1o the financial statements.
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Key sources of estimation unceriainty (cont'd)
Deferred tax labiliies arsing from increase in the carrying amouni of investment in Grand Hotel Group
The Group’s interest in Grand Hotel Group ("GHG") is held by TSH Australia Holdings Pte Ltd ("TAHALUD"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, through Tuan Sing (Australia) Trust ("TSAT") and Tuan Sing Real Estate Trust ("TSRET). GHG
comprises of the Grand Hotel Trust ("GHT") and its controlled entities and Grand Hotel Company Pty Lid (*GHC") and
its controlled entities. The units in GHT are "stapled’ to the shares of GHC. GHT is not Rabla for tax under the Austrakan
tax legisiation provided the taxable income (including any assessabls component of capital gains from sale of invastment
assets) Is fully distributed to unit holders in each year.

TAHAUD is subject to income taxes in the Australian jurisdiction. The Group has estimated deferred tax Hability arising
from an increasa in the carrying amount of its investments in GHG amounting to AS45,049.000 (2017: A%44,006.000)
or equivalent to 543,860,000 (2017: $45.339,000) Note 21. In estimating this amount, the Group considers the taxable
gains to be the excess of Group's share of the fair value of net assets of GHG over the tax cost base of the securities in
GHG held by the Group.

Future actual tax Eability when incurred and payable will differ from this estimate 1o the extent that the future realisation of
values from the investment in GHG differs from the amount of fair value of the assets currently estimated. It would similarty
be affected by any change in tax losses and tax base which have yet to be agreed with the Australian tax authorities.

Allowance for doubliul recelvables and refundable frade deposit

Allowance for aged trade receivables and refundable trade deposit are based on an evaluation of the collectabdlity of
recaivables. A considerable amount of judgemant is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including current creditworthinass, past collection history of each customer, ongoing dealings with them and forward-looking
macra-aconomic infermation. If the financial conditions of the customers were o dateriorate, resulting In an Impairmeant
of their ability to make payments, additional allowance may be required.

Tha carrying amount of trade and other receivables are disciosed in Note B to the financial statements.

4 SEGMENT INFORMATION
Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenue
For management purpose, the Group is organised into strategic business units based on their products and services, The
Group's principal business operating units, during and at the end of the reporting pericd, are Property, Hotels Investment,
Industrial Servicaes and Other Investments. Accordingly, the Group's reportable operating segments under SFRS() 8 are

as follows:
Segment Principal activities.
Property Development of properties for sale, property investment and provision of property management

services in Singapore, Australia and China,
Hotels Investment  Investment in hotets in Melbourne and Perth, Australia, managed by hotel cperators.,

Industrial Services  Trading and marketing of industrial commaodities, distribution of tyres and re-treading of tyres (ceased
since December 2017), as well as manufacturing of polypropylens woven bags in Malaysia,

Other Investments  Invastment in GulTech, a printed circuit boards manufacturer with plants in China.,

Segment revenue reprasents revenue generated from external and internal customers. Segment profit represents the profit
eamed by each segment after allocation of central administrative costs and finance costs. This is the measure reported
to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
Managament monitors the operating results of each of its business unit for the purpose of making decisions on resource

allocation and performance assessment. Segment assets and liabilities are presented net of inter-segment balances. Inter-
segment pricing iz determined on arm's length basis.
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)
Information regarding each of the Group's reportable segments is presented below.

Segment revenuas and results

Inter-
Hotels  Industrial Other  Corporate Segment
Frnglrty Investment® Services® Investments' and Others®™ Eliminations Consolidated
"000 £'000 £'000 $'000 §'000 £'000 £'000
2018
Revenue
External revenue 81,874 108,227 144,828 = 178 - 336,108
Inter-segmant revenue 1,145 487 - 26,042 (27.674) -
83,019 109,714 144,828 - 26,221 (27,674) 336,108
Resulls
Profit bedore tax and fair
value adjustments 17,165 5,953 1,423 18,337 7,128 (25,201) 25,715
Fair value adusiments 113,120 - - (38) - - 113,084
Profit bedone tax 130,285 5,953 1,423 19,301 7,128 (25,291) 138,799
Income lax expenses (2,852) (999) (268) - (73) - (4,190)
Prafit for the year 127 433 4,954 1,157 18,301 7,055 (25,201) 134,608
Profit attributable to
Owners of the Company 127,504 4,954 853 19,301 7,065 (25,291) 134,376
Non-controlling interests T1] = 04 - - - 233
Profit for the year 127,433 4,954 1,157 19,301 7,055 25,201 134,609
a7
Revenue
External revenue 100,346 119,319 136,119 = 180 = 355,064
inter-segmant revenue 9949 4n - - 25,967 [27,387) £
101,345 118,750 136,119 - 26,147 [27.387) 355,964
Results
Profit before tax and fair
value adjustments 12,008 5,864 97 15,677 11,211 (21,972) 23,191
Fair value adjustments 44,525 - - 289 - - 44 814
Profit bedore tax 56,534 5,869 a7 15,965 11,211 [21.972) 68,005
Income lax expenses {1,185) {1,138 23 - {2.950) - [5.261)
Profit for the year 55,339 4.730 420 15,968 B.261 [21.972) 62,744
Profit attributable to
Orwners of the Company 55,340 4.730 307 15,968 B.261 {21.972) 62,632
Mon-controlling interests {1) - 113 - - - 112
Profit for the year 556,339 4,730 420 15,966 8,261 [21.972) 62,744
Notes:
1. M ravanua is rapnrmd undar “Other Invasimen1s” as (he Group's imvestment in GuiTech is bquity aptounied ker,
2, “Corporate and Others™ relars to the aggregation ol provision of comporate-level services by the Comparny o the vanous subsidiaries
and chargad a5 such, Thay are efminated al Group-leval upon congolidation
3, Results of GHGE"s commarcial, retad and carpark componants, which ame currenily leased out to various tenants, am ncluded in the
Proparty sagment.
4. The Tyre Distritution Unfl included in Industral Services segment had been disposed of as a1 31 December 2017. The discontinued

oparation contributed reverus of $6.7 milion, gross profit of §1.0 milion, loss before tax of 51,5 million and koss after tax of 51,2 million
for the year ended 31 Decembar 2017,
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Hotels Industrial Other Corporate
Property Investment Services Investments’ and Others Consolidated
$'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 ¥000
31 December 2818
Asgels
Segment assels 2,281,951 435,242 55,935 - 26,340 2,799,472
Investments in an eguity accounted
Invesiea 14,828 - - 103,086 - 117,914
Total assats 2,996,779 435,242 55 830 103,086 26,340 2,917,386
Liabifities
Segment liabiities (76,103) (15,873) (14,736} (5,368) (13,911) (126,081)
Loans and borrowings {1,195,203) (208,156) - - (229,080) (1,630,441)
Income tax payable and defemed
tax kabikties AL {268 {425) = (45,504) (52,390)
Tatal liabilites (1,277,499 (222,399) (15,161} {5,388) (288,435) (1,808,922)
Net assets/{labilities) 1,018,280 212,843 40,778 87,718 |262,155) 1,108,464
Other information
Capital expenditure 3,130 1 178 - 117 3,433
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 7,578 13 275 - 50 7,816
Write back of aliowance for diminuticn in
vales for development properties 1,578 - - - - 1,576
Revaluation gain of properties - 7,754 - - - 7,754
Fair value gain on invesiment properties 113,120 - - - - 113,120
Fair value loss on financial instruments - - - {38} - {38}
31 December 2017 (Resiated)
RAssels
Segment assels 1,807 648 455,994 76,018 - 108,740 2,548,300
Investments in an equity accounted
investea - - - 83,185 - 83,185
Total assets 1,907 648 455,994 76,918 83,185 108,740 2,642 485
Liabikties
Segmen liabiities {75912 {19,435) {18,685} {5.432) {5,335) {122,838)
Loans and borrowings {1.011,132) (218,624) - - (228,364) {1,458,120)
Income tax payable and dafemsd
tax kabikties (14,535} [275) {292) = {26,205} E1,307)
Total lizbilitses 1.101,574) 1238,334) 116,857} 15.432) 1279,964) {1,642, 266)
Net assets/(liabilities) B0E,069 217,660 59,961 a7, 753 [171,224) 1,000,219
Other Informatian
Capital axpenditure 4,158 1 a3 - - 4,263
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 7,383 14 arg - - 7,776
‘Write back of alowance for diminution in
valye for development properties 1,783 & - - - 1,783
Revaluation gain of properties - 33,846 - - - 33,846
Fair value gain on investment proparties 44,525 - - - - 44 535
[Fair value gain on financial instruments - - - 259 - 289
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Hotels Industrial Other  Corporate
Property Investment Services Investments' and Others Consclidated
£'000 $'000 $'000 £'000 §'000 £'000
1 January 2017 (Restated)
Assets
assels 1,281,585 665,025 B7.B4T - 9,027 2,043,484
Investments in an equity accounted
investes & = &= 83,570 = 83,579
Total assets 1,281,585 665,025 a7 847 83,579 9,027 2,127,063
Liabilities
Segmen liabiities (56,713) (22,6489) (25,247} (5,432 (3.773) (113,814)
Loans and borrowings {570,896) {370,335) - - {79,562) {1,020,783)
Incorme tax payable and defemed
tax Babilties (21,925 (35.337) {515} = (139} (58,0200
Tatal liabilites {B48,534) (428,321} {26,866) [2,432) (B3,474) 1,192,627
Net assets/|{Habilities) £32.051 236,704 61,981 78,147 {74,447} 934 435
Other informeation
Capital expenditure 58 4,012 27 - - 4,007
Depreciation of property, plant and
equepment 203 7.155 414 - - 7.772
Alowance for diminution n valua for
development properties 3,645 = = = = 3,649
Write-back of recognised corporate
guaraniee no longer required - = - 445 = 445
Revaluation gain of propertias - 16,880 - - - 16,980
Fair value gain on investment properties 2108 = & = = 2,198
Fair value gain on financial instruments = - - 138 - 138

Note:

1. Mo capital expanditure and depreciation are reported wnder “Other Investmaents”™ as the Group's investment in GulTech is squity accountod

for.

Geographical information

ically, management reviews the performance of the businesses in Singapore, Australia, China, Malaysia, Indonesia

and other ASEAN countries.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location
of external customers, Non-current assets other than the investment in associates and deferred tax assets are based on
the geagraphical location of the assets.

Revenue from
external customers Mon-current assets
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2018 207 2017
$'000 £'000 $'000 $'000 £'000
(Restated) (Restated) {Restated)
Singapore 179,849 175,753 1,513,022 1,357,155 876,251
Australia 127,035 138,273 646,660 676,296 644,015
China 14,467 13,767 8,306 6,407 6,447
Malaysia 8,449 9,904 4,485 4,647 4,871
Indonesia 6,287 12,677 20 - -
Other ASEAN countries™ = 5,351 - - =
Others L. =248 . . - - .
336,108 355,964 2,170,552 2,044 505 1,531,584
Hote:

1, Cther ASEAN countries comprise Vietnam, Cambodia, Bruned and Laos with revenus in each country constibting not more than 1% of

total Group revenue.

Other segment information

Included in the Group revenue of $336.1 million (2017: $356.0 million) were sales of approximately $52.8 million (2017:
£38.1 milion) to a customer that contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue far both years in the Industrial Sarvices

segment.
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CASH AND BANK BALANCES

’ Group — : Company

31 December 31 December 1 Janvary 31 December 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017

§'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(Restated) (Restated) [Restated]  (Restated)

Cash at banks and an hand 50,769 62,381 39,271 12,553 13,787 30

Fixed deposils 80,813 161,673 117,323 12,612 74,950 -
Amounts heid under the

Housing Developers
{Project Account) Rules 1,425 2,780 7,084 - - -
133,007 218,843 163,688 25,165 88,737 30

Cash and bank balances comprise cash and fixed deposits heéd by the Group which are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Deposits eamed interest ranging from 0.6%
to 3.4% per annum (2017: 0.1% to 4.2% per annum) and for tenures ranging from 7 days to 3 years (31 December 2017:
7 days to 3 years, 1 January 2017: 7 days to 3 years).

Withdrawals of amounts held under the project accounts are restricted to payments for expenditure incurmed on development
properties and are subject to the provisions in the Housing Developers (Project Account) Bules in Singapore.

The carrying amounts of the cash and bank balances approximate thair fair values at the end of the reporting pericd.
Further details regarding the exposure to interest rate risk, contraciual and effective interest rates and forelgn currency
denomination of the cash and bank balances are disclosed under Mote 38 to the financial statements,

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the consolidated cash and cash equivalents comprise the
following:

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 207 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000
(Restated) (Restated)
Cash and cash equivalents per consolidaled statement of
cash flows
Cash and bank balances (as per statements of
financial position) 133,007 216,843 163,688
Encumbered fied deposits and bank baiances (66,440) (65,698) (67, 792)
66,567 151,145 95,806

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash equivalents placed with banks in China amounting to $79,062,000
(31 December 2017: $81,668,000, 1 January 2017: $80,344,000}, the repatriation of which into Singapore is subject to
the Foreign Exchange Control Regulations in China. Of this amount, $63.,097.000 (31 December 2017: 563,851,000,
1 January 2017 $65,052,000) were fixed deposits for 1 year (31 December 2017: 1 to 3 years, 1 January 2017: 1 to
3 years) but were classified as current on the basis that these deposits are used to secure a facility in Singapore which
could be cancelled at short notice by the borrower and the sum of these deposits can be released without significant
penalty and changas in value.

As at 31 December 2018, cash and bank balances amounting 1o $77,279,000 (31 December 2017; $77,300,000, 1 January
2017: $78,503,000) was pledged to banks to secure cradit facilities.
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6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

- Group - Company -
31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
Note £'000 £'000 $'000 £'000 $'000 £'000
(Restated)  (Restated) (Restated)  (Restated)
Trade
Trade debtors 16,243 17,884 20,683 - = =
Less: Allowance for
doubtful receivables {1,021) [538) {179) - - -
15,222 17,348 20,504 - = =
Amounis due from
refated parties™ 18 21,698 31,040 35,183 - - -
36,921 48 388 55,697 - - -
Non-trade
Deposits™ 468 17,088 13.219 73 11,820 7,803
Prepayments 4,039 3,480 3,567 323 181 131
Interast receivables 3,103 4,434 2,338 23 B0 =
Sundry debtors 2,373 5,567 6,922 - 180 32
Advances to supplers - 521 103 - - -
Tax recoverable 186 477 110 - - -
10,169 31,565 26,259 419 12221 8,066
Less: Allowance for
doubtful receivablas (127} {124 (124) 72 72 72)
10,042 31,436 26,135 347 12,149 7,884
Amount due from related
parties 19 29,179 9,324 12,412 = 13 =
38,221 40,760 38,547 347 12,162 7,904
Total frade and other
receivables 76,142 B9, 148 04,244 347 12,162 7,504
ia) Included in the carrying amount of amounts dwe from related parties — trade as at 31 December 2018 were unbilled revenue of SNl
(31 Decamber 2017: $212,000, 1 January 2017: §221,000) refating to rent-frea pericd givan to related party lesseas [Mote 19],
(-] Inchsded in the camying amount of the deposits as at 31 Decembar 2017 ralates to the flowing deposils in respect of acquisition of
lanacta:
. £11,745,000 1 January 2017: §7,830,000) paid to a related party for the purchase of shares in two Singaporg-incorporated

companies whose subsidinry was the benaficial owner of four plots of land in Batam, Indonesia. The acquisition had bean
completed during the year ended 31 December 2018; and

. £4,887,000 (1 January 2017: $4,983,000) relating to a plot of land of approximately 80,200 square metres in Jisozhou, Ching
which was pending for the Esuance of the and tithe deed. The and #le deed has since been oblained and the subsidiany
which cwnad tha land was divested during the year andad 31 December 2018,

The deposiis had baan assessed to be placed wilh counterpartes that wera creditwortly and accordingly, no aiowance for potential
non-recovery of the deposit was required.
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B TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)
Analysis of trade recaivables
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 7 to 120 days (31 December 2017: 7 to 120 days, 1 January
2017: 7 to 120 days) credit term. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on
initial recognition, The Group assesses the potential customer's credit quality and determines credit imits to be allowed
before accepting any new customer. Credit limits granted to customers are reviewed regularky.

Loss allowance for trade receivables has always been measured at an amount equal 1o lifetime expected credit lossas
{ECL). The ECL on trade receivables are estimated by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis
of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
of the Industry In which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as wedl as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.

A trade receivable is written off when there is information indicating that the debtor is In severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospact of recovery, a.g. when the debtor has bean placed under liquidation or has enterad into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two years past dua, whichever occurs earlier. Nona of the trada
receivables that have been written off is subject to enforcement aciivities.

Analysis of amounts due from related parties

Certain past due trade amounts due from related parties bear interest rates ranging from 8% to 12% (2017; 8% to 12%)
per annum in accordance with the billing terms and the remaining are non-interest bearing. The trade amounts due from
related parties are generally on 90 to 120 days (2017 80 to 120 days) credit terms. They are recognized at their original
invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

For purpose of Impairment assessment, the amounts due from related partles Is considered 1o have low cradit risk as the
timing of payment is controlled by the ultimate holding company taking into account cash flow management within the
ultimate holding company's group of companies and there has been no significant increase in the risk of default on the
amounts due from related parties since initlal recognition. Accordingly, for the purpose of impalrment assessment for this
loan, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected cradit losses (ECL).

In determining the ECL, managemeant has taken into account the financial position of the related parties, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the related parties and general economic conditicns of the industry in which the related parties
operate, In estimating the probability of default of the trade amounts due from related parties as well as the koss upon
default. Management determinas the trade amounts due from related parties are subject to immaterial credit loss.

The table below shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade and other receivables in
accordance with the simplified approach set out in SFRS({) 9:

Lifetime ECL=-
credit-impaired
£'000

Group
Batance as at 1 January 2017 (Restated) 303
Amounts written off {53}
Change in loss allowance due to new trade and other receivables ariginated 425
Foreign exchange gains (10}
Batanca as at 31 December 2017 (Restated) BES
Amounts recovered (82)
Change in loss aowance due to new trade and other receivables originated 525
Foreign exchange losses 40
Balance as at 31 December 2018 1,148

B i

Company

Batanca as at 1 January 2017 (Restated), 31 December 2017 (Restated) and 31 December 2018 72
e ————
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6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)
Analysis of amounts due from related parties {cont'd)
The following tables explain how significant changes in the gross camrying amount of the trade and other receivables
confributed to changes in the loss allowance:

Group

31 Decamber

2018

Increase/(Decrease)

in lifetime ECL

Credit-impaired

§'000

Amounts recovered (82)
Origination of new trade receivables net of those settled, as well as increase in days past due 525

Group
31 December
2017
(Restated)
Increase/(Dacreasa)
in lifetime ECL
Credit-impaired
£'000

Amounts written off (53)
Origination of new trade receivables nel of those settled, as well as increase in days past due 425

There was no significant changes in the gross carrying amount of the trade and other receivables that had contributed to
changes in the loss allowance for the Group during 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017,

The folowing is an aging anatysis of trade receivables:

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$'000 £'000 £'000
(Restated) (Restated)
Not past due 25,135 32,102 38,412
< 3 months 5,064 7,023 11,108
3 months to & months 1,717 4,108 2,533
& months to 12 months 3,77 4,241 3,442
= 12 months 1,234 14 202
36,921 48,388 55,697

Details of collateral

Ag at 31 Decembear 2018, trade and other recaivables amounting to $10,724,000 (31 December 2017: $11,741,000,
1 January 2017: $12,741,000) included in the above balances were mortgaged to banks to secure certain credit facilities
for the Group. Information relating to the Group's Ioans and borrowings is disciosed in Note 16 to the financlal statements.

429



132 sTATUTORY REPORTS AND ACCOUNTS TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
2018 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2018

7 CONTRACT ASSETS

. Growp

31 December 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000

(Restated) [Restated)

Sales contracts 15,451 89.537 64,545
Analysed as;

Current 13,517 4,480 64,549

Non-current 1,934 5.057 -

15,451 0,537 64,549

Tha Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for construction of residential properties based on achieving a series
of perfformance-related milestones. When a particutar milestone is reached, the customer is sent a relevant statement of
work signed by a third party surveyor and an invoice for the related milestone payment, The Group will previously have
recognised a contract asset for any work performed. Any amount previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified
to trade receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the customer.

There weare no significant changes in the contract asset balances during the reporting period.

Management always estimates the loss allowance on amounts due from customers at an amount equal to lifetime ECL,
taking into account the historical defaull experiance and the fulure prospects of the construction industry. None of tha
amounts due from customers at the end of the reporting pericd is past due.

As thera was no historical credit loss experience by the Group, no provision for loss allowance has been made.

8 CONTRACT COSTS

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
£'000 $'000 £'000

(Restated) (Restated)

Costs to obtain contracts 757 485 337

Costs to abtain contracts relate to commission paid to infermediaries as a result of obtaining residential property sales
contracts.

These costs are amortised over the period of construction. In 2018, amertisation amounting to $725.000 (2017: $321,000)

was recognised as part of the cost of sales recognised in profit or loss, There was no impairment loss in refation to the
costs capitalised.
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9 INVENTORIES
Group
At nat
At realisable
cost value Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
31 December 2018
Raw matarials 769 - 769
Waork-in-progress 1,262 - 1,262
Finished goods 761 - 761
2,792 - 2,792
31 December 2017 (Restated)
Raw materials a09 - a9
Work-in-progress 1,184 - 1,184
Finished goods 813 - 813
2,908 = 2,806
1 January 2017 (Restated) 988 = 988
Raw materials a77 - a7y
Work-in-progress 1,557 42 1,599
Finished goods 3,522 42 3,564
During the year, there were $nil allowance (2017: $17,000) for inventory obsolescence recognised in profit or loss,
Details of collateral
As at 31 December 2018, inventories amounting to $2,792,000 (31 December 2017: $2,906,000, 1 January 2017:
£2,805,000] included in the above balances were mortgaged to banks to secure credit facilitios for the Group. Information
relating to the Group's loans and borrowings is disclosed in Mote 16 to the financial statemeants.
10 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES
) _ Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$'000 £'000 $'000
(Restated) [Restated)
Properties in the course of development 313,004 113,751 56,166
Land held for future development 7,024 7.236 18,847
Land held for sale = 11.856 =
320,028 132,843 74,813
Completed properties held for sale 38,502 55,837 108,419
358,530 188,680 183,232
Represented by:
Properties in the course of development in Singapore 269,708 113,751 56,166
Properties in the course of development in Indonesia 43,206 - -
Land hald for future devalopmant in China 7,024 7.236 18,647
Land held for zale in China - 11,856 -
Completed properties held for sale in Singapore 33,805 51,792 104,310
Completed properties held for sale in China 4,697 4,045 4,109
358,530 188,680 183,232
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)

Development properties comprise properties in the course of davelopment; land heid for future development or held for
sale and completed properties held for sale. These properties have operating cycles longer than one year. Development
properties are classified as current assets as they are intended for sale in the Group's normal operating cycle.

For the land that was held for sake in China, the Group has entered into a sale and purchase agreement in 2017 to dispose
its interests in a wholly-owned subsidiary which owned the land In Jlaoszhou, China. The transaction has been completad
during the year endad 31 Decamber 2018,

Included in the completed properties held for sale in Singapore relates to two residential units held on behalf of a related
party (Party B} as the balance consideration of the acquisition of land In Batam. Such balance consideration Is to be settied
in cash and is payable upon tha sale and transfer of the titles and ownerships of the units or 19 July 2019, whichever is
earlier. Under the terms and conditions of the agreements, Party B is (a) entitied 1o request the Group to transfer ownership
of the units to itself or a nominee in satisfaction of the relevant cash payment obligation; and {b) will not hotd the Group
liable for any loss suffered should the Group fail to achieve the selling price stipulated in the agreament, provided that
Party B has agreed to the relevant sale.

Properties in the course of development and land held for future development or sale

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000
: (Restated)  (Restated)
Land cost 299,342 127,501 79,728
Development cost incurred to-date 18,922 8,323 a79
Interast and others 7,651 4,030 1,484
325,915 139,944 82,181
Add: Attributable profit 1,137 135 -
Less: Allowance for diminution in value (7,024) (7,238 (7.378)
320,028 132,843 74,813
Completed properties held for sale
Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
£'000 $'000 £'000
[Restated) (Restated)
Completed properties, at cost 39,829 58,739 113,105
Less: Allowance for diminution in value (1,327) i2,902) (4, 6BE)
38,502 55,837 108,419

Interest costs capitafised during the year was $3,597,000 (31 December 2017: $1,333,000, 1 January 2017: 1,641,000
at affective interest rates ranging from 2.4% to 3.0% per annum (31 December 2017: 1.9% to 2.1% per annum, 1 January
2017:1.9% to 2.0% per annum) [Mote 28).

Allowance for diminution in value

The aflowance for diminution in value for development properties held for sale was estimated taking into account estimated
seffing prices and estimated total construction costs. The estimated selling prices are based on expected selling prices for
the development project after taking into consideration of prevailing markat conditions. The estimated total construction
costs include contracted amounts plus estimated costs to complete the development project. The allowance will be
progressively reversed for those residential units sold above their carmying amaounts.,

During the year, a net write-back in allowance for diminution in value for development properties of $1,576,000
{31 December 2017: £1,783,000, 1 January 2017: $3,649,000) is included in “other operating expenses/cost of sales” in
profit or loss [Note 30].
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Completed properties held for sale (cont'd)
Allowance for diminution in value [cont'd)

__Group S
2018 2017
Note £'000 $'000
(Restated)

Movemeants in allowance for diminution in value
At 1 January (10,138]) (12,064)
Exchange difference on consolidation 21 143
Allowance made during the year 30 (142) {1,611)
Write-back during the year an 1,718 3,394
At 31 Dacember (8,351) {10,138)

Land in Fuzhou Jin"an District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, China

Included in the development properties is a carrying amount of $7,024,000 (31 December 2017: £7,236,000, 1 January
2017: $7.378,000) relating 1o a land parcel acquired in 2009 in Fuzhou, China with an expired certificata for the construction
site planning. The Group has applied to the relevant authorities for its renewal since 2013, An allowance of 57,024,000
(31 December 2017: $7,236,000, 1 January 2017: §7,378,000) was made based on management’s best estimate on net
reaksable value of the development site.

Details of collateral

As at 31 December 2018, development properties amounting to $275,637.000 (31 December 2017: $113,379,000,
1 January 2017: $126,615,000) included in the above balances were morigaged to banks o secure credit facilites for
the Group. Information relating to the Group's loans and borrowings is disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements.

List of development properties
Az at 31 December 2018, the development properties held by the Group are as follows:

Estimated Year Group's
gross completed!  effective

Name of property/  Description/ Land area floor area  estimated equity
location planned use Heid by Tenure {sg. m) (s9. m} completion interest
Progerties in the course of development
Kandis Residence, Condominium of Dilenia Land 99 years 7046 10,850 209 100%
Jalan Kandis, 130 wnits Pte Ltd from 216
Singapore {45 units booked/scld)
Mont Botanik Condominium of Episcia Land  Freehold 4,047 8,546 2020 100%
Rasidenca, 108 umits Pta Ltd
Jalan Remaja {7 units booked/sold)
Singapore
Site at 333 Thomson  Proposed Condominium TSRC Movena  Freehold 5,331 8,209 2022 T0%
Road, of 80 units Pte Ltd
Peak Court
Singapore
Land held for future development
Land in Jin-an Residential Fujian Ji'Xing 70 years 163,740 : : 100%
District, Fuzhou Real Estata from 1994
Fujian Province, Development
China Ca,, Ltd
Site al Batam Marina  Propasad township PT Goodworth 30 years 849,748 . - 0%
City Indonesia developrment Investments from 2004
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10 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)
List of development properties (cont'd)

Estimated Year Group's
gross completed/ effective
Name of property/  Description/ Land area  floor area  estimated equity
location planned use Held by Tenure {sq. m) (sq9- m} completicn  interest
Completed properties held for sale
Lakeside Vile Phase 172 units of aparimenis, Habitat 70 years 35,643 41,584 2010 100%
Iil, Qingpu district townhouses, and Propertias From 1997
Shanghai China 8 units of commercial  (Shanghal) Lid
units (163 wnits sold)
Sennet! Residence, Cendominium Clerodendrum 99 years B854 33328 2016 100%
Pheng Geck Avenug  townhouses of Land Ple Lid  from 2011
Singapore 332 units and three
shop units {325 units
booked/sold)
Cluny Park Residence, Condominium of Shelford Freehold 4,544 6,997 26 100%
Cluny Park Road 52 units (51 units Properties
Singapore boacked/sold) Pta Ltd

Pending renewal of expired carificate for construction site planning.
Subject 1o relevant autharities” approval, the Group plans to launch the inftial phase of the integrated township devalopment in 2019,

1 ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
On 27 December 2018, the Group, together with the other subsidiary proprietors of all other strata unils in Century
Warehouse, accepted a tender bid by a private Investment company for the collective sale of all the strata units and
the common propery of Century Warehouse at the consideration of $548,500,000 based on a 100 per cent ownars’
consensus basis.

The Group owns close to 90 per cent of the strata area and the share of the consideration is 5%42,040,000. Subsequent
to the year end, receipt for the first 10% conskderation less tender fee was received on 11 January 2019, The sale is
expectad to complete within tha next twelve months.

The property, which was previously recognised as an investment property, has been classified as an asset held for zale
and is presented saparately in the statement of financial position. The operations are Incleded in the Group’s property
segment for segment reparting purposes.

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold land,

Building and buildings and Plant and Motor
freehold land  improvements equipment vehicles Total
Note $'000 $'000 §'000 $°000 §'000
Group
Caost or valuation:
At 1 January 2018 (Restated) 417,388 7,472 34,418 764 460,040
Exchange differences on
consolidation (22,925) (124) (2,883) (3  (25.835)
Additions 41 72 3,320 - 3,433
Disposals - - {111) {235) (348)
Write-oifs - - {1,912) - (1,912)
Revaluation 4,736 - - - 4,736
Reclassification 3,450 - (3,450) - -
At 31 December 2018 402,688 7,420 29,382 526 440,016
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Building and buildings and Plant and Motor
freehold land  improvements equipment vehicles Total
MNote $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 £'000
At 1 January 2017 (Restated) 392,301 7,809 33,760 1971 435,041
Exchange differencas on
consolidation (6,208) 15 (710) = (6,903}
Additions 105 5 4,087 BE 4,263
Disposal of a subsidiary - - (364) {435} (T99)
Disposals - - {159) [236) (395)
Write-offs = (1&7) 12.196) (2} (2,355)
Revaluation 31,188 = - = 31,188
At 31 December 2017 (Restated) 417,386 T.4T72 34,418 TE4 460,040
Comprising
At 31 December 2018:
At cost 498 4,465 29,382 526 34,871
At valuation 402,190 2,855 - = 405,145
402,688 7,420 29,382 526 440,016
At 31 December 2017 (restated):
At cost 498 4,498 34,418 764 40,178
At valuation 416,888 2,974 - - 410,862
417,386 7.472 34,418 764 460,040
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2018 (Restated) - 461 9,358 487 10,306
Exchange differences on
consolidation (112) (18) 1,698) (3) (1,829)
Degpreciaticn 30 3,130 88 4,624 T4 7,916
Disposals - - {21) (202) (293)
Write-offs - - (1,912) - (1,912)
Revaluation (3,018) = 2 < (3,018)
At 31 Decembar 2018 - 533 10,281 356 11,170
At 1 January 2017 (Restated) = 546 7,563 70 8,078
Exchange differencas on
consolidation {73) (&) 441) - (5200
Depreciation 30 27 78 4,856 111 7.776
Disposal of a subsidiary - - (2B6) (246) (E32)
Disposals - - {138) [246) (384}
Write-offs = (&7 (2, 196) (2} (2,355)
Revaluation (2,658) - - - {2,658}
At 31 December 2017 (Restated) N 481 9,358 487 10,306
Accumulated impairment:
At 1 January 2018 - 2,985 - - 2,985
Exchange differences on
consolidation - (83) - - (83)
At 31 December 2018 - 2,902 - - 2,902
At 1 January 2017 (Restated) - 3,040 - - 3,040
Exchange differences on
consolidation = _159) z = __195)
At 31 December 2017 (Restated) - 2,985 - - 2 0Bs
Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2018 402,688 3,985 18,101 170 425,944
At 31 December 2017 (Restated) 417,386 4,026 25,060 277 446,748
At 1 January 2017 (Restated) 392,301 4,022 26,187 401 422,921
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)

Plant and
equipment
i
Company
Cost:
At 1 January 2018 [Restated) i
Additions _ L
At 31 December 2018 . L L
At 1 January 2017 [Restated)
Additions
At 31 December 2017 (Restated)
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2018 (Restated)
Depreciation

At 31 December 2018

At 1 January 2017 (Festated)
Depreciation

At 31 December 2017 (Restated)

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2018

At 31 December 2017 (Restalad)
At 1 January 2017 (Restated)

(50)

(50)

&7
—
e —
—_—
Included in building and freehold land is freehold land with a carrying amount of $217,015,000 (31 Decamber 2017:
£224,952,000, 1 January 2017: $211,406,000) which is not subject to depreciation,

Tha Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting year to determing
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered impairment loss.

No additional impairment loss was mada in 2018 and 2017 as a result of such assessment.

Details of collateral

As at 31 December 2018, property, plant and equipment amounting to $424, 750,000 (31 December 2017: $445,558,000,
1 January 2017: $416,706.000) included in the above balances were mortgaged to banks as security for borowings.
Information relating 1o the Group's loans and borrowings is disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statemants.

Fair value measuremeni ol hotel properties

Tha Group's hotel propearties (including freahold land and buildings) held under GHG are stated at their revalued amounts,
being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulative depreciation and subsequent accumulative
impairment loss. The fair value measurement is based on the valuation carmed out by Jones Lang Advisory Servicas Pty
Ltd, independent valuers, who have appropriate qualification and recent experience In the fair value measurement of the
properties in the relevant locations.

The Group classified fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the nature and complexity of the
significant Inputs used in making the measurement. As at 31 December 2018, 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2017,
the fair value measurement of the Group's hotel properties is classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. There is
na changea in the fair value hierarchy as compared to prior year.

Based on the valuation, revaluation gain amounting to 37,754,000 (31 December 2017: $33,846,000, 1 January 2017:
£16,980,000) was recognised in other comprehensive income [Note 33).

Az at 31 December 2018, had freehold land and bullding been carried at historical cost, theér aggregate carrying amount

would have bean approximately $322,996,000 (31 December 2017: 3341, 523,000, 1 January 2017 $350,209,000) for
the Group.
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)
Fair value measurement of hotel properties (cont'd)
There were no transfers between different levels in during the year. Details of valuation techniques and significant
unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement as at 31 December 2018, 31 Dacember 2017 and 1 January

2017 are as follows:

Significant unobservable

Name of property Valuation methodology inputs (Level 3) Range

3 December 2018

Grand Diract Comparison Value per room $632,800 - $681,600
Hyatt Melboume Capitalisation Approach Capitalisation rate 5.25%

121-131 Collins Street Discounted Cash Flow Discount rate'" 7.25% — B.25%
Melboumne, Victoria™ Method Terminal yield rate!™ 4.75% - 5.75%

Hyatt Direct Comparison Value per room $116,600 - $146,100
Regency Perth Capitalisation Approach Capitalisation rate 5.00%
87-123 Adelaida Terrace Discounted Cash Flow Descount rate’™ 7.25% - B.25%
East Perth Mathod Terminal yield rate 4.75% - 5.75%
Western Australia™

Significant unobservable
Name of property Valuation methodology inputs (Level 3) Range
31 December 2017
Grand Direct Comparison Value per room $643,900 - $695,500
Hyatt Melboume Capitalisation Approach Capitalisation rate™ 5.25%
121-131 Cofling Streat Discounted Cash Flow Descount rate’™ 7.50% - 8.50%
Mealbourna, Victoria™ Meathod Terminal yiald rate!® 4.75% - 5.75%

Hyatt Direct Comparison Value per room $158,600 - $180,300
Regency Perth Capitalisation Approach Capitalisation rate™ 7.00%

87-123 Adelaide Taerrace Discounted Cash Flow Discount rate’ 7.50% - B.50%

East Perth Method Terminal yield rate!¥ 5.75% — 6.75%

Western Australia®™

Significant unobservable

MName of property Valuation methodology inputs (Level 3) Range

1 January 2017

Grand Stabilised Eamings Capitalisation rate 6.25%

Hyatt Melbourmne Method

121-131 Collins Stresat Discounted Cash Flow Discount rata' 7.50% - 9.00%
Mealbourne, Victoria™ Methad Terminal yield rate™ 6.00% - 6.50%
Hyatt Capitalization Approach Capitalisation rate! 6.50%
Regency Parth Digcounted Cash Flow Discount rate’™ 7.75% - 8.25%
87-123 Adelaida Terrace Method Terminal yield rate™ 6.25% - 6.75%
East Perth

Waestern Australla™

{1} Any sipnificant Iscdated Incréase (decreass) in these inputs would result in a significantly lower [higher} fair value maasuramant.

{8l The property valuation was performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Advisory Sandces Pty Ltd on 31 Decembper 2018, an indepandent vahsar,
(b} Tha property vaiuation was performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Advisory Sandces Pty Ltd on 30 September 2017, an independent vakuer,

6] The property valuation was perlormed by Knight Frank Valuations on 30 Mevember 2016, an independent vahser,
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)
List of hotel properties
The carrying amount of the Group’s hotel properties as at 31 December 2018, 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2017
included in property, plant and equipment are set out below. The non-hotel properties within the complexes are accounted
for under investment properties [Note 13].

Group's 31 December 31 December 1January 31 December 31 December 1January

Land effective a8 T 2017 a8 a7 27

Narme of area equity ASTO00 AS000  ASO00' S5'000 55000 85000
Australla

GandHatt LocedathePas  Feehod 5776 100% ITe5T B4 IMHEN 59,502 rapes 350576

Mabome  end” of Colins Sireet

stk and 5 intersechion
with Fussel Street.
The Property & of
34 levels festuring
one of Melboume's
lagest S-shar hotels,
complete with
retadcommerncal
space. The campng
value of he retal’
‘commercal space
hes bean deciosed as
vesiTEn] propeny
ot 13

Hyatt Fegency By Sean Fiver Freehckd 25806 100% 50,096 BOS0  B1080 48,773 @7 63085

Parth and within walkdng

Pt distance fom tha
cenird business.
district, The Property
i8an inlegrated
Ggtar hotel, ofice,
retal and perking
compie. The hoted
i bt over 9 kv,
The camying vale of
the: office, retad and
perking compe has
s chscioend a8
Irnvissiierd property
Puota 13,

43669 425017 395961 418325 438ER 41453

1 Figures in A are for information.
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13

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Completed Investment
investment properties under
properties redevelopment Total
Note $'000 $'000 5000
Group
At 1 January 2018 1,106,736 485,951 1,592,687
Exchange differences on consalidation (13,286) = (13,288)
Development costs 338 91,843 92,181
Met gain from fair value adjustments 25 13,481 99,639 113,120
Property reclassified as held for sale 1 (42,040) - (42,040)
Property reclassified as completed investment
properties 677,433 [6T7,433) : -
At 31 December 2018 1,742,662 - 1,742,662
At 1 January 2017 (Restated) 711,698 396,954 1,108,652
Exchange differences on consolidation (4,033) - (4,033}
Development costis 376,410 67,133 443,543
Net gain from fair value adjustments 28 22,661 21,864 44,525
At 31 December 2017 (Restated) 1,106,736 485,951 1,502,687
Company
At 31 December 2018 498 - 498
At 31 December 2017 (Restated) 488 - 408
At 1 January 2017 (Restated) 408 = 498
Group_
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$'000 $'000 $£'000
(Restated) (Restated)
Represented by:
Completed investment properties in Singapore 1,510,023 865,030 478,030
Completed investment properties In Australia 226,382 235,372 227,309
Completed investment properties in China 6,257 6,334 6,359
Investment property under development in Singapore - 485,951 306,954
1,742,662 1.582 687 1,108,652

Fair value adjustments

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair value as at 31 December 2018, 31 December 2017 and 1 January
2017 based on valuation carried out by independent professional valuers, who have the appropriate qualification and
axperience in the location and category of the properties being valued. Based on these valuations, a net fair value gain
amounting to $113,120,000 (2017: nat fair value gain amounting to $44,525,000) was recognised in profit or loss [Note 28]

Tha Group classified fair value measurament using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the nature and complexity of the
significant inputs used in making the measurement. As at 31 December 2018, 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2017,
the fair value measurement of the Group's investment properties is classified within Level 3 of the fair valug higrarchy.
There were no transfers between different levels.
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Details of valuation technigues and significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement as at 31 December

2018, 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2017 are as follows:

Significant unobservable

Hame of property Valuation methodology inputs (Level 3) Range
31 December 2018
Singapare
Robinson Point™ Comparison Method Price per square meatra $26,900 - $32 600
29 Robinson Road of lettable area!”
Singapore
Income Method Met income margin™" 756% - B5%
Capitalization rate® 3.0% - 3.65%
The Oxday™ Comparison Method Price per square metre $21,100 - $37,300
9 Oxley Rise of strata floor area™
#01-00, #02-00, #03-00
Singapore
Income Method MNet income margin™" 75% - BS%
Capitalization rate®! 3.00% - 3.65%
L&Y Bullding™ Direct Comparison Method  Price per square melre $5,600 - $13,000

#01-03, #01-04, #05-01
59 Jalan Pemimpin
Singapore

of strata floor area™

$7,500 - $13,000
{ground floor)

Far East Finance Building™
#11-01/02

14 Robinson Road
Singapare

Direct Comparison Method

Price per square melra
of strata floor area™

$26,300 - $37,200

896 Dunearn Road™
B9E6 Dunearn Road

Direct Comparison Method

Price per square metra
of strata floor area™

Retall: $13.600 = 47,100
Office: $12,100 — §20,400

Singapore
18 Robinson® Capitalisation Method Capitafisation rate® 3.00%
Discounted Cash Flow Internal Rate of Ratumn™ 6.25% - 7.25%
Method
Direct Comparison Method  Price per square foot 33,544
of net lettable area
Australia
Fortescue Centre & Capitalisation Method Capitalisation rate® 8.50%
Carpark (being part of the Dizcounted Cash Flow Discount rate™ 8.50% - 9.00%
Hyatt Regency complex)™ Mathod Terminal yield rate™ 8.50% - 9.00%
Direct Comparison metra”  Land sale per square £3,100 - £8,300
Commercial Centre & Capitalisation Mathod Capitalization rate™ Retall: 5.00%
Carpark within the Carpark: 5.50%
Malbourna Grand Discounted Cash Flow Dizcount rate™ Retail: 6.75% - 7.25%
Hyatt compiax'™ Mathod Carpark: 7.00% = 7.50%
Terminal yiedd rate™ Retail: 5.25% - 5.75%
Carpark: 5.75% - 6.25%
China
No. 2950 ChunShen Road Direct Comparison Price per square meatre $5,100 - 5,300
Shanghai, China®™ Method of gross floor area™
Incorme Method Capitalisation rate™ 8.00%
Met income margin™" T0% - 75%
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Range

31 December 2017
n

Robinson Point'™ Comparison Method Price per square metre £28,400 - $31,300
39 Robinson Road of lettable areal™
Singapora
Income Method Mt income margin®" T75% - B0%
Capitaligation rata™ 3.0% - 3.85%
The Oxay™ Comparison Method Price per squara metra $26,900 - $35,700
9 Oxley Rise of strata floar araa™
#01-00, #02-00, #03-00
Singapora Income Mathad Met income margin™" 75% - B0%
Capitalisation rate® 3.0% - 3.65%
Century Warehouse® Direct Comparison Method  Price per sguare metre £6,600 - $13,400

31 strata units (out of a
total of 35 units) of the
building 100E Pasir
Panjang Road
Singapore

of strata floor area™

L&Y Bullding™
#01-03, #01-04, #05-01
58 Jalan Pemimpin

Singapare

Direct Comparison Method

Price per square metre
of strata floor area™

£5,500 - §7,600
£6,100 - $12,100
{ground floar)

Far East Finance Building=
#11-01/02

14 Robinson Road
Singapore

Direct Comparison Method

Price per square mealre
of strata floor area™

$23,700 - $35,400

896 Dunearn Road™
896 Dunearn Road

Direct Comparison Method

Price per square mealtre
of strata floor area™

Retail: $18,900 - $43,400
Offica: $13,600 - 519,000

Singapore
18 Robinson™ Residual Land Value Method Gross development value Office: 534,100 - $36,300
per square metre" Retail: $64,200 — $77,200
Developer's profit™ 10%
Direct Comparison Method  Land sale per sguare £9,700 - 518,400
metre per plot ratin™
Construction cost per 87,200
square metre of
gross floor area™
Total development cost £9,000
[exclude land cost) per
square metre of gross
floor area™
Remaining constructicn 1 year
period™
Ausiralin
Fortescue Centra & Capitalisation Method Capitalization rate™ 8.50%
Carpark (being part of the Discounted Cash Flow Discount rate™ 8.50% - 9.00%
Hyatt Regency complex) Method Terminal yield rate™ 8.50% — 9.00%
Direct Comparison Land sale per square £3,100 - $5,400
meetred!
Commercial Centre & Capitalisation Method Capitalization rate® Retail: 5.25%
Carpark within the Carpark: 5.75%
Melbourne Grand Discounted Cash Flow Discount rate™ Retail: 6.75% - 7.25%
Hyatt complex™ Method Carpark;: 7.00% - 7.50%
Terminal yield rate™ Retail: 5.25% - 5.75%
Carpark: 6.00% - 6.50%
China
Nao. 2950 ChunShen Road Direct Comparison Price per square matra $4,000 - $5,600
Shanghal, China” Meathod of gross floor areal”
Ineome Methad Capitalisation rate® 8%
MNet income marngin™ T0%
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Name of property Valuation methodology  inputs (Level 3) Range

1 January 2017

Singapore

Robinson Point™ Comparison Method Price per square metra $19,400 - $38,000

38 Robinson Road of lattable area’™

Singapore Income Method Met income margin™" 75% - BE%
Capitalisation rate® 2.8% to 4.0%

The Oxiey™ Comparison Method Price per square metra $18,300 - $30,800

9 Oxley Rise of strata floor area™

#01-00, #02-00, #03-00 Income Mathod Net income margin™" 80% - 80%

Singapore Capitalisation rate™ 2.0 % 1o 3.75%

Century Warahouse™ Direct Comparison Price per square metre 57,300 - 512,800

31 strata units (out of a Method of strata floor area™

total of 35 units) of the

building 100E Pasir

Panjang Road

Singapore

L&Y Building™ Direct Comparison Price per square metre £5,900 - $6,700

#01-03, #01-04, #05-01 Mathod of strata floor area™ $5,900 - $8,300

589 Jalan Pemimpin {ground floar)

Singapore

Far East Finance Building™
#11-01/02
14 Robinson Road

Direct Comparison
Mathod

Price per square metre
of strata floor area™

£23,400 - $32,300

Singapore
18 Robinson™ Residual Land Value Gross development value Office: $29,300 - $38,000
Method per square metre! Retail: $51,700 — £52,800
Developer’s profit® 10%
Land sale per square £9,700 - $12,000
Direct Comparison metre per plot ratip™
Mathod Canstruction cost per 57,200
square metre of
gross floor area™
Total development cost £9.700
[exclude land cost) per
square metre of gross
floor area™®
Remaining constructicn 2 years
period™®
Australia
Fortescue Centre & Capitalisation Method Capitalisation rate® 9.25% - 9.75%
Carpark (being part of the Digcounted Cash Flow Discount rate® 8.50% - 9.50%
Hyatt Regency complax)™ Method Terminal yield rate™ 9.25% - 9.756%
Direct Comparison Land sale per square £2,500 — 54,200
rrvetre
Commercial Centre & Capitalisation Method Capitalisation rate®™ Retail: 5.80%
Carpark within the
Malbourna Grand Discounted Cash Flow
Hyatt complex™ Method Discount rate™® 7.25% - 7.75%
Terminal yield rate™ 6.00% - 6.50%
China
No. 2850 ChunShen Road® Direct Comparison Price per square meatre 54,000 - $5,500

Shanghai, China

Method
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13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)
Fair value adjustments {cont'd)
Holes:
" Het incoma masgn - nol propaerty incomafannual gross rental incomi.
#  Total developmaent cost includes construction cost, professional fees, interest cost, land holding cost and other developmant refated cost,
{1} Any ssgnificant isclated increase (decrease) in these inputs would result in a significantly higher lower) fair value measuramant.
12} Any signdficant isclated increase (decraasa) in these inputs would result in 8 significantly lower (higher) fair value measuramant.

{8 The proparty valuation was perosmed by Colliers international Consultancy & Valation (Singapore) Pte Ltd, an indepandant valuer, for
thrie consecutive years,

(b} Tha property valuation was perormed by Jones Lang LaSalie Property Consultanis Pie Lid, an independent valuer, for three consecutive
YEars,

il The propey valuation was parformed by CBRE Pre. Lid, an independent valuer, for three consecutive years.

) Tha propaerty valuation was poerformad by Savills Valuation And Professional Sarvices {5) Pla Lid for both years. There was no comparative
valuation for 2016 as the property was acquired on 16 June 2017,

(8] The valuation was perlormed by Jones Lang LaSale Advisory Services Pty Lid for both years. The 2016 valuation was performed by Knight
Frank Valutions,

i The proparty valuation was performed by Shanghai Shenjia Real Estate Appraisal Co. Ltd for both years, The 2018 waluation was assessed
by the directors.

Dperating lease disclosure

During the year, rental income from the Grouwp's investment properties which were all leased under operating leases
amounted to 339,231,000 (31 December 2017: 538,318,000) [Note 28], Direct operating expenses (including repairs and
maintenancea) related to theses investiment properties amounted to 58,844,000 (31 December 2017: $8,601,000). Information
on operating lease commitments is disclosad in Mote 36 to the financial statemants.

Details of collateral

Az at 31 December 2018, investment properties amounting to $1.778,445,000 (31 December 2017: $1,586,353,000;
1 January 2017: $1,102,293.000) included in the above balances were morigaged to banks as security for borrowings.
Information relating to the Group's loans and borrowings is disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements.

List of completed investmant properties
The carrying amounts of complated investmant properties hald by the Group as at 31 December 2018, 31 December 2017
and 1 January 2017 are as follows:

Group’s 31 December 31 December 1 January

Strata effective 2018 2017 2017
floor area equity $'000 $'000 £'000
Mame of property  Description Tenure (sg. m] interest [Restated) (Restated)
Singapore
Robinson Point A 21-storey commercial Freehold 15,724 100% 368,000 362,000 352,000
38 Robinson Road  building with 3-levels of
Singapare canpark
The Culay 3 floors of commercial  Freehold 2,770 100% 64,000 64,000 63,300
8 Oxley Rise space within a 10-storey
#01-00, #02-00, building including
#03-00 Singapore residential units
Century Warehouse 31 out of a total of Fraehold 4,640 100% - 40,400 40,400
100E Pasir Panjang 35 strata wnits of a
Road Singapore B-slorey ndustrial
building
LAY Building 3 out of a total of 999 years 2,285 100% 14,080 13,030 13,030
#01-03, #01-04, 24 sirata units of & from 1885
¥O5-01 S-storey industrial
50 Jalan Pemimpin ~ building
Singapore
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)
List of completed investment properties (cont'd)

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

2018 ANNUAL REFORT

Group's 31 December 31 December 1 January

Strata  effective 2018 2017 2017
floor area aquity 5000 $'000 $'000
Name of property Description Tenure {sg- m}  interest [Restated) [Restated)
Far East Finance 1 strata unit (floor) 999 years 402 100% 10,000 9,600 9,300
Building within a 13-storey from 1884
#11-01/02 commercial building
14 Robinson Road and a basament
Singapore
896 Dunearn Road A B-storay commercial 998 years 23,500 100% 376,500 376,000 -
896 Duneamn Road building with covered  from 7 May
Singapore and surface carpark 1879
18 Robinsan’ A 2B-storey 998-years 24,088 100% 677,433 4B5951 308,954
commercial building from 1884
comprising & 1885
office tower, {Lots 167X,
retail podiem, B16W,
sky terrace and an BIX,
underground 992804,
meachanised QE2ETW
carpark and
99289P)
99-years
from 2013
[Lots 4B5M,
1,510,023 1,350,981 B74,984

1 The building for 18 Robinsen is physically complated during the year endad 31 December 2018,

Group's
offective 31 Decomber

31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January

Strata ;7 2m7 e 2017 2017
Hame of floor area  equity 2018 AS000"  AS'DOO' £4$7000 S5'000 58000
property Description Tenure [sq.m} interest AS'000"  (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
hustratia
Commercial 4 Colins St retal  Freehold 3,004 100% 147,400 138,500 130,000 143,509 142697 136,007
Centre & Carpark  shops consisting
withan the of 2 floors each,
Metboumne Grand & bar & luncton
Hyalt comples  room. A further
T redad arsas in
and around
Fusszall Si. with
4-leveli ol
bersament carpark
Forlescus Contre A 3-evel Freshold Z3415 100% 85,120 B5,850 87,125 B2.8T3 BR2ETE 91,212
& Carpark :
bengpatol  buiding and
the Perth Hyatt  plaza leval shops
Ragency and sutes with
compiex) 2-levels of
basement carpark
232,520 228450 217,125 226,382 235312 R73A
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13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)
Li=t of completed investment properties (cont'd)
Group's 31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January
Strata  effective e T 2m7 e 2017 217
Hame of floor area  equity A%'000" AS000'  AS'DOO' 557000 55000 55000
property Description Tenure  (sq.m) imlerest [Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
China
Mo, 2850 A 3-stoney 58 years 2170 100% 3,520 30874 30500 6,257 B354 6,359
ChuniShen commercal froem
Aoad Shanghai,  buiding 2008
Chra
1 Figures in A% and AMB are for information ony.
Interest costs capitalised during the year was $6.232,000 (31 December 2017: 54,448,000, 1 January 2017: £4,229,000)
at effective interest rate of 3.0% per annum (2017; 2.5% per annum) [Note 28].
14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
£'000 $'000 £'000
{Restated) (Restated)
Cuoted shares, at cost 115,976 115,976 115,876
Unguoted shares, at cost 583,226 553,419 548,418
Loan to a subsidiary 79,877 79,719 79,562
Deemed investment arising from financial guarantees 74,005 69,647 63,809
853,084 818,761 807,765
Less: Allowance for impairment (119,284) {(123,114) {123,010)
733,800 685,647 684,755

Fair value of investment in a subsidiary for which
there are published price quotations 12,666 23,924 13,792

Details of the Company's significant subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 39 to the financial stalements.

Financial guaraniees

The Company provided guarantees to banks for credit facilities obtained by certain of its subsidiaries and recorded a
deamead financial guaraniee lee income in accordance with SFARS() 9 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurament.
The deemed income is amorised over the period of the guarantees. The unamortised financial guarantee fee of $10,649,000
{31 December 2017: $14,738,000, 1 January 2017: $16,236,000) is disclosed under the Company's non-trade payables
in [Note 17] to the financial statements. The guarantee fee was not charged by the Company to tha subsidiaries. The full
amount of the guaranies fee is deemed to be additional investiment in subsidiaries.

Movements in allowance for impabrment

2018 2017
$'000 £'000
(Restated)

Allowance for impairment
At 1 January (123,114) (12:3,0100
Allowance for impairment {3,301) {111}
Reverzal of impairment 1,000 7
Writa-off of impairment 6,131 -
3,830 (104)
Reversal upon liquidation of subsidiaries - -
At 31 December (119,284) (123,114)
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14

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT'D)

Movements in allowance for impairment {cont'd)

During the year, impairment loss amounting to $3,301,000 (31 December 2017: $111,000, 1 January
2017; 56.404,000) was made in respect of the Company's investment in certain subsidiaries to reduce
the carrying wvalue of investment to the recoverable amounts after taking into account the current financial
position of the subsidiaries. In addition, there was a reversal of impairment amounting to 31,000,000
(31 December 2017: §7.,000, 1 January 2017: $7,608,000) in relation to certain subsidiaries due to increasa in their
recoverable amounts.

Loan to a subsidiary

Loan to a subsidiary refers to unsecured advances which have no fixed terms of repayment and are not expected to be
repaid in the naxt 12 months. These advances bear interest rate at 6.5% per annum (31 December 2017: 8.5% per annum,
1 January 2017: 6.5% per annum).

Whally-owned subsidiaries
Information about the composition of wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2018, 31 December
2017 and 1 January 2017 is as follows:

Number of wholly-owned Subsidiaries

31 December 31 December 1 January
Country of incorporation 2018 2017 2017
Principal activity and operation (Restated) (Restated)
Development of properties for Singapore, China 29 3 27
sale, property investment and Australia
and provision of property
managemant services.
Investment in hotels in Australia  Australia 4 4 4
Investment holding: Singapore, China 3 3 3
owning investments in and Malaysia
GulTech, a printed circuit
boards manufacturer with
operations in Singapore
and China, and Pan-West,
a Retailer of goll-retated
products.
36 38 34

Non-whaolly owned subsidiaries
Infermation about the composition of non-wholly ownad subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2018, 31 Dacamber
2017, and 1 January 2017 is as follows:

Number of non-wholly owned subsidiaries

31 December 31 December 1 January
Country of incorporation 2018 2017 2017
Principal activity and operation (Restated) [Restated)
Trading and marketing Singapore and Malaysia 9 ] 9
of selected industrial
commadities, distribution of
tyres and re-treading of tyres
Property developmant Singapore, Hongkong, ] 1 1
Indonasia
Manufactura and sale of Malaysia 1 1 1
polypropylene woven bags
16 11 11
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14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT'D)
Non-wholly owned subsidiaries (cont'd)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests to the Group is disclosed below:
Country of
incorporation
and principal
Mame of place ol Effective equity interest & vating Meet prafit sbocated to
subsidiary business power hild by non-contralling interests non-controling interests Accumuiated non-controling inberssts
31 December 31 Decamber 1.January 31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 a7 a7 208 2017 a7 2018 2017 207
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000
[Restated) (Restated] [Restated] [Restated)
5P Corponation Lirmited
and its subedianes  \arous 19.8% % 108% s 15 o 10,587 10,080 10,476
Indvichually irmmieral
subssidianies wih
non- controding
rlerests {138 <] [118) 4425 5 55
o} na2 21 15,12 10,628 11,084
The summarised financial information of 5P Corporation Limited and is subsidiaries on a 100% basis is set cut below:
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 217 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000
Cusrent assets 67,520 66,841 77,596
Mon-curent asseis 208 172 375
Current liabilities (14,236) (16,169 {24,933)
Non-curent Eabiities (49) (38) {54)
Equity attributabile to ocwners 53,443 50,806 52,984
Revenue for the year 136,379 127,726
Wet profit for the year 1,898 447
15 INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES
Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$'000 £'000 $'000
(Restated) [Restated)
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 87,127 72,240 72,240
Exchange differancas on consolidation 3,546 1,680 8,040
Share of post-acquisition results and reservas,
net of dividends and distributions received 27,241 19,265 3,209
117,914 93.185 83,579
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15

INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (CONT'D)

Equity accounted investees

The Group equity accounted for Gul Technologies Singapore Pte Lid ("GuiTech”), Pan-West (Private) Limited (*Pan-West")
and Sanya Summer Real Estate Co. Ltd ("SSRE"). In September 2018, the Group acquired 7.8% equity stake in SSRE,
a Hainan-based property devefopment company, for AMBTS million ($14.8 million). The Group has significant influence
over SSRE.

In June 2018, GulTech increased its equity stake in Guitech (Wuxi) Blectronics Co.. Ltd from 51.0% to 100%. Goodwill
of $11,198,000 paid over acquiring additional shares was included in the share of post-acquisition results and reserves.
Details of the Group's significant assoclates are disclosed in Mote 40 to the financial statements. The Group has ceased
recognising Pan-West's losses after the Group's share of Pan-West's accumulated losses exceaded the Group's cost of
investment.

The Group's share of net assets and total comprehensive income of its associates is set out below:

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
MNote $'000 £°000 £'000

(Restated) (Restated)

Share of nel assets

At 1 January 93,185 83,579 71,51
Exchange differences on consolidation 9,337) (B,360) 2,829
Acquisition of investment in an assoctate 14,888 - (4,365)
Share of total comprehensive income (refer to below) 19,178 15,966 13,604
At 31 December 117,914 93,185 83,579
Share of total comprehensive incoma

Share of results before fair value adjustments 18,214 15,677

Share of fair value (loss)/gain on financial instruments 29 (36) 289

Share of total comprehensive income for the year 18,178 15,966

Details of asset revaluation reserve and cash flow hedging account are disclosed In Note 24 to the financial statements.
Share of capital commitrments of GuiTech, an equity accounted investes is disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.

GulTech
The summarised finrancial information of GuiTech on a 100% basis is set out below:

31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2m7 2m7

uss'000" UsSs$'000"  USS000 £5000 £5'000 S$'000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Current assats 186,863 181,798 154,955 256,835 244 808 224405

Mon-cument assals 149,857 145,262 148,887 205,169 195,450 217,066

Current labiities (168,361} (108.,367)  (93,769) (227,765) (145807 (135,796

Mon-curent Eabiifies (1,082) {19,745 {37421} (1,481) [26,567) (54,194

HNon-controlling interests o 1435100 @a.902) = (38543 [B3579)

Equity attributable to owners 169,277 155438 120,750 231,758 209,142 187,902
Revenue for the year 337,655 293,757 455,361 406,265
Nat profit for the year 32,339 25 688 43,612 85,527

1 Figures in USS are for infonmation,
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15 INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (CONT'D)
Sanya Summer Real Estate Co. Ltd
The summarised finrancial information of Sanya Summer Real Estate Co. Ltd on 100% basis is set out below:

31 December 31 December

2018 2018
e AME’'000" $$'000
Current aszets 179,353 35,699
Non-current assets 477,282 94,734
Current liabilities (424) (84)
Mon-currant liabilities (100,000) (19,848)
Equity attributable to owners 556,211 110,401
Revenue for the year - -
Met loss for the year (13,318) (2,713)

1 Figures in AMB are for informalion.

Pan-West

Tne Group had recognised its share of losses of £5,344.000 (31 December 2017: £5,408,000, 1 January 2017: $5,408,000)
[Mote 17] baing the corporate guarantees given to certain banks in exchange for bank facilities granted to Pan-West and
its subsidiary, Other than the afore-mentioned corporate guarantees, the Group had no other commitments in relation
to Pan-West. The Group has ceased recognising Pan-West's losses after the Group's share of Pan-West's accumulated
losses exceaded the Group's cost of investment.

Accordingly, the Group's nominal additional share of accumulated losses of Pan-West amounting to 7,312,000
{31 December 2017: $6,550,000, 1 January 2017: £5,939.000) as at the end of the year was not recognised.

16 LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Group Company
31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 M7 2017 2018 207 2017
£'000 $'000 £'000 £'000 $'000 £'000
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
Shoert-term borrowings
Bank loans B4, 293 278,943 3,406 - - -
MNotes issued undar
MTM Programme TO.8TT < i TO.8TT - x:
884,170 278,943 3.406 79,877 - -
Long-term bemowings
Bank loans 547,068 050813 937825 - - -
Motes igsued under
MIN Programme | Me203 28364 79562 M908 28364 79562
746,2T1 178177 1,017,387 149,203 228 364 78,562
Total borrawings 1,630,441 1,458,120 1,020,793 229,080 228,364 79,562
Representsd by:
Interesi-bearing liabiites 1,633,675 1,462,087 1,024,085 229,877 230,000 BO,000
Capitaised interest costs i 13,234) [3.967) (3292 9n 1.636) (438
1,630,441 1458120 1,020,793 229,080 228,364 79,562
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LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONT'D)
Security profile

Group ; _Company
31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
(Restated] (Restated) (Restated) [Restated)
Secured borrowings

Current 804,293 278,943 3,406 = = -
Non-current 597,088 950.813 937,825 - - -
1,401,361 1,229,756 441,21 - - -

Unzecured borrowings
Current 79,877 = = 79,877 = -
Mon-currant 149,203 228,364 79,562 149,203 228,364 79,562
229,080 228,354 79,562 229,080 228,364 79,562
Total borrowings 1,630,441 1,458,120 1,020,793 229,080 228,364 79,562

Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme
The Company has in place a S$800 million Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme ("MTN Programme”) under which it can
is=ue notes in seres or tranches and may be denominated in Singapore Dolars or other currency deemed appropriate at tha time.

Series | of S380 million were issued on 14 Oclober 2014. They are of five years duration, unsecured, bear a fixed interest
rate of 4.50% per annum payable semi-annually in arrear and will mature on 14 October 2019, Series 1l of 55150 million
were issued on 5 June 2017, They are of threa years duration, unsecured, bear a fixed interest rate of B.00% per annum
payable semi-annually in arrear and will mature on 5 June 2020, At the end of the reporting period, the fair value of the
Motes approximate their respective carrying amounts,

Details of collateral

Loans and borowings from banks were secured over the Group's cash and bank balances [Mote 5], trade and other
recaivables [Mote B], inventories [Mote 9], development properties [Note 10), property, plant and equipmeant [Note 12],
investment properties [Mote 13] and covered by corporate guarantees [Note 37).

Interest rate profile

Group Company

31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January

2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017

£'000 £'000 £'000 $'000 £'000 $'000
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Loans and borrowings

Fixed rate 229,080 228,364 79,562 229,080 228,364 79,562
Varable raie 1,401,361 1,228,756 841,231 - ] - -
1,630,441 1,458,120 1.020,793 229,080 228,364 79,562

The Group's exposure to fair value interest rate risk as at 31 December 2018 is disclosed in Note 38(b) to the financial
statements.

Fair valug

The fair value of the cument portion of the Group's loans and bomrowings approximate thelr camying amounts at the end of
the reporting period because they are short term in nature. The fair value of the non-current portion of the Group's loans and
borowings approximate their carmying amounts at the end of the reporting perod as their interest rates approximata currant markat
inferest rates on or near the end of the reporting pericd. Furher details regarding foreign currency dencmination and maturity
dates, contractual and effective interest rates are disclosed in Notes 38{a) and 38(d) respectively to the financial statements.

Loan maturity profile

The non-current borrowings are generally repayable from 31 May 2019 to 11 September 2026 (31 December 2017:
30 November 2018 to 11 September 2026, 1 January 2017: 2 January 2018 to 11 September 2026). Information relating
to the maturity profile of the Group's loans and borrowings is disclosed in Note 38(d) to the financial staternents.
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16 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONT'D)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's labilities arising from financing activities, inciuding both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.,
Foreign
1 January Finant:l:g exchange Other 31 December
2018 cash movement :hnn?anﬂ 2018
$'000 £'000 $'000 000 £'000
(Restated)
Groy,
Eanl-sc loans 1,458,120 191,659 {20,107} 769 1,630,441
Foreign
1 January Flnlnt:-l:g exchange Other 31 December
2017 cash movement changes®™ 2017
5000 $000 $000 "$'000 $000
[Restated) (Restated)
Grou
Bank loans 1,020,793 443,879 (5,887) |BBS) 1,458,120
L] Tha cash Nows maka up the net amount of procesds from borm'.mga and mpwman!u o uurrcrwlnga in the statement of cash Nlows.
il Other changes inclede inlarest accruals and payments.
17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group Company
31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
Mote $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 §°000 $'000
- {Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
Trade
Trade payables 33,482 56,618 46,846 224 278 85
Amaounis due to related
partios 149 5,934 3,089 4,143 - - -
30,416 58,707 50,980 224 ara g5
Non-trade
Other creditors 26,640 23,338 19,315 az29 ara 22
Other pravisions 4,726 5,659 5,653 - = -
Advanced billings 7,168 B.261 6,692 - - -
Accrued operating
BXQENSEs 34,987 22,491 27,688 3,576 a.3113 2,774
Accrued interest axpenses 2,801 2,553 2,028 1,445 1,445 7719
Financial guarantees 1o
subsidiaries 14 - - - 10,649 14,738 16,236
Amounts due to related
parties 19 8,750 ar3 430 8,350 £ 3
125,488 122,380 112,795 24,573 20,153 20,096
Less: Non-current partion {373) [463) (462} = = =
Current portion 125,125 121,917 112,333 24,573 20,153 20,098

The Group is granted various credit terms on its purchases from its large number of suppliers who are geographically
dispersed. Trade payables are ganerally on 7 to 90 days (31 December 2017: 7 to 80 days,1 January 2017: 7 to 120 days)
credil tarm. The Group manages liquidity risk of trade payables primarily by maintaining sulficient cash and credit facilities
[Mote 38(d)].

Included in other creditors is a financial guarantee of $5,344,000 (31 Decembar 2017: £5.408,000, 1 January 2017:
£5,408,000) granted to its associate, Pan-West, equivalent to the Group's share of corporate guarantees given to certain
banks to secure credit facilities of Pan-West and its subsidiary.

The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting periods. Further

details regarding the contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates and foreign currency denomiénation are disclosed
in Mote 32 to the financial statements.
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AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

Company
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$'000 £'000 §'000
(Restated) [Restated)
Amounts due from subsidianes — non-trade 424,576 378,901 279,146
Less: Allowance for impairmeant (24,264) (25,050} (23,679)
400,312 354,851 255,467
Amounts due to subsidiaries — non-trade (308,288) (309, 728) (265,958)
Movements in allowance for impairment
Company
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£'000 $'000
(Restated)
Movements in allowance for impairment
At 1 January (25,050) {23,679)
Allowance made (1,118) {1.371)
Allowance written back 1,904 -
At 31 Decembaer (24,264) (25,050

Amounts due from to subsidiaries are unsecured and are repayable on demand. Interest ks charged at 3.0% (31 Decembar
2017: 2.5%) per annum on interast-bearing advances,

For purposa of impairment assessmant, amounts dua from subsidiaries are considerad to have low credit risk as the timing
of payment is controlied by the Company faking into account cash flow management within the Group and there has been
na significant increase in the risk of default on the amounts due from subsidiaries since initial recognition. Accordingly,
for the purpose of impairmant assessment for these receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
12-month expected credit bosses ([ECL).

In determining the ECL, management has taken into account the historical default exparience and the financial position of
the subsidiaries, adjusted for factors that are specific to the subsidiaries and general economic conditions of the Industry
in which the subsidiaries operate, in estimating the probability of default of each of these financial assets cccurring within
their respective loss assessmant time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

There has been no change in the estimation technigues or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period
in assessing the loss allowance for amounts due from subsidiaries.

During the year, allowance for impairment of $1,118,000 (31 December 2017: $1,371,000, 1 January 2017; $1,509.000)
was made for amounts dua from a subsidiary. The above assessment is after taking into account the current financial
position of the subsidiary, and the allowance was due 1o decrease in nat assetl value of the underlying interest as at tha
reporting date.

During the year, allowance written back of $1,904,000 (31 December 2017: $Nil, 1 January 2017: SMil) was made for
subsidiaries due 1o an increase in net assel value of the underlying interest as at the reporting date.
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19 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED PARTIES

Group Company
31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017 2018 2m7 2017
Note §'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 &'000 £'000
(Restated] (Restated) (Restated) [Restated)
Amounts due from:
Other related parties
Crther redated parties, rade 21,699 31,040 35,193 - - -
Other redated parties,
non-trade;
- Advance for coal ordar
tracie placemant - - 3,476 - - -
- Loan to a related party =} 20,000 - - - - -
Refundable rade deposit
with other related parties  {a) 8,215 8,073 8,680 - - -
= Others ] 964 1251 247 - 18 -
50,878 40,364 47,605 - 13 -
Tatal 50,878 40,364 47,605 - 13 =
Praganted as:
Amounts due from related
parties, rade & 21,699 31,040 35,193 - - -
Amounts due from related
partias. non-trade & 29,179 9,324 12,412 - 13 =
50,878 40,364 47,605 - 13 -
Ampunts due bo:
Other relaied parties
Other related parties, trade (5,934) (3,089 {4,143 - - -
Oither retated parties,
non-irade i (8,750) 373 1£30) (8,350) = 5
(15,684} [3.462) (4.573) (8,350 — N
Tatal {15,684) [3,452) 4.573) (8,350) - -
Prasanted as:
Amaounts dua to related
parties, trade 17 (5,934) (3,08) {4.143) - - -
Amounts due to related
parties, non-trade 17 {9,750) [ara) {430) (8,350) - -
[15,684) [3,462) (4.673) (8,350) = =

Tha Compary’s major shareholder is Nuri Holdings (S} Pte Ltd (*Nuri”), incorporated in Singapore. Related parties are the
companies in which the shareholders of Nuri and their family mambers have a controlling interest in, subsidianies, associates,
joint ventures, related companies, Nuri and Directors of the Company and their associates.

Inchuded in amounts due to other related parties, trade and non-trade, are mainky balances with related companias. Further
details regarding transactions with related parties are disclosed in Mote 34 1o the financial statements.
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19 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED PARTIES (CONT'D)
Amounts due from/(to} other related parties

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
2018 ANNUAL REFORT

(a)

(i}

{c)

(d}

Refundable trade deposit relates to a deposit of US$6,000,000 or equivalent to $8,215,000 (31 December 2017:
$8.073.000, 1 January 2017: $8,688,000) placed by SF Corporation Limited (*SP Corp”), a listed subsidiary of the
Group, with a related party which ocwns a coal mine (Party A) 1o secure coal allocations. The deposit is secured by
a corporate guarantee issued by the immediate holding company of Party A which is also a related party and also
owns a coal mine.

The deposit is repayable within one year and subject to annual renewal by mutual agreement between the two
parties. it bears an effective interest rate of 6.83% (2017: 5.73%) per annum.

Loan to a related party is provided by SP Corp, is repayable within one year from the date of disbursement on
24 September 2018 and carries fixed rate of 7.5% per annum. The loan and accrued interest shall be repaid in full
on the repayment date in cash, or in such other repayment method as otherwise agreed between the parties, in
which case interest would not apply.

In 2017, included in non-trade amounts due from other related parties was an amount of 3892 000 for the sale of
the discontinued Tyre Distribution Unit, which had been recoverad during the firancial year ended 31 December
2018.

Included in the non-trade amounts due to related parties is an amount payable of 58,350,000 (31 December 2017
SMil, 1 January 2017: SNil) to a related party in respect of the acquisition of land in Batam by the Group and the
Company (Mote 10,

The trade and non-trade amounts due from/(to) other refated parties were unsecured, interest-free, and repayable

on damand unkess otherwise stated.

20  CONTRACT LIABILITIES

li:.'-l:wlt!“em:l Ilabilﬁies

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000
) (Restated) {Restated)
583 arz =

Contract llability mainly represents amounts of consideration bllled to purchasers of the Group’s development propertles

in advance of the parcentage of compiation of construction.

2 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Deferred tax at the end of the reporting period consists of the following:

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000
_(Restated) (Restated)
Delerred tax assels and liabllities arising from
Accelerated tax depreciation compared to accounting
depreciation 106 221 254
Dederred development costs 283 - -
Revaluation of properties 1,353 1.366 1,393
Foreign income not remitted and which will be subject to fax
if remitted in the future 47,107 47,099 33,475
Unutilized tax losses {3,297) (1,630} -
Others (614) (1,525} {1,678)
44,938 45.531 33,444
%%Baﬂﬂt&d by
tax assets {2,135) [2.253) {2,288)
Dedarred tax liabilities 47,073 47,784 35,730
44,938 45,531 33,444
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DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT'D)

Deferred tax assets and labilities are netted off when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and when the deferred
income taxes relate to the same tax authorities.

Deferred tax assels and liabilities recognised by the Group and the movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting pericds are as following:

Accelerated Deferred Foreign
tax development Revaluation income not Unutilised
depreciation costs  of properties remitted tax losses Others Total

Group
Al1 January 2018 {restated) 21 - 1,366 47,099 (1,630) (1,525) 45,531
Exchange differences on

consolidation 2 - (41) (2,429) (47) 83 2432)
Transfer 1o incoma tax

payable - - - - - (164)  (184)
{Credited)/Charged to profil

or loss 3 {117 283 28 54 (1,620 202 (380)
Charged 1o other

comprenensive ncoma 33 - - - 2,383 - - 2,383
At 31 Decamber 2018 106 283 1453 47,107 (3,297) (614) 44,938
Al 1 January 2017 [restaied) 254 - 1,383 33475 - (167H) 33444
Exchange differances on

consalidation 2 = 127) (5BT) (13 a (584)
{Credited)/Changed to proft

or loss 3 (a5} - - 3,782 {1,817} 122 2,252
Charged 1o othar

comprehensive income 32 - - - 10,429 = - 10,429
Al 51 December 217

(restated) 221 = 1,366 47,099 [1,630) (1,525) 45531

Deferred tax liabilities relating lo equity inlerest in GHG

Deferred tax liab#ities included an amount of 42,107,000 (31 December 2017: $45,338,000, 1 January 2017: $34,034,000)
on account of a provision made by the Group to recognise the taxable gains on the excess of the fair value of net assets
of GHG over the tax cost base of the securities in GHG.

Deterred 1ax liabilities not recognised

At the end of the reporting year, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was $293,000 (31 December 2017: $200.000,
1 January 2017: $263,000). No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a
positicn to control the timing of the reversal of temporary differences, and it Is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax benefits not recognised

At the end of the reporting year, the Group had, subject to the agresment by the tax authorities, unutiksed tax losses of
£32,873,000 (31 December 201 7: £32,675,000, 1 January 2017: $29,602,000) and capital alowances of 3,572,000
{31 Decembar 2017: $3.540,000, 1 January 2017: $2,263,000) which were avadable for carry forward and set-off against
future taxable income. No deferred tax asset has been recognised to the unpredictability of the relevant future profit streams.
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22 SHARE CAPITAL
Group : Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017
Number of shares £'000 $'000
Issued and paid up:
At 1 January 1,186,993 1,182,842 172,514 171,306
Issued under Scrip Dividend Scheme 4,446 4,201 1,689 1.231
Shares bought back and cancelled (650) {509 (258) {23)
Shares bought back and held as
treasury shares (4,383) = - =
At 31 Decembser 1,186,406 1,186,903 173,945 172,514
Tha Company has a single class of ordinary shares, All issued shares carry one vate per share and are entitied 1o receive
dividend as and when declared by the Company, The ordinary shares are fully paid and have no par value.
lssue of shares
During the year, the Company allotted and issued 4,445,582 (31 December 2017: 4,200,725) ordinary shares at an issus
price of 38.0 cents (31 December 2017: 29.3 cents) per share to eligible shareholders who have validly elected to participate
in the Tuan Sing Scrip Dividend Scheme in respect of the first and final ordinary dividend of 0.6 cent per share for the
firancial year ended 31 December 2017,
Purchase and cancellation of shares
During the year, the Company acquired 650,000 (31 December 2017: 50,000) of its ordinary shares through purchase on
the Singapore Exchange under the Share Purchase Mandate approved by its shareholders. The shares were purchased
were cancelled subsequently,
23 TREASURY SHARES
Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000 $'000
At the baginning of the year - - - -
Repurchased during tha year 4,383,400 - 1,523
At the end of the year 4,383,400 - 1,523 -
The Company acquired 4,383,400 of its own shares through purchases on the Singapore Exchange during the year. The
total amount paid to acquire the shares was 31,523,000 and has been deducted from shareholders” equity. The shares
are held as “treasury shares’,
24 RESERVES
Group Company
31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
(Restated] (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
Assal revaluation resene 139,151 133,755 110,063 - - -
Foreign currency transiation
aceount (48,586) {31,038) {16,151} - - -
Other capital reserves:
= Mon-disiributable capital |
TESEMVES 157,623 151,434 128,200 101,264 101,264 | 101,264
= Cash flow hedging account (T14) ] {1,413 - = =
156,909 150,662 126,787 101,264 101,264 101,264
Revenue resene 673,566 563,608 531,397 324,548 319,787 310,779
821,030 817,077 752,096 425,812 421,051 412,043
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29 RESERVES (CONT'D)
Assetf revaluation reserve
Asset revaluation reserve comprises net cumuiative surpluses arising from the revaluation of property, plant and equipment
which are hald for the purpose of production or supply of goods and services.
Foreign currency transkation account
Foreign currency translation account comprises foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statemants of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from the presentation currency of the Comparny,
i.e. SG0; as well as from the translation of monetary items which form part of the Group's net investment in foreign
operations at the end of the reporting period.
Other capilal reserves
Mon-distributable capital reserves comprise mainly capital reduction reserve of the Company, share of reserve of an
associate, GuiTech and distribution reserve of GHG which is used to record the balance of amounts available for distribution
as defined by the Trust Dead.
Cash flow hedging account represents the cumulative net change in fair value of the effective portion of the cash flow
hadges.
Aevenue resene
Revenue reserve is used to record tha balance of amounts available for distributions as defined by regulatory requirements.
This is distributable to shareholders as dividend.
25 DIVIDEND
Group and Company
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000
Tax-exempt one-tier first and final dividend paid in
respect of the previous year
Cash 5431 5,866 5877
Share 1,689 1,231 1,196
7,120 7,097 7.073
The Directors proposed a tax exempt one-tier first and final dividend of 0.6 cent per share (2017: 0.6 cent per shara)
and an additional special dividend of 0.3 cent per share (2017: Nil), total amounting to $10,678,000 (2017: $7,122,000),
subject to the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be paid in respect
of the financial year ended 31 December 2018,
26 REVENLUE

The Group derives its revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time and at a point in time in the following
major product lines. This is consistent with the revenue information that is disclosed for each reportable segment under
SFRS() B (see Note 4).

A disaggregation of the Group’s revenue for the year, is as follows:

Group

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Note £'000 £'000

{Restated)

Segment Revenue

Sale of products 144,816 134,680

Sale of devalopment properties 41,251 58,576

Rental income of investment properties 13 39,23 38318

Hotel operations and related income 109,227 119,320

Services rendered 205 4,005
Crthers 1,378 1,065

336,108 355,084
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26  REVENUE (CONT'D)

Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Note $'000 £'000
(Restated)
Timing of revenue recognition
At a point of time:
Sale of products 144,816 134,680
Sale of completed development properties 22,238 58,157
Hotel operations — food and beverages 33,750 40,005
Ower tima:
Sale of development properties under construction 19,013 2419
Rantal income of investment properties 13 39,231 38,318
Hotel operations - room sales and other income 765,477 79,315
Services renderad 205 4,005
Others 1,378 1,065
336,108 355,064

Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods and services supplied. included in the Group's revenue from sale of
devaelopmeant properties is an amount of $19,013,000 (2017: £2,419,000} whereby the revenue is recognised based on
the percentage of completion method.

As at 31 December 2018, the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are partially satisfied amounted
to $13,263,639. Management expects that this amount will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting period.

27 INTEREST INCOME

Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
$'000 £'000
[{Restated)
Interest income on bank deposits 3,313 2957
Interast incoma from deblors 21 115
Interasi incoma from ralated parties 1,682 1,078
5,226 4,150
28 FINANCE COSTS
Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Note £'000 $'000
- (Restated)
Interest expense on loans and borrawings 48,832 37,351
Amortisation of capitalised finance costs 1,858 1,603
51,690 38,954
Less: Amounts capitalised ' ke .
- Devalopment properties 10 {3,597) {1,333
- Investment propertias 13 | (6,232) (4,448) |
(9,829) (5,781)
41,861 23,173

Bomrowing costs capitalised as cost of properties under development relate to borrowings taken up to finance each project.
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29 FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Note £'000 §'000
(Restated)
Fair value gain from:
Subsidiaries 113,120 44,525
Share of an equity accounted investes 15 (36} 289
113,084 44 814
Reprasented by:
Fair value gain in respect of:
- investment properties 113,120 44 525
- financial instruments 15 36) 289
113,084 44,814
The fair value adiustment is analysed as follows:
Group
Deferred
Gross tax MNet
Note $'000 £'000 $'000
31 Decembar 2018
Fair value gain on investment proparties
Subsidiarias 13 113,120 (1,218) 111,901
Falr value gains on financial instrumenis
Share of an equity accounted investes s (3| - ~ [38)
113,084 {1,219) 111,865
31 December 2017 [Restaled)
Fair value gain on investment properlies
Subsidiaries 13 44,525 [3,453) 41,072
Fair value gain on financial instruments
Share of an equity accountad investese 15 289 - 289
44 814 (3,453} 41,361
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in thesa financial statements, profit before tax for the year has been arrived at after

charging/(crediting) the fallowing:

Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£000 §'000
[Restated)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipmant 7,916 7776
[included in cost of sales, distribution costs, administrative expenses]
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Mote 35) 36 6
[included in other operating expensas]
Write-back of allowance for diminution in value for development properties, net (1,576) {1,783}
[included in other operating (incomel/expenses/cost of sales)
Allcwance for doubtful trade and other recaivables, nat 525 425
[included in other operating expensas]
Allowance for inventory obsolescence, net - 17
[included in other operating expenses)
Foreign exchange loss, net 92 188
[included in other operating expensas)]
Provision for restructuring costs - 123
[included in other operating expenses]
Cost of iventories recognised as an expense 141,288 132,293
Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary (3,893) =
[included in other operating expenses/incoms|
Auditors" remuneration
Audit fees
= Auditors of the Company 328 33
- Other auditors 196 17T
Non-audit fees
= Auditors of the Company 105 198
- Other auditors 23 10
Directors’ remuneration
Of the Comparny
- Salaries and wages 1,886 1,737
Of the subsidiaries
- Salaries and wages 1,066 1,907
- Defined contribution plans 24 53
2,976 3,897
Employees benefil expenses
(excluding Directors” remuneration)
- Salaries and wages 11,943 12,759
— Defined contribution plans 1,044 il
— Others 74 116
13,061 13,866

The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the non-audit services provided by the auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLF,
Singapore and the overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited and was of the opinion that these services

would not affect the independence of the auditors.
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i

INCOME TAX EXPENSES
Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Note $'000 §'000
|Restated)
Current incoms tax
- Singapore 1,158 aza
- Foreign 2,093 1,992
= Under provision in prior years 1,254 648
4,506 2,968
Withholding tax expanse 65 41
Deferred tax 21 {380) 2,252
4,190 5,261

Singapore income tax is calculated at 17% (2017 17%) of the estimated assessable income for the year, Taxation for
other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Tha reconciliation betwean the tax expense reparted and the praduct of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax
rate is as follows:

Group

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

£000 $£'000

(Restated)

Profit before income tax 138,799 68,005
Income tax calculated at 17% (2017: 17%) 23,596 11,561

Adfustments:

Share of results of an equity-accounted investes (3,266) (2,714)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposas 2,872 5,072
Tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 670 335
Tax losses not available for set-off against future income 2,170 46
Different tax rates of subsidlaries operating In other jurisdictions 1,137 2,109
Income that is not subject to tax (23,462) (11,689)
Utifisation of tax losses and capital allowance previously not recognised (588) (58)
Under provision in prior years 1,254 648
Withholding tax expanse 65 41
Othersg (258) (80)
4,190 5,261
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32 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Analysis of the Group's profit from operations and fair value adjustments are as follows:

Group
Before After
fair value Fair value fair value
Note adjustments adjustments adjustments
$'000 £'000 £'000
31 December 2018
Profit before tax 25,715 113,084 138,799
Income tax expenses 29, 3 [2,971) (1,218) {4,180)
Profit for the year 22,744 111,865 134,609
Less:
Non-controlling interests (233) - (233)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 22,511 111,865 134,376
31 December 2017 [Restated)
Profit before tax 23,19 44,814 68,005
Income tax expenses 29, 31 {1,808) (3.453) {5,281)
Profit for the year 21,383 41,361 62,744
Less:
Mon-controlling intarasts {112) - {112}
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 21,271 41,361 62,632

The calculation of the basic and diluted eamings per share attributable to the ordinary owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

—— Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
$'000 £'000
[Restated)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company
Before falr value adjustments 22,511 21,21
Fair value adjustmants 111,865 41,361
After fak value adjustments 134,376 62,632
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)
Including fair value adjustments 11.3 5.3
Exciuding fair value adjustmants 1.9 1.8
Weilghted average number of ordinary shares (in "000 shares) for
the purpose of computation of basic and diluted earnings per share 1,188,806 1,185,048

There is no dilutive ordinary share in 2018 and 2017,
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33 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group
MNote Before tax Deferred tax After tax
$'000 $'000 $'000
2018
Other comprehensive income
ltams that will not be reclassified subsequently fo
profit or loss
Revaluation of properties 12 7,754 (2,358) 5,396
ltems that will ba reclassified ta
profit or loss
Exchange differences on transkation of foreign
operations (19,278) - (19,278)
Share of other comprahensive income of an
equity accountad investes 1,866 = 1,866
Cash flow hedges (25) 57
(9,576) (2,383) (11,959)
2017 (Restated)
Dther comprehensive income
ltams that will not be reclassified subsequently to
or loss
Revaluation of properties 12 33,846 {10,154} 23,692
ltems that will be reclassified subsequently to
profif or fnss
Exchange differancas on translation of foreign
operations (9,045 - 19,045
Share of other comprehensive income of an
equity accountad investes {6,360) - (6.360)
Cash flow hadges 916 (275) B41
19,357 (10,425) 8,928

The Group entered into certain interast rate swap confracts 1o hedge its interest rate risk exposures. Derivatives that are
designated and effective as hedging instruments are carried at fair value.

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 207 2017
£'000 £000 £'000

{Restated) (Restated)

Derivatives that are designated and effective as hedging
instruments carried at fair value - a7 1,019

The Group used intarast rate swaps 10 manage its exposure (o interest rate movements on its bank borrowings by swapping
a propartion of those borrowings from floating rates to ficed rates. Contracts with nominal valuas of A177 million have fied
interest payments at a fixed rate of 2.254% per annum for periods up until 2018 and have a fipating interest rate of 1 month
Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate. These interest rate swaps were not further extended when they matured in January 2018,

All of the Group's interest rate swaps are designated and effective as cash flow hedges and the fair value change of these

interest rate swaps, amounting to $82,000 (2017: $918,000) has been recognised in other comprehensive income during
the year.
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a3 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME {CONT'D)
The following tables detail the noticnal principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts cutstanding
as at the end of the reporting year:

Average contracted fxed inferest rats Notional principal amount Fair value
31December 31December 1January 31December 31 December 1January 31December 31 December 1 .January

Group 2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 a7 2018 207 a7
. perannum  perannum per annum so00 $000 S0 §000 $000 5000

1 month a 2IS%  DOSA% - 18235 165301 - &7 1019

M SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the related party transactions disclosed elsewhera in the financial statemants, the Group has the following
significant related party transactions with the major shareholders, associates and the Directors of the Company and their

associates:
Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
(Restated)
Transactions with major shareholder
Sale of products and services renderad 42,878 61,451
Sale of a completed development property 7,745 -
Rental income 1,525 2,160
Interast income 926 BE4
Consideration for disposal of assets of Tyre Distribution Unit = 1,750
Purchase of products (95,390) {68,158)
Transactions with associates
Managament fee income 180 180
Interest income 756 414
Transaclions with Directors of the Company and thelr associates
Sale of completed development properties - 2270
MTH interest expense {173) {137)

The Company's major shareholder is Muri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd {"Nuri™), incorporated in Singapore. Related party transactions
with major sharehabder refer to transactions with the companies in which the shareholders of Nuri and their family members
have a controlling interast in. The related party transactions are entered into in the nommal course of business based on
terms agreed between the parties.

One of the Group's subsidiary, SP Resources International Pte Ltd, is reliant on two related parties for the supply of 100%
(2017: 100%) of its coal. The Group supplies 100% (2017: 100%) of its rubber products to one customer (2017 two
customers) who is a refated party. Sales to this related party for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 amounted
to $31,346,000 (2017: $43,853,000).
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kT SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D)
At the end of the reporting year, the Group had commitments to lease certain commercial properties to Muri and associates
of the Group. These non-cancellable operating leases had remaining lease terms of 2 months (2017: 2 months). Future
minimum lease receivables under these leases not recognised as receivables at tha end of each reporting period wera
as follows:

Commitment with related parties

Group
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
{Restated)
Commitment with major shareholder
Operating leases
- Within one year 648 BBO
- After one year but not more than five years 1,568 1,813
- After five years 1,405 1,605
3,621 4,368
Remuneration of Directors and key management personnel
Group
31 December 31 Decembar
2018 2017
£'000 £'000
_(Restated)
Short-term benefits and fees 2,997 3,644
Past-employment benefils (defined contribution plan) 30 53
3,027 3,687

35 DISPOSALSACOUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
Disposal of a subsidiary
On 14 March 2018, the Group disposed its wholly-owned subsidiary, Qingdao Shenyang Property Co., Lid ("Qingdaoc
Shenyang”), China. Details of the disposal are as follows:-

Carrying amount of net assats over which control was lost:

Group
31 December
2018
£'000
Current assets
Devealopment properties 12,121
Other receivables 4062
Total current assets - 17,085
Current liabilities
Other payables oy
Total current liabilities 2
Met assels deracognised 17,071
S
Consideraticn
Cash 16,547
Deposit recaived in prior year 4,294
Defarred consideration 495
Total consideration 21,337
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35 DISPOSALFACOUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONT'D)
Disposal of a subsidiary (cont'd)
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_ Group
31 December
2018
i — o0
Gain on disposal
Consideration received/receivable 21,337
Transaction costs (1,193}
Met assels derecognised {17,071)
Cumnulative exchange differences in respect of the net assets of the subsidiary
reclassified from equity on loss of control of subsidiary B20
Gain on disposal (Note 30) 3,893
Group
2018 2017
£000 £'000
Net cash Inflow arising on disposal
Cash consideration received 16,547 4,294

Acgquisition of subsidiaries

On 7 June 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of 30% of the total issued share capital of Goodworth Investments
Pia Ltd ("GIPL") and Splendourland Pte Lid (“5PL") for an aggregate consideration of 5$39.15 millon from Habitat Properties
Pte Ltd. GIPL and SPL jointly hold the entire issued share capital of PT Goodworth Investments ("FTGI™), the legal and

beneficial owner of the Batam tand.

. Group
31 December
2018
$'000
Considaration transferred
Deposits received in prior years 11,745
Cash received during the year 11,310
Development property transferrad 7,745
Defarred consideration (Naote 19) 8,350
Total 39,150
_ Group
31 December
2018
£'000
Assels acquired and Rlabilities assumed
Current assets
Development properties 39,150
Other recaivabias 34
Current liabifities
Trade and other payables {34)
Met assats acquired and liabilities assumed 39,150

466



TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED STATUTORY REPORTS AND accounTts 169

2018 ANNUAL REFORT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2018

36 COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000
(Restated) _[Restated)
Development and investment properties expendilure
contracted for but provided in the financial statements 30,509 122,226 143,287
Capital expenditure approved by Directors but not contracted
far in the financial staterments 4,203 2,278 5,143
Share of commitmeants of equity-accounted investees
- Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the
financial statements 69 615 1,703

Operating lease commilments — where the Group Is a lessor

The Group enters into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio, consisting of commercial and
industrial buildings under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses
and renewal rights. As at the end of the reporting period, these non-cancellable leases had remaining lease terms of

between nine months and seven years (2017: one and eleven years).

The future minimum lease receivables under non-canceltable operating leases contracted for at the end of each reporting

period but not recognized as receivables were as follows:

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$'000 $000 £'000
(Restated) [Restated)
Within one year 31,667 31,839 29,649
After one year bul not more than five years 38,902 42,552 42007
After five years 1,917 4,235 2,561
72,486 7B.626 74,217

Dperaling lease commitments - where the Group is a lessee

The Group leases office premises, warehouse, and workshops under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The
leases have varying terms and renewal rights. They are generally negotiated for a term of 1 to 2 years and rentals are
generally fixed for the same periods, Payment recognised as an expense during the year was 7,000 (2017: $238,000).

The future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the end of the reporting

period but not recognized as kabilities were as follows:

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 207 2017
$'000 $000 $'000
(Restated) [{Restated)
Within cne year 232 215 368
After one year bul not more than five years 160 272 100
392 487 468
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36 COMMITMENTS (CONT'D)
Derivative financial instrument
SP Corp, a listed subsidiary of the Group, utilised currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash
fiows. At the end of the reporting year, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange coniracis to
which the Group was committed were as follows:

——e || em—
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000
(Restated) (Restated)
Foreign currency forward conlracts - B.400 15,000

The change in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivative was insignificant and hence its amount was not charged
to profit or loss.

ar CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Company
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
£'000 $'000 $'000

— (Restated)

Guarantees givan to banks in respect of bank
facilities utilised by subsidiaries 970,489 BOT.361 513,482

In 2018, the Group recognised a financial guarantes of 5,344,000 (2017: §5,408,000) granted to its associate, Pan-West,
equivalent to the Group's share of corporate guarantees given to certain banks to secure credit facilities of Pan-West and
its subsidiary [Note 15].

38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk management policies and objectives
The Group has documented financial risk management policies approved by the Board of Directors. The policies consist
of guidelines and rules to identify and manage periodically significant risks that might affect the achievement of business
objectives, outpuls, projects or oparating procasses at the Group, subsidiary or business unit level. Guidelines and rules
are reviewed annually by the Group to ensure that they remain relevant. The Group’s overall risk management program
seeks to minimise potentially adverse effects on financlal performance of the Group.

The Group's risk management process is carred out in three phases, i.e. identification and assessment of risks, formulation
and implementation of risk treatment, and monitoring and reporting of risk profile. The key risks relating to financial
management include foreign exchange risk, Interast rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing
cash In excess of short-term operational requirement.

Factors behind financial risks

The Group's activities expose it to a varlety of financial risks such as markel risk (including currency risk, interest rate
risk and price risk), credit rsk and liquidity risk. The Group seaks 1o minimise potentially adverse effects arising from the
unpredictability of the financial markets on the Group's financial parformance.

The Group's financial instruments comprise locans and borrowings, cash and liquid rescurces, trade and other receivables,

trade and other payables that arise directly from its operaticns. The Group manages its exposure to currency and interest
rate risks by using a variety of techniques and instruments as described in Notes 38{a) and 38(b) to the financial statements.
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

Factors behind financial risks (cont'd)

Matural hedging iz preferred by matching assets and liabilities of the same cumrency. Derivative financial instruments are
only used where it is necessary to reduce the Group's exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates or
to comply with covenants imposed by banks. While these financlal instruments are subject to risk of change in market
rates subseguent to their acquisition, such changes are generally offset by opposite effects on the items being hedged.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. The Group is not exposed to
any equity-price risk.

There has been no major change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analyses indicated in Motes 38{a) and 38(b) to
the financial statements.

Categories of financial instruments
The table below sets out the financial instruments at the end of the reporting year:

Group Company
31 December 31 December 1 January 31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017 2018 2017 2017
£'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 £'000 £'000
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised
cost 220,561 204,805 a2 522 425,501 443 844 255,801
Financial liabilities
Financial iabilities at amortised
cost 1,748,771 1,572,239 1,126,856 551,292 543 508 349,378
Financial guaraniee contracis - = = 10,648 14,738 16,238
1,748,771 1,572,239 1,126,896 561,941 558,246 365,614
Derivative financial instruments - a7 1.019 = = =
1,748,771 1,572,326 1,127.915 561,941 558,246 365,614

(a) Currency risk
The Group's subsidiaries operate mainly in Singapore, Australia, China, Malaysia and Indonesia. As for its associates,
GuiTech operates mainly in China and Singapore; Pan-West operates mainly in Singapore and Malaysia, S3RE
operates in China. Enfities in the Group regularly transact in currencies other than their respective functional
currencies (“foreign currencies”) such as the Singapore dolar ("SGDT), Australian dollar ("ALIDT), United States
doltar {*USD") and Malaysian Ringgit {*MYR"). Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign
CUrrancias.,

In addition, the Group ks exposed to currency transkation risk on the net assets in foreign operations mainly in
Australia and China. As far as possible, the Group relies on natural hedges of matching foreign assets and liabilities
of the same curency.

SP Corporation Limited, a listed subsidiary of the Group, uses forward foreign exchange contracts to protect against
the affect of volatility in foreign currency exchange rates an foreign curmency denominated assets and liabiities arising
in the normal course of business. SP Corp enters into forward exchange contracts with maturities of less than twelve
months. Further details on the forward exchange contracts are disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.

The Group does not enter into currency options and does not use forward forelgn exchange contracts for speculative
trading purposes.
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Categories of financial instruments (coni’d)
ia) Currency risk (cont'd)
Currency risk exposure
At the end of the reporting year, the carrying amounts of significant monetary assets and monetary liabilities
denoménated in currencies other than the respective entities” functional currencies were as follows:

SGD uso AUD Others
$'000 $'000 £'000 $'000
Group
At 31 December 2018
Financial asseis
Cash and bank balances 494 406 23,535 B9
Trade and other receivables 36 - 23 572
530 406 23,558 661
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (63) {87) - {60)
Het financial liabilities (63) (a7) - (60)
Net currency exposure 467 309 23,558 601
AL 31 December 2017 (Restated)
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances 350 620 1 30
Trade and other receivables 46 - - 7
396 620 1 107
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 1B,853) 181) =  {ale4)
Net financial (liabilities)/assets {6,257} 559 1 (4,187)
Less:
Forward foreign exchange contracts 8,382 = = =
Net currency exposure 2125 559 1 (4,187)
AL 1 Janwary 2017 (Restated)
Financial assals
Cash and bank balances 230 5™ 1 18
Trade and other recelvablas 40 568 - a5
270 6,359 1 113
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payabiles (19,228) (228) - {1209
Net financial (llabilitles)/assets {18,956) 6,131 1 {7
Less:
Forward foreign exchange contracts 15,328 - - -
Net currency exposure (3.628) 6,131 1 {7
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Categories of financial instruments (cont'd)

(a)

Currency risk (cont'd)

Currency risk exposure {cont'd)

At the end of the reporting year, the carrying amounts of significant monetary assets and monetary liabilities
denoménated in currencies other than the Company's functional currency weare as follows:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017 1 January 2017
(Restated) (Restated)
AUD MYR AUD MYR AUD MYR
£'000 $'000 $'000 £'000 $'000 $'000
Company
Financial assets
Amounts due from
subsidiaries - 43 - a7 - 13
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to
subsidiaries (23,537) - (2:35) - (228) -
Het currency exposure (23,537) 43 [235) 37 (228) 13

Sensitivity analysis for curency risk

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase/decrease in the relevant foreign currencies against
the functional currency of each Group entity, 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
Internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary lems and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in loreign currency rates. The
sansitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group whera they gave
rise to an impact on the Group's profit or loss and/or equity.

If the refevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of each Group entity, profit or loss
may Increase (decrease) by

SGD usD
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Group
Profit or Loss 47) (213) (31) {56)
Company
Profit or Loss - - - -
AUD Others
2018 2018 2017
Broop
Profit or Loss (2,356) - (&0) 419
Company
Profit or Loss 2,354 24 (4) (4]

The strengthening of the relevant foreign currency against the functional currency of each Group entity at the end
of the raporting year would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currancies to the amounts shown
above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

471



174 STATUTORY REPORTS AND ACCOUNTS TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

2018 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2018

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Categories of financial instruments (cont’d)

()

(&)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument may fluctuate because of changes in
interest rates in the market,

The Group's exposure 10 interast rate risk arises mainly from bank borrowings. The Group aims to optimise net
Interest cost and to reduce volatility In the finance cost. The Group borrows mainly variable rate debis with varying
tenures. A summary of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments is disclosed in Note 38(d) to thase financial
staterments.

Other than those disclosed below, the Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge fluctuations
in interest rates for its borrowings.,

Sensitivity analysis for interast rate risk

The sensitivity analysis below is based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the end
of tha reporting year and assumas that the change took place at the beginning of the financial year and was held
constant throughout the reporting year. The magnitude represents the Group's assessment of the Bkely movement
in interast rates under normal economéc conditions.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
profit after tax would decrease or increase by 313,651,000 (2017: decrease or increase by $12,086,000).

The Company's profit or loss was not affected by changes in interest rales as the Company did not have any
borrowings or inter-company locans that are at variable rates.

Overview of the Group's exposure to credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a mean of mitigating
the risk of financial loss from such defaults. Credit risk on cash and bank balances and derivative financial instrument
is imited as these balances are placed with or transacted with institutions of repute. The Group manages these
risks by monitoring credit worthiness and limiting the aggregate use to any individual counterparty. The Group does
not expect to incur material credit losses on its financial instruments.

The Group develops and maintains its credit risk gradings to categorise exposures according to their degree of
risk of default. The Group uses its trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors, The Group does
not hodd any collateral to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Thie Group's current cradit risk framework comprises the following categories:

Basis for recognising expected
Category Description credit losses (ECL)
Parfarming The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not | 12-maonth ECL
have any past-due amounts,
Doubtiul Amount i& >30 days past due or there has been a | Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired
significant increase in credil risk since initial recognition.
In default Amount s >80 days past due or there |s evidence | Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired
indicating the asset is credit-impalrad.
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in | Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.,
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Categories of financial instruments (cont"d)

]

Overview of the Group's exposure to credit risk (cont'd)

The assessment of the credit quality and exposure to credit risk of the Group's trade and other receivables have
been disclosed in Mote 6. The tables below detadl the credit quality of the Group's financial assets and other items,
as well as maximum exposure 1o credit risk by credit risk rating grades:

Gross Net
Internal carrying Loss carrying
credit 12-month amount allowance amount
Mote rating or lifetime ECL $'000 £'000 §'000
Group
31 December 2018
Trade and other & ) Lifetima ECL 45,036 (1,148) 43,888
recaivables [simplified approach)
Contract assets T Lifetime ECL 15,451 - 15,451
[simplified approach)
Refundable trade deposit 18  Performing  12-month ECL 8,215 - 8,215
with related party
Loan to a related party 18 Performing 12-month ECL 20,000 - 20,000
(1,148)
Gross Net
Internal carrying Loss carrying
credit 12-month amount allowance amount
: Note reting or lifetime ECL $000 $000 _ $'000
Group
31 December 2017
(Restated)
Trade and other 6 () Lifetime ECL 60,697 [BES) 60,032
receivables [simplifted approach)
Contract assets T i Litetime ECL 9,537 - 8,537
{simplified approach)
Refundable trade deposit 189 Performing 12-month ECL 8,073 = 8,073
with related party
(BES)
Gross Net
Internal carrying Loss carrying
credit 12-month amount allowance amount
B Note rating or lifetime ECL $'000 $'000 £'000
Group
| January 2017 (Restated)
Trade and other & (i Lifetime ECL 65,899 (303) 65,506
receivables [simplified approach)
Contract assets 7o Lifetima ECL 64,549 - 64,549
[simplified approach)
Refundable trade deposit 19 Performing 12-month ECL 8,689 - 8,689
with a related party
(303}
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Categories of financial instruments (cont'd)
ie) Overview of the Group's exposure to credit risk (cont'd)

Gross Net
Internal carrying Loss carrying
credit 12-month amount allowance amount
Note rating or lifetime ECL $'000 $'000 $'000
Comparry
31 December 2018
Cther receivables & Lifetime ECL 96 72) 24
[simplified approach)
Amount due from 18  Performing 12-month ECL 424,578 (24,264) 400,312
subsidiaries
(24,336)
Gross Net
Internal carrying Loss carrying
credit 12-maonth amount allowance amount
Mote rating or lifetime ECL $'000 £'000 $'000
Compary
31 December 2017
{Restated)
Other receivables B Lifetime ECL 328 (72) 256
(simplified approach)
Amount due from related 19 Performing 12-manth ECL 13 - 13
party
Amount due from 19 Performing 12-manth ECL 379,901 (25,050) 354,851
subsidiaries )
[25,122)
Gross Net
Internal carrying Loss carrying
credit 12-manth amount allowance amount
Mote rating or lifetime ECL $°000 £'000 £'000
Compary
1 January 2017
tated
Other receivables 6 i Lifetime ECL 105 (72 33
[simplified approach)
Amount due from 18 Performing 12-month ECL 279,145 (23,679) 255 467
subsidiaries
(23,751)

[ For trade and other receivablas, the Group has applied tha simpified approach in SFRS{) 9 to measwe the loss allowance at
Metme ECL. The Group detarmines the expected credit logses on these tems based on hestorical credit loss experience bazed
on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to refect current conditions and estimatas of fulure economic
conditions. Mobe & ncludas further details on the loss allowance for (hass receablas,

The carrying amount of financlal assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any allowances for
losses, represents the Group's maximum exposure 1o credit risk without taking into account of the value of any
collateral obtained.

With respect to trade and other receivables at the end of the reporting vear, trade amounts due from other related
parties includes an amount of $20,183,000 (31 Decermnber 2017: $29,124,000; 1 January 2017: £30,820,000) which
comprised of 2 (31 December 2017: 3; 1 January 2017: 3) major customers with culstanding balances indiidualy
exceeding 5% of the Group's trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2018,
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Categories of financial instruments {cont’d)

(e}

(d)

Overview of the Group's exposure to credit risk (cont'd)
The credit risk for trade receivables after allowance for doubtful receivables was as follows:

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 207 2017
$'000 £'000 §£'000

[Restated) [Restated)

By geographical area

Singapore 21,229 30,160 35,577
Australia 3,810 4,996 4,821
China 356 T04 3,903
Malaysia 2,365 1.891 2,330
Indonesia 8,875 10,384 8,323
United States of America (LISA) 266 220 126
Others 20 23 17
36,921 48,388 55,697
By type of customers
Related parties 21,699 31,040 32,895
Mon-refated parties 16,222 17.348 22,802
36,921 48,388 55,697
By industry sector
Property 3,125 7.826 9,314
Hotels investment 3,667 4,560 5,236
Industrial services - 30,129 36,002 41,147
36,921 48,388 55,6097
Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and borrowings with different tenures. Due to the
dynamic nature of the businesses the Group is in, the Group aims at maintaining flexibility in funding and keeping
adeguate committed credit facilities available.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's current Eabilities exceeded its current assets by $388,420,000 {31 December
2017: net current asset of $87,700,000; 1 January 2017: net current asset of $371,585,000). The directors are
satisfied that the Group is able to refinance the loans that are due and it will not affect its ability to continue as a
going concam within the next 12 months.

Analysis for Nguidity and interest risk — non-derivative financial labilities
The following tables detall the effective annual interest rates and the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative
financial Kabiities at the end of the reporting year,

The tables have bean drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabiities based on the earfiest
date on which the Group and Company can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. The adjustment column represents possible future cash flow attributable to the instruments included
in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the financial Rabilities on the statemenis of
financial position.
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Liquidity risk (cont'd)
Analysis for liguidity and interest risk — non-denvative financial labilities (cont'd)
On
Effective demand or
interest  less than Within 1 to  Within 2 to Over
rate 1 year 2 years 5 years Syears Adjustment Total
k. $'000 $000 $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000
Graup
31 December 2018
Mon-interest bearing - 117,956 a4 - - - 118,330
Fixed intarast rate
instruments 4.5-6.0 91,821 153,847 - - (16,588) 229,080
Variable interest rate
instruments 29-35 824,897 67,766 543,371 219 (34,992) 1,401,361
1,034,774 221,987 543,31 219 (51,580) 1,748,771
31 December 2017
[Restated)
Mon-interest bearing - 113,656 483 = = - 114,118
Fixed interest rate
instruments 45-60 12,600 91,821 153,847 - (29.904) 228,364
Variable interast rate
instruments 22-30 0,02 875,350 85,102 3.636 [35,344) 1,220,756
427,268 067,634 238,949 3,638 (65,248) 1,572,239
1 January 2017 (Restaled)
Mon-interest bearing - 105,641 4862 - = = 106,103
Fixed interast rate
instruments 4.5 3,600 86,420 - = [10,458) 79,562
Variable interest rate
instruments 1.7-2.8 14,508 668,322 282 8097 4,082 (28.358) 941,231
123,838 755,204 282 BO7 4,982 (30,826) 1,128,808
On
Effective demand or
interast less than Within 1 to  Within 2 to Over
rate 1 year 2 years 5 years Syears Adjustment Total
% $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 £'000
Company
31 December 2018
Mon-interast bearing - 322,212 - - - - 322,212
Fixed interest rate
instruments 4.5-6.0 91,821 153,847 - - (16,588) 229,080
Financial guarantee
conirects - 10,849 o = it e 10,848
424,682 153,847 - - (16,588) 561,341
31 December 2017
[Restated)
Mon-inferest bearing - 315,144 = = - = 315,144
Fixed interast rata
instruments 45-80 12,600 21,81 153,847 - [20,904) 228,364
Financial guarantee
contracts = BOT, 361 - - - (792.623) 14,738
1,135,105 91,821 153,847 - {B22,527) 558,248
1 January 2017 (Restated)
Mon-interest baaring - 269,815 - - = = 268,815
Fixed interest rate
instruments a5 3,600 BB.420 - - (10,457) 79,563
Financial guarantes
cantracts - 513482 - = = (497,246) 18,236
786,897 86,420 = = (507, 703) 365,614
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3B FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Categories of financial instruments (coni’d)

(@)

Liquidity risk (cont'd)

Analysis for iguidity and interast risk — non-devivative financial labiities (cont'd)

At the end of the reporting year, the maximum amount that the Company could be forced to sattle under the financial
guarantee contracts if the full guaranteed amounts Is claimed by the countenparty to the guarantee is $970,488,000
(31 December 2017: $807.361,000, 1 January 2017: $513,482,000). Based on expectations at the end of the
reporting period, the Group considers that it is more fikely than not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which Is a function of the likelihcod that the financial receivables held by the counterparty
which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

As at the end of the reporting vear, the Group's total obligation on guarantees in connection with Pan-Wast's bank
faciities amounted to £5,344,000 (2017: $5,408,000). The earliest time that a guarantes could be called is as and
when the guarantee is claimed by the countarparty.

Analysiz for figuidity and interest risk — non-derivative financial assets

The following tables detail the effective annual interest rates and the expected maturity for non-derivative financial
assets at the end of the reporting year. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual
maturities of the finrancial assets including interest that will be earnad on those assels except where the Group
and the Company anticipate that the cash flow will ococur in a different year, The adjustment column represents the
pos=ible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which are not incleded in
the carrying amount of the financial assats on the statements of financial position.

On
Effective demand or
interest  less than Within 1 to  Within 2 to Over
rate 1 year 2 years 5 years Syears Adjustment Total
kL 000 §'000 §o00 000 $'000 §'000
Group
31 December 2018
MNon-interest bearing - 65,928 1,934 3,218 - - 71,080
Variable interest rate
instrumants 0.1-03 36,561 - - - (3286) 36,235
Fixed interest rate
instrumants 0.4-5T 51,390 15,457 47,640 - [1,241) 113,246
138,428 17,391 50,858 - [1,567) 220,561
31 December 2017
(Restated)
Mon-interest bearing - ar.742 - - - - BT 742
Variable interest rate
instruments 01-03 21,163 - - - 15 21,158
Fixed interest rate
instrumants 04-57 123,882 31,275 31,275 - {437} 185,905
232,787 31,275 31,275 - (442) 204,895
1 January 2017 (Restated)
Mon-intarest bearing - 138,822 113 2,901 g - 142 B4
Variable interest rate
ingtruments 0.1-03 23,406 - - - (18) 23,300
Fixed interest rate
nstrumeants D2-54 74,072 3,275 31,275 - (335) 136,287
237,300 31,388 34,176 9 {351) 302 522
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Categories of financial instruments (cont'd)
(d)  Liquidity risk (cont'd)

Analysis for Nguidity and interest risk - non-denvative financial assefs fcont'd)

On

Effective demand or

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
2018 ANNUAL REFORT

interest  less than Within 1 to  Within 2 to Over
rate 1 year 2 years 5 years Syears Adjustment Total
% $'000 §'000 §000 §000 §'000 §'000
Company
31 December 2018
MNon-interest bearing - 425,501 - - - - 425,501
31 December 2017
(Restated)
MNon-interest bearing - 443,844 - - - - 443,844
1 January 2017 (Restated)
Mon-interest bearing - 255,801 - - - - 255,801
for ' risk = derivative firancial instruments

The following table detalls a Bguidity analysis for dervative financial instrements the Group had entered into at
the end of the reporting year. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted netl cash outfiows on
the derivative instruments that settle on a net basis and the undiscounted gross inflows on those derivatives that

require gross settlement.

On
demand or
less than Within 1 to Within 2 to Over
1 year 2 years 5 years Syears Adjustment Total
$'000 §'000 5'000 §'000 $'000 $'000
Group
31 December 2018
Gross settied:
Foreign exchange forward contracts - - - - - -
31 December 2017 (Restated)
Gross settied:
Foreign exchange forward contracts 19 - - - - 19
1 January 2017 (Restaled)
Gross settied:
Fareign exchange forward contracts (327) - - - - [327)

(&) Fair value of financial assels and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and payables, provisions and other
llabilities approximated their respective fair values due to their relative short-term maturity.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

. the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on
active kguid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

- the fair value of other financial assets and financial Eabilitas {excluding derivative instruments) are determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices
from observabla current market transactions and dealer quotes for simitar instruments, and

. the fair value of derivative instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not
available, discounted cash flow analysis is used, based on the applicable yield curve of the duration of the
instruments for non-optional desivatives, and cption pricing models for optional derivatives.
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38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Categories of financial instruments (conl’d)

(&)

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (cont'd)

The fair value of other classes of financial assets and Habdlities are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial
statements. The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance
of the inputs usaed in making tha maasuremants. The fair value hierarchy has the follawing levels:

. Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

. Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
gither directly (i.e, as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

. Level 3: inputs for the assat or liability that are not based on obsarvable market data (unobservable inputs).

At the end of each reporting year, the Group and the Company's interest rate swap was measured based on
Level 2. The valuation technigue and key input is future cash flows which are estimated based on forward interest
rates (from observable yield curves at the end of the reporting year) and contract interest rates, discounted at a
rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

Capital risk

In managing capital, the Group's cbjectives are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain an optimal capital structure so as o provide appropriate retumns 1o shareholders and benafits for other
stakeholders through pricing its products and services at levels commensurate with the leved of risks it is exposed to.

The capital structure of the Group consists of loans and borrowings disclosed in Note 18, issued capital, reserves
and retained eamings disclosed in Notes 23 and 24 to the financial statements. In order to maintain or achieve
an optimal capital structure, the Group may issue new shares, obtain new borrowings, sell assets to reduce
borrowings, pay or adjust the amount of dividend payment or return capital to shareholders. The Group's overall
strategy remains unchanged from the prior years.

The Group monitors capital risks throwgh measuring the Group’s gross gearing and net gearing. The Group’s gross
gearing is calculated as total borrowings divided by total equity, whilst net gearing is calculated as net borrowings
divided by total equity. Net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings as disclosed In Mote 16, less cash and
bank balances as disclosed in Mote 5 to the financial statemants.

Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
$'000 $'000 £'000
(Restated) (Restated)
Tatal borrowings 1,630,441 1.458,120 1,020,793
Tatal equity 1,108,464 1.000,219 934,436
Gross gearing (times) 1.47 1.48 1.09
Met borrowings 1,497,434 1,241,277 B57,105
Total equity 1,108,464 1.000,218 834,436
Net gearing (times) 1.35 1.24 0.92
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39 LISTING OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES

Information relating to the significant subsidiaries is disclosed as below:;

Effective equity interest &
voting power held by the Group

Country of 31 December 31 December 1 January

incorporation/ 2018 2017 2017
MName of company MNote Principal activities  establishment % % %%
Significant subsidianies diractly heig

by the Comparny
Asiaview Properties Ple Lid Property ilvestment  Singaporns 100 100 100
Aspleniam Land Pte. Ltd. Property development  Singapore 100 100 100
Clerodendrem Land Pte. Ltd. Property development  Singapore 100 100 100
Dillenia Land Pie. Lid. Property development  Singapore 100 100 100
Epsscia Land Pte. Lid, Property development  Singapore 100 100 100
Gerbera Land Pte. Ltd, Property development  Singapore 100 100 -
Omley Development Pte Lid Property imvestment  Singapore 100 100 100
3P Corporation Limited Imvestment holding Singapore 80.2 80.2 B0.2
Superluck Properties Pte Ltd Property Investment  Singapore 100 100 100
Significant subsidianies indirectly held
by the Company
38 Robinson Road Ple. Lid. Property investment  Singapore 100 100 100
Grand Hotel Group i Property investment  Ausiralia 100 100 100
Habitat Properties (Shanghai) Ltd. ) Property development China 100 100 100
Shelford Properties Pte Lid Property development  Singapare 100 100 100
SP Resources international Pte, Lid, Trading of industrial Singapore 80.2 B0.2 BO.2
products

TSRAC Movena Pra. Ltd. Property development  Singapore T0 - -

All subsidiaries in Singapore are audited by Delvitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

L} Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited,
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40 LISTING OF SIGNIFIGANT ASSOCIATES
Asspciates are those in which the Group has significant influence, but not control in the operating and financial policy
decisions.
Information relating to the significant associates is disclosed as below:
Effective equity interest &
voting power held by the Group
31 December 31 December 1 January
Country of 2018 2017 2017
Name of company Mote Principal activities  incorporation % % L
Gul Technologies Singapore Pla. Ltd. ()  Manufacture of printed  Singapore 445 445 445
circuit boards
Sarya Summer Aeal Estate Co. Lid. Property Developer China 78 - -
Note:
il Audited by Deloite & Touche LLP, Singapore.
4 ADOPTION OF A NEW FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The Group and the Company adopted the new financial reporting framework — Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) (“SFRS{)™) for the first time for financial year ended 31 December, 2018 and SFRS(l) 1 Frst-time Adaoplion
of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) has been applied in the first set of SFRS() financial stataments.
SFRSII) is identical to the Intermational Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRST) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (lASE).

As a first-time adopter of SFRS(), the Group and the Company have applied retrospectively, accounting policies based on
each SFAS() effective as at end of the first SFRSII) reporting period (31 December 2018}, except for areas of axceptions
and opfional exemptions set out in SFRS() 1. In the first set of SFRS(Y financial statements for the financial year ended
31 December 2018, an additional opening statement of financial position as at date of transition (1 January 2017) is
prasentad, together with related notes. Reconciliation statemants from previously reported FRS amounts and explanatory
notes on transition adjustments are presented for equity as at date of transition (1 January 2017) and as at end of last
financial period under FRS (31 December 2017), and for total comprehensive incomea and cash flows reported for the last
firancial period under FRS (for the year ended 31 December 2017). Additional disclosures are made for specific transition
adjustrments if applicable.

There is no change to the Group's and the Company's previous accounting policies under FRS or material adjustments
on the initial transition to the new framewaork, other than those arising from the application of SFRS() 15 and the election
of certain transition options available under SFRS{) 1.

Management has elected the following transition exemption:

. SFAS() 3 Businass Combinations has not bean applied to acquisitions of subsidiares that are considered businessas
under SFRS({) that occurred bafore 1 January 2017. The FRS carrying amounts of assets and labilites determined in
that business combination, that are required to be recognised under SFRS(), are the deemed cost at the date of the
acquisition. After the date of the acquisition, measurement is in accordance with SFRS(I). Assets and labilities that
do not qualify for recognition under SFRS(|) are excluded from the opening SFRS(l) statement of financial position.
The Group did not recognise or exclede any previously recognised amounts as a result of SFRSI{I) recognition
requirements.

SFRS() 1 also requires that the FRS carrying amount of goodwill must be used in the opening SFRS(|) statement
of financial position (apart from adjustmants for goodwill impairment and recognition or derecognition of intangible
assets). There was no goodwill that had arose from the previous acquisitions.

. As permitted under SFRS(l) 1, the transaction price allocated o (partially) unsatisfied performance obligations as
of 31 December 2017 Is not disclosed using the transition provisions of SFRS(I) 15,
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4 ADOPTION OF A NEW FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK (CONT'D)

Reconciliations of equity and tolal comprehensive income
Tha eftects of transition to SFRS()) and initial application of SFAS() 15 are presentad and axplained balow.

Group

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

2018 ANNUAL REPORT

(A) Impact on the statement of financial positicn as at 1 January 2017 {date of transition to SFRS()

As previously Initial As adjusted
reported Application of application of under
under FRS SFRS{)1 Note SFRS(I) 15 Note SFRS()
£'000 £'000 $'000 $'000
Current assets
Cash and bank balances 163,688 - - 163,688
Trade and other receivables 158,793 - {B4,548) i2) 04,244
Contract assels - - 64,549 {2} 64,549
Contract costs - - 3ar (3) 3ar
Amounts due from subsidianes - - - -
Irventories 3,564 - = 3,564
Development properties 183,232 - - 183,232
Asset classified as held for sale - - - -
Mon-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 418,278 3,643 i - 422,921
Investment properties 1,108,652 - - 1,108,652
Irvesstmant in subsidiaries - - - -
Imvestmants in equity accounted
investees 83,579 - - 83,579
Daterred tax assels 2,286 - - 2,286
Contract assels - - - -
(hher non-current assets 11 - = 11
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 3,406 = = 3,406
Trade and other payables 112,333 - - 112,323
Amounts due to subsidiaries = = = =
Contract liabilities = - - -
Derivative financial instruments - - - -
Income tax payable 22,290 - - 22,290
Non-current liabilities
Loans and bomowings 1,017,387 - - 1,017,387
Derivative financial instruments 1,019 - - 1,019
Deterred tax liabilities 35,730 - - 35,730
(hher non-current kabilities 462 - - 462
Capital, reserves and
non-cantrolling interests
Share capital 171,306 - - 171,306
Treasury shares - - - -
Reserves 748,116 3,643 i 3ar 3 752,006
MNen-controlling interests 11,034 - = 11,034
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41 ADOPTION OF A NEW FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK (CONT'D)

Reconciliations of equity and tolal comprehensive income (cont'd)

Group {cont'd)
(B) Impact on the statement of financial positicn as at 31 December 2017 (end of last period reported under FRS)
As previously Initial As adjusted
reported Application of application of under
under FRS SFRS(l) 1  Mote SFRS(l) 15 MNote SFRS(I)
§'000 $'000 $'000 §'000
Current assets
Cash and bank balances 216,842 - - 216,843
Trade and oiher receivables 93,827 - 4678 (2 84,148
Contract assels - - 4,480 i2) 4,480
Confract costs - - 485 (1] 485
Amounts due from subsidiarias - - - -
Inventaries 2,906 - - 2,808
Development properties 188,308 - ara (4] 188,680
Assel classified as held for sale - - - -
Non-current assats
Property, plant and equipment 443,093 3,656 1) - 445,749
Imvesstment properties 1,592,687 - - 1,582,687
Invesstment in subsidiaries - - - -
Irvesstments in equity accounted
investees 93,185 - - 83,185
Deferred tax assels 2,253 - - 2.253
Trade and oiher receivables 5,067 - 15057 () -
Contract assels - - 5,057 2] 5,067
Other non-current assats 12 = # 12
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 278,043 = = 278,943
Trade and other payables 121,917 - - 121,917
Amounts due to subsidiaries = - = -
Contract liabilities - - 372 (2] arz
Derivative financial instruments a7 - - 87
Income tax payable 13,523 - - 13,523
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borowings 1178477 - - 1179477
Derivative financial instruments - - - -
Deterred tax liabilities 47,784 = = 47,784
(hher non-current kabdlities 483 - - 463
Capital, reserves and
nen-cantrolling Interests
Share capital 172,514 - - 172,514
Treasury shares - - - -
Reserves 813,135 3,656 {1 286 3 87.0r7
MNen-controlling interests 10,628 - = 10.628
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ADOPTION OF A NEW FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK (CONT'D)

Reconcillations of equity and tolal comprehensive income {cont'd)

Group (cont'd)
Impact on the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the yvear ended 31 December 2017

(<)

(last financial year reported under FRS)

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
2018 ANNUAL REPORT

As previously Initial As adjusted
reported Application of application of under
under FRS SFRS{l)1 Mote SFRS(l) 15 MNote SFRS(I)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenua 357,922 - (1,958 (4) 355,064
Cost of sales (292,894) - 1,715 (3) 14} {291,179
Other operating income 7,346 - - 7346
Distribution costs {B,O7T) - 1692 [ }] (5,885)
Administrative expenses (26,268) 51} i = [26,319)
Other operating expenses {3,300 = = {3,390)
Share of results of an equity
atcounted investes 15,677 - - 15,677
Imterest income 4,150 - - 4,150
Finance costs (33,173) - - [33,173)
Fair value adjustments 44 814 - - 44 814
Income tax expenses {5,261) = = (5,261)
Profit for the year 62,846 {51) i) (51) i34 62,744
Other comprehensive income
Hems that will not be
reclassified subsequently fo
profit or loss
Revaluation of properties 33,848 - - 33,846
Income tax relating to
components of other
comprehensive income
that will mat be reclassified
subsaguantly (10,154) - - {10,154)
Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
aperations {9, 109) B4 {1y - {9,045
Share of other comprehansive
Income of an equity
accounted Investes (6,360) - - (6,360)
Cash fiow hedges 916 = = 916
Income tax relating to
componants of olher
comprehansive incoms
that may be reclassiied
subseguanthy ) {275) - - [275)
Total comprehensive income
for the year 71,710 13 {1 151) (3 (4) 71,672

MNotes to the reconciliations:

SFRS (1) 1

(1} Management has elected to adopt the fair value of a leasehold land and building and freehold bullding as
their deemed cost as at 1 January 2017. Revaluation gain of $3,643,000 was recognised by the Group as
at 1 January 2017. The amount of annual depreciation expense recognisad in profit or loss is also impacted.
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ADOPTION OF A NEW FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK (CONT'D)

Reconciliations of equity and total comprehensive income (conl'd)

Group (cont'd)

{C) Impact on the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the yvear ended 31 December 2017
{last financial year reported undar FAS) (cont"d)

Notes to the reconciliations: (cont'd)

SFRS(I) 15

(2} Under SFRS{) 15, progress billings invoiced to purchasers of development properties in advance of tha
percentage of completion of performance obligations are recognised as contract liabilities. This balance
was previously recognised as part of trade receivables and development properties and so has been
reclassified. If the percentage of completion of performance obligations are ahead of progress billings
invoices, a contract asset is recognised. There was no impact on the statement of profit or loss as a result
of these reclassifications.

(3} The Group Incurs commission fees paid to intermediaries in connection with cbtaining residential property
salas contracts. When the Group expects that thase costs will be recovered, it capitakses these and
amortises them over the periad during which the residential property is transferred to the cusiomer. Thess
amounts were previously expensed as incurred.

(4) Variable consideration was previously recognised within cost of sales. Under SFRS(() 15, such amounts are
recognised as a reduction in revenue. There is no net impact on the statement of profit or loss as a result
of this reclassification.

D) Impact on the statement of cash flows for tha year ended 31 Decernbear 2017 (last financial year reported under FRS).

The transition to SFRS(l) and the initial application of SFRS(I) 9 and SFAS() 15 have not had a material Impact on
the statement of cash flows.

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following SFRS{s pronouncements were issued but not
effective and are expected to have an impact to the Group and the Company in the periods of their initial adoption.

SFRS(l) 16 Leases
Effective for annual periods beginning or after 1 January 2019

The Standard provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the
firancial statements of both lessees and lessors. The identification of leases, distinguishing between leases and service
confracts, are datermined on the basis of whether there is an identified assat controlled by the customer.

Significant changes to lessee accounting are introduced, with the distinction between operating and finance leases
ramoved and assaets and liabilities are recognised in respect of all leases (subject to imited exemptions for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets). The Standard maintaing substantially the lessor accounting approach under the
existing framework.

SFRSIl) 1-17 does not require the recognition of any right-of-use assat or liability for future payments for the operating
leases that the Group enters into, Under SFRS{T) 16, the Group may be required to recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability in respect of all leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application
of SFRS(l) 16. Additional disclosures may atso be made with respect to leases, including any significant judgement and
astimation made in distinguishing belween leases and service confracts, on the basis of whether an identified asset
canfrolled by the customer exists.

Az at 31 December 2018, the Group and tha Company have non-cancellable operating lease commitmeants as disclosed in
Note 36. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangemeants will meet the definition of a lease under SFRS{) 18,
and hence the Group and the Company will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all
these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon application of SFRS(l) 16. The new requirement to
recognise a right-of-use asset and a related lease lability is expected to have impacts on the amounts recognised in the
Group's and Company's financial statements and management is curmently assessing its potential impact.
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TENTATIVE AGENDA DECISION ISSUED BY THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS INTERPRETATIONS
COMMITTEE

As stated in Mote 2(j) to the financial statements, cost of development properties comprise costs that are related directly
to the development which include finance costs. Duwring the year ended 31 December 2018, the International Financial
Reporting Standards (*IFRS") Interpretation Committee recetved a submission about the capitafisation of borrowing costs
in relation 1o the construction of a residential multi-enit real estate development (building). in a Tentative Agenda Decision
issued in November 2018, the Interpretations Committes tentatively concluded that, the entity in the fact pattern in the
submission should not capitalise borrowing costs. This conclusion is different from the accounting policies applied currently
by the Group. As at the date of the issuance of this financial statements, the Tentative Agenda Decisions (including
explanatory material) are subject to finalisation by the Interpretation Committes after February 2013 after consideration of
comments received, Accordingly, no adjustment has been made by the Group in the accompanying finrancial statements
in respect of this matter.
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APPENDIX VI

UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD
ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

The information set forth in this Appendix VIl has been extracted and reproduced from the
unaudited results for the six month financial statements announcement of Tuan Sing Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries for the financial period ended 30 June 2019 and has not been
specifically prepared for inclusion in this Information Memorandum.
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(Company Registration No. 196900130M)
9 Oxley Rise #03-02 The Oxley Singapore 238697

** TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
Tel: (65) 6223 7211 Fax: (65) 6224 1085

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANNOUNCEMENT
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Singapore, 24 July 2019 - The Directors of Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (“the Company”) announce the
following unaudited results of the Group for the second quarter and half year ended 30 June 2019.

This announcement and the accompanying PowerPoint presentation slides are also available at the Company’s
website: http.//www.tuansing.com.

If you require any clarification on this announcement, please contact Mr Leong Kok Ho, Chief Financial Officer,
at e-mail address: leong_kokho@tuansing.com.

Important Notes on Forward-Looking Statements:

All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this news release are or may be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements involve assumptions, risks and uncertainties. Actual future performance, outcomes and results may differ materially from these expressed in
forward-looking statements as a result of changes of these assumptions, risks, and uncertainties. Examples of these factors include, but not limited to,
general industry and economic conditions, interest rate movements, cost of capital and availability of capital, competition from other companies and
venues for sale/ manufacture/ distribution of goods and services, shift in customer demands, customers and partners, changes in operating expenses,
including employee wages, benefits and training, and governmental and public policy changes. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these

forward-looking statements, which are based on current view of the Company on future events. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly
or revise any forward-looking statements.
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

1.

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other operating income

Distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Other operating expenses

Share of results of equity accounted investments
Interest income

Finance costs

Profit before tax and fair value adjustments
Fair value adjustments

Profit before tax

Income tax expenses

Profit for the period

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Share of exchange differences on translation of equity

accounted investments

Cash flow hedges

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive
(loss) / income that may be reclassified subsequently

Other comprehensive (loss) / income, net of tax

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the period

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive (loss) / income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in cents)
Excluding fair value adjustments
Including fair value adjustments

Return on shareholders' funds *

nm: not meaningful

Note

(a)

(a)

(A) Consolidated Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income

A Return on shareholders' funds = net profit attributable to shareholders / average shareholders' funds over the year

Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
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Group Group
Second Quarter First Half
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Profit has been arrived at after crediting / (charging) the following:

Group Group
Second Quarter First Half
30.06.19 30.06.18 /() 30.06.19 30.06.18 /)
Note $°000 $°000 % $°000 $°000 %

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (2,034) 2,130) (4,030) (4,334) )
[included in cost of sales, distribution costs, administrative expenses]

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net - 4 - 4) nm
[included in other operating expenses]

Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary (b) - - mm - 3,893 nm
[included in other operating income]

Allowance for doubtful trade and other receivables, net (©) ©6) (168)  (96) ©98) (469) (19
[included in other operating expenses]

Net loss on disposal of an investment property (d) - - mm 48) - nm
[included in other operating expenses]

Foreign exchange (loss) / gain, net (e) (214) 163 nm (40) 506 nm
[included in other operating (expenses) / income]

Write-back of recognised corporate guarantee no longer required ® 346 - mm 346 - nm
[included in other operating income]

Discount on acquisition of a subsidiary (2 397 - mm 397 - nm
[included in other operating income]

Write-back of allowance for diminution in value for development properties, net 403 528 (4 403 847 (52)

[included in cost of sales, other operating expenses, other operating income]

Explanatory notes

(a) Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations recorded a loss in 2Q2019, 1H2019 and 1H2018.
The translation losses for these periods were mainly due to the depreciation of the Australian Dollar (“AUD”)
against the Singapore Dollar (“SGD”). Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations recorded a
profit in 2Q2018 mainly due to a slight appreciation of AUD against the SGD during this period.

Exchange differences on translation of equity investments recorded profits in 2Q2019, 2Q2018 and 1H2018.
The translation profits for these periods were mainly due to the appreciation of the United States Dollar
(“USD”) against the SGD in their respective periods. Exchange differences on translation of equity
investments recorded a loss in 1H2019 mainly due to the depreciation of USD against SGD.

(b) There was a net gain on disposal of a subsidiary in 1H2018 due to a one-off $3.9 million gain from the
divestment of a subsidiary in China in 1Q2018.

(c) Allowance for doubtful trade and other receivables in 2Q2019 was $6,000 as compared to $168,000 in
2Q2018. The decrease was mainly due to a decrease in provision made for receivables from tenants of the
Group’s investment properties in Singapore. Allowance for doubtful trade and other receivables in 1H2019
was $98,000 as compared to $469,000 in 1H2018, decreased by $371,000. The decrease was mainly due to a
decrease in provision made for receivables from tenants of the Group’s investment properties in Singapore
and Australia.

(d) Net loss on disposal of an investment property of $48,000 in 1H2019 arose from the transaction cost incurred
upon completion of the collective sale of Century Warehouse, whereas the fair value gain was already
reflected in 4Q2018.

(e) Net foreign exchange loss in 2Q2019 and 1H2019 were $0.2 million and $40,000 respectively. The net
foreign exchange losses for both periods were mainly due to the depreciation of AUD against SGD. In
comparison, there was a net foreign exchange gain of $0.2 million and $0.5 million in 2Q2018 and 1H2018
respectively. The net foreign exchange gains for both periods were mainly due to the appreciation of
Renminbi (“RMB”) and USD against SGD.

(f) There was a write-back of corporate guarantee of $0.3 million in 2Q2019 and 1H2019. This was mainly
attributable to the cancellation of bank facilities by an associate.

(g) There was a discount on acquisition of a subsidiary in Indonesia of $0.4 million in 2Q2019 and 1H2019.
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

1. (B)(I) Statements of Financial Position

Group Company
30.06.19 31.12.18 30.06.19 31.12.18
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balances 136,947 133,007 28,623 25,165
Trade and other receivables 79,726 76,142 468 347
Amounts due from subsidiaries - - 398,356 400,312
Inventories 2,780 2,792 - -
Development properties 355,317 358,530 - -
Contract assets (h) 21,942 13,517 - -
Contract costs 214 757 - -
Assets classified as held for sale () - 42,040 - -
Total current assets 596,926 626,785 427,447 425,824
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 409,499 425,944 60 67
Right-of-use assets 15 - - -
Investment properties 1,737,093 1,742,662 498 498
Investments in subsidiaries - - 735,378 733,800
Investments in equity accounted investees 126,762 117,914 - -
Deferred tax assets 2,063 2,135 - -
Contract assets (h) - 1,934 - -
Other non-current assets 11 12 - -
Total non-current assets 2,275,443 2,290,601 735,936 734,365
Total assets 2,872,369 2,917,386 1,163,383 1,160,189
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings (k) 787,792 884,170 229,435 79,877
Trade and other payables (m) 96,389 125,125 17,815 24,573
Contract liabilities (n) 449 593 - -
Amounts due to subsidiaries - - 324,062 308,288
Income tax payable (p) 3,166 5,317 - 14
Total current liabilities 887,796 1,015,205 571,312 412,752
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings (k) 849,650 746,271 - 149,203
Lease liabilities 16 - - -
Deferred tax liabilities 46,344 47,073 - -
Other non-current liabilities 361 373 - -
Total non-current liabilities 896,371 793,717 - 149,203
Total liabilities 1,784,167 1,808,922 571,312 561,955
Capital, reserves and non-controlling interests
Share capital 175,234 173,945 175,234 173,945
Treasury shares Q) (2,643) (1,523) (2,643) (1,523)
Reserves 900,497 921,030 419,480 425812
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,073,088 1,093,452 592,071 598,234
Non-controlling interests 15,114 15,012 - -
Total equity 1,088,202 1,108,464 592,071 598,234
Total liabilities and equity 2,872,369 2,917,386 1,163,383 1,160,189
Working capital # (290,870) (388,420)
Total borrowings (k) 1,637,442 1,630,441
Gross gearing (times) * 1.50 1.47
Net borrowings = 1,500,495 1,497,434
Net gearing (times) * 1.38 1.35
Net asset value per share (in cents) 90.4 92.2

# Working capital = total current assets - total current liabilities
~ Gross gearing = total borrowings / total equity; Net gearing = net borrowings / total equity

™M Net borrowings = total borrowings - cash and bank balances
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Explanatory notes

(h) The Group’s current contract assets as at 30 June 2019 were $21.9 million as compared to $13.5 million as at

0

(k)

31 December 2018, an increase of $8.4 million. The increase was mainly attributable to an increase in
unbilled receivables from buyers of residential development properties in Singapore.

There are no non-current contract assets as at 30 June 2019. The Group’s non-current contract assets of $1.9
million as at 31 December 2018 arose from the deferred payment scheme of a residential development
property in Singapore. As this balance is expected to be collected within the next 12 months, it has been
reclassified to current contract assets as at 30 June 2019.

The Group has no assets classified as held for sale as at 30 June 2019. The Group’s assets classified as held
for sale of $42.0 million as at 31 December 2018 pertains to a planned sale of an investment property in
Singapore. The sale was completed in March 2019.

The Group’s loans and borrowings as at 30 June 2019 was $1,637.4 million as compared to $1,630.4 million
as at 31 December 2018, increased by $7.0 million. The increase was mainly due to higher utilisation of
borrowings for 18 Robinson and trust receipts for commodities trading from the Industrial Services segment,
partially offset by lower carrying value of AUD-denominated borrowing arising from the depreciation of
AUD against SGD.

(m) Trade and other payables as at 30 June 2019 was $96.4 million as compared to $125.1 million as at 31

(n)

(P

(@

December 2018, decreased by $28.7 million. The decrease was mainly due to payments made to vendors.

The Group’s contract liabilities as at 30 June 2019 were $0.4 million as compared to $0.6 million as at 31
December 2018. Contract liabilities relate to the amount of payments received from purchasers in excess of
the amount of revenue recognised.

The Group’s income tax payable as at 30 June 2019 was $3.2 million as compared to $5.3 million as at 31
December 2018, decreased by $2.1 million. The decrease was mainly due to tax payments made of $5.1
million, partially offset by current year’s tax charge of $1.6 million and under provision of prior year’s
income tax of $1.2 million.

The Group’s treasury shares as at 30 June 2019 was $2.6 million as compared to $1.5 million as at 31
December 2018, an increase of $1.1 million. The increase was due to the re-purchase of 2,995,000 shares
from the market.

Refer to Note 8(iii) for further review on the Group’s financial position.
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

1.  (B){II) Group’s Borrowings and Debt Securities
Group Company
30.06.19 31.12.18 30.06.19 31.12.18
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Secured borrowings
Amount repayable in one year or less, or on demand 558,357 804,293 - -
Amount repayable after one year 849,650 597,068 - -
1,408,007 1,401,361 - -
Unsecured borrowings
Amount repayable in one year or less, or on demand 229,435 79,877 229,435 79,877
Amount repayable after one year - 149,203 - 149,203
229,435 229,080 229,435 229,080
1,637,442 1,630,441 229,435 229,080
The Group’s borrowings are secured except for the two series of notes issued under the Medium Term Note
Programme (“MTN”). Approximately 86% (31 December 2018: 86%) of the Group’s borrowings are secured.
The Group’s secured borrowings are applied to financing of development, investment and hotel properties in
Singapore and Australia respectively.
Approximately 86% (31 December 2018: 86%) of the Group’s borrowings are on floating rates with various
tenures, while the remaining 14% (31 December 2018: 14%) are on fixed rates.
SGD denominated borrowings represented approximately 80% (31 December 2018: 79%) of total borrowings;
while the remaining were in AUD.
MTN Programme
The Company established a S$900 million MTN Programme in February 2013 and may issue notes in series in
SGD or other currencies.
Series I of S$80 million were issued on 14 October 2014. They are of five years duration, unsecured, bear a fixed
interest rate of 4.50% per annum payable semi-annually in arrear and will mature on 14 October 2019.
Series I of S$150 million were issued on 5 June 2017. They are of three years duration, unsecured, bear a fixed
interest rate of 6.00% per annum payable semi-annually in arrear and will mature on 5 June 2020.
Details of any collateral
The net book value of assets pledged or mortgaged to financial institutions was $2,504.9 million (31 December
2018: $2,571.8 million) as at 30 June 2019.
© Tuan Sing Holdings Limited Page 5 of 18
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

1. (C) Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Group Group
Second Quarter First Half
30.06.19 30.06.18 30.06.19 30.06.18
Note $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 3,934 4,178 5,952 13,775
Adjustments for:
Fair value loss 254 131 173 198
Share of results of equity accounted investments (6,747) (4,949) (10,256) (9,121)
Write-back of allowance for diminution in value for development (403) (528) (403) (847)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,034 2,130 4,030 4,334
Allowance for doubtful trade and other receivables, net (c) 6 168 98 469
Write-back of recognised corporate guarantee no longer required () (346) - (346) -
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 4 - 4
Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary (b) - - - (3,893)
Net loss on disposal of an investment property (d) - - 48 -
Discount on acquisition of a subsidiary (g) 397) - 397) -
Interest income (1,346) (1,321) (2,615) (2,464)
Finance costs 13,479 10,326 26,935 20,453
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 10,468 10,139 23,219 22,908
Development properties less progressive billings receivable 3,073 (22,039) 10,922 (18,014)
Inventories (114) 333 13) 410
Trade and other receivables 3,960 (8,821) (4,025) 6,480
Trade and other payables (18,260) 17,738 (29,021) 522
Contract assets (2,282) - (6,491) -
Contract costs 136 - 544 -
Contract liabilities (427) - (144) -
Cash (used in) / generated from operations (3,446) (2,650) (5,009) 12,306
Interest received 672 766 4,074 984
Income tax paid (6,420) (8,241) (5,715) (9,815)
Net cash (used in) / from operating activities (9,194) (10,125) (6,650) 3,475
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (733) (397) (1,598) (1,285)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 12 6 17
Proceeds from sale of an investment property - - 41,992 -
Additions to investment properties (1,082) (22,641) (2,062) (44,727)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (2.228)  (11310) (4,677) (11,310)
Payments for acquisition of land - (16,663) - (16,663)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary - - - 15,967
Net cash (used in) / from investing activities (4,037) (50,999) 33,661 (58,001)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 16,971 23,196 61,313 25,994
Repayment of loans and borrowings (19,260) (280) (42,911) (1,037)
Interest paid (21,162)  (14,835) (27.748) (19,322)
Bank deposits (pledged) / released as securities for bank facilities (1,095) (481) (2,252) 147
Dividend paid to shareholders (9,383) (5,431) (9,383) (5,431)
Purchase of treasury shares (1,038) - (1,120) -
Cancellation of shares buyback - (43) - (43)
Net cash (used in) / from financing activities (34,967) 2,126 (22,101) 308
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (48,198) (58,998) 4,910 (54,218)
Cash and cash equivalents:
At the beginning of the period 116,451 155,131 66,567 151,145
Foreign currency translation adjustments 525 (90) (2,699) (884)
At the end of the period (aa) 68,778 96,043 68,778 96,043
Please refer to Note 8(iv) for the review on cash flow.
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Explanatory notes

(aa) Cash and cash equivalents

Group
30.06.19 30.06.18
$'000 $'000
Cash and bank balances 136,947 162,905
Less:
Encumbered fixed deposits and bank balances (68,169) (66,862)
Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated statement of cash 68,778 96,043

The Group had cash and cash equivalents of $68.8 million as at 30 June 2019, as compared to $96.0 million as at
30 June 2018.

The Group had encumbered fixed deposits and bank balances of $68.2 million as at 30 June 2019 as compared to
$66.9 million as at 30 June 2018. The encumbered fixed deposits and bank balances are held by banks as security
for credit facilities and are excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

In China, the Group had cash placed with banks amounting to $79.8 million (30 June 2018: $94.7 million); of
which, $62.6 million (30 June 2018: $65.1 million) was pledged as security for banking facilities in Singapore as

at 30 June 2019. The repatriation of such cash into Singapore is subject to Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
in China.

© Tuan Sing Holdings Limited Page 7 of 18
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

1. (D)(I) Statements of Changes in Equity

The Group
Foreign Attributable
currency Asset Other to owners Non-
Share Treasury translation  revaluation capital Revenue of the controlling Total
capital shares account reserve reserves reserve Company interests equity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2019
At 1 January 2019 173,945 (1,523) (48,596) 139,151 156,909 673,566 1,093,452 15,012 1,108,464
Effects of adopting SFRS(I) 16 o o o (1) ) o (1
At 1 January 2019 (Restated) 173,945 (1,523) (48.596) 139,151 156,909 673,565 1,093.451 15,012 1,108,463
Total comprehensive income
Loss for the period - - - - - 1,640 1,640 137 1,777
Other comprehensive loss,
net of tax o o (11,500) o o o (11,500) (42) (11,542)
Total - - (11,500) - - 1,640 (9,860) 95 (9,765)
Transaction with owners,
recognised directly in equity
Transfer from revenue reserve to
other capital reserves - o o B 5,247 (5,247) 8 8 o
Non-controlling interest arising from acquisition
of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 7 7
Issue of shares under the Scrip
Dividend Scheme 1,289 o o = o o 1,289 o 1,289
Repurchase of shares = (1,120) = = = = (1,120) = (1,120),
Dividend paid to shareholders
- Cash - - - - - (9,383) (9,383) = (9,383)
- Share = o = = o (1,289) (1,289) o (1.289)|
Total 1,289 (1,120) - - 5,247 (15,919) (10,503) 7 (10,496)
At 30 June 2019 175,234 (2,643) (60,096) 139,151 162,156 659,286 1,073,088 15,114 1,088,202
At 1 January 2018 172,514 - (31,038) 133,756 150,662 563,698 989,592 10,627 1,000,219
Total comprehensive income
Profit for the period = = = - - 11,144 11,144 112 11,256
Other comprehensive (loss) / income,
net of tax s = (2,187) s 100 = (2.087) 100 (1,987),
Total - - (2,187) - 100 11,144 9,057 212 9,269
Transaction with owners,
recognised directly in equity
Transfer from revenue reserve to
other capital reserves = = > 5 6,217 (6,217) = S 5
Non-controlling interest arising from acquisition
of a subsidiary = = > = = > = 3,434 3434
Non-controlling interest arising from incorporation
of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 600 600
Issue of shares under the Scrip
Dividend Scheme 1,690 - - - - - 1,690 - 1,690
Shares bought back and cancelled (43) - - - - - (43) - (43).
Dividend paid to shareholders
- Cash = > = = s (5.431) (5.431) = (5,431)
- Share o o o o o (1,690) (1,690) o (1,690)
Goodwill paid over acquiring additional shares in a
member of associate o o o o (11,202) o (11,202) o (11,202)
Total 1,647 - - - (4,985) (13,338) (16,676) 4,034 (12,642)
At 30 June 2018 174.161 - (33,225) 133,756 145,777 561,504 981,973 14,873 996,846
The Company
Other
Share Treasury capital Revenue Total
capital shares reserve reserve equity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2019
At 1 January 2019 173,945 (1,523) 101,264 324,548 598,234
Profit, representing total comprehensive income for the period = = = 4,340 4,340
Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity
Issue of shares under the Scrip Dividend Scheme 1,289 - - - 1,289
Dividend paid to sharcholders
- Cash o o o (9.383)] (9.383)]
- Share - - - (1,289) (1,289)
Repurchase of shares = (1,120) = = (1,120))
Total 1,289 (1,120) = 10,672)| (10,503)|
At30 June 2019 175,234 (2.643) 101.264 318.216 592,071
2018
At 1 January 2018 172,514 - 101,264 319,787 593.565
Profit, representing total comprehensive income for the period = - S 9,613 9,613
Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity
Issuec of shares under the Scrip Dividend Scheme 1.690 - - - 1.690
Dividend paid to sharcholders
- Cash = = = (5,431) (5,431)
- Share = = = (1.690)) (1.690)
Shares bought back and cancelled (“43) - - - (43))
Total 1,647 = = (7.121) (5.474)
At30 June 2018 174.161 - 101,2_64 322.279 597.704
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

1. (D)D) Share Capital

Details of any changes in the company’s share capital arising from rights issue, bonus issue, share
buy-backs, exercise of share options or warrants, conversion of other issues of equity securities, issue of
shares for cash or as consideration for acquisition or for any other purpose since the end of the previous
period reported on. State the number of shares that may be issued on conversion of all the outstanding
conversion. If any, against the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares and subsidiary
holdings of the issuer, as at the end of the current financial period reported on and as at the end of the
corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year.

Share Capital

The Company
No. of shares Amount
S$°000
Balance as at 1 April 2019 1,186,204,962 173,945
Shares bought back and held as treasury shares (2,795,000) -
Shares issued under the Scrip Dividend Scheme 3,748,449 1,289
Balance as at 30 June 2019 1,187,158,411 175,234

Save for the above, there has been no change in the Company’s share capital arising from rights issue, bonus
issue, exercise of share options or warrants, conversion of other issues of equity securities, issue of shares for
cash or as consideration for acquisition or for any other purpose since 31 March 2019, being the end of the
preceding period reported on.

There were also no outstanding convertible securities for which shares might be issued as at 30 June 2019 and 30
June 2018.

To show the total number of issued share excluding treasury shares as at the end of the current financial
period and as at the end of the immediately preceding year

Total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares as at 30 June 2019 was 1,187,158,411 ordinary shares
(31 December 2018: 1,186,404,962 ordinary shares).

A statement showing all sales, transfers, cancellation and/or use of treasury shares as at the end of the
current financial period reported on

Treasury Shares
The Company

No. of shares Amount

S$°000
Balance as at 1 April 2019 4,583,400 1,605
Shares bought back and held as treasury shares 2,795,000 1,038
Balance as at 30 June 2019 7,378,400 2,643

There were no other transfers, disposal or cancellation of treasury shares during the financial period. As at 30
June 2019, the Company held 7,378,400 treasury shares which represent 0.6% of the total number of issued
shares (excluding treasury shares). The Company did not hold any treasury shares as at 30 June 2018.
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

2.  Audit

Whether the figures have been audited or reviewed, and in accordance with which auditing standard or
practice

The financial statements have not been audited or reviewed by the Company’s external auditors.
3.  Auditor’s Report

Where the figures have been audited or reviewed, the auditor’s report (including any qualifications or
emphasis of matter)

Not applicable.
4.  Accounting Policies

Whether the same accounting policies and methods of computation as in the issuer’s most recently audited
annual financial statements have been applied

Except as disclosed in Item 5 below, the Group has applied the same accounting policies and methods of
computation in the financial statements for the current financial period as compared with those of the audited
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

5. Changes in accounting policies

If there are any changes in the accounting policies and methods of computation including any required by
an accounting standards, what has changed as well as the reasons for, and the effect of, the change

(i) SFRS(I) 16 Leases
The Group has applied SFRS(I) 16 Leases that is effective from 1 January 2019.

SFRS(I) 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant
changes to the lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance lease, and requiring
the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases, except for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets. In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have
remained largely unchanged. The Group and the Company have applied the changes in accounting policies using
the modified retrospective approach. The impact of adoption is adjusted against the opening balance of retained
earnings on 1 January 2019, which is the date of initial application. Comparatives are not restated.

Refer to Note 1(B)(I) for the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities recognised as at 30 June 2019 as a result of
the application of SFRS(I) 16 and refer to Note 1(D)(I) for the impact on opening retained earnings.

(i1) IAS 23 Borrowing costs — Revenue recognised over time

On 6 March 2019, the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) Interpretation Committee has
finalised the agenda decision on IAS 23 Borrowing Costs — Revenue recognised over time. It was concluded that
borrowing costs would not be capitalised when the borrowings relate to the construction of a residential

multi-unit real estate development for which revenue is recognised over time. No adjustments have been made as
the Group and Company are in the process of assessing the impact of adoption.
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

UNAUDITED RESULTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER AND HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

6.

Earnings Per Ordinary Share (“EPS”)

Group Group
Second Quarter First Half
30.06.19 30.06.18 30.06.19 30.06.18
(a) Earnings per ordinary share based on the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue (in cents):
Excluding fair value adjustments 0.1 0.3 0.2 1.0
Including fair value adjustments 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.9
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (in millions) 1,185.0 1,187.1 1,185.7 1,187.1
(b) Earnings per ordinary share based on fully diluted basis (in cents)
Excluding fair value adjustments 0.1 0.3 0.2 1.0
Including fair value adjustments 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.9
Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares (in millions) 1,185.0 1,187.1 1,185.7 1,187.1

Earnings per ordinary share = Profit attributable to owners of the Company / Weighted average number of shares

There was no outstanding dilutive potential ordinary share. Hence diluted earnings per ordinary share were the

same as the earnings per ordinary share for the respective periods.

Net Asset Value Per Ordinary Share (“NAV”)

Group Company
30.06.19 31.12.18 30.06.19 31.12.18
Net asset value per ordinary share (in cents) 90.4 92.2 49.9 50.4
Total number of issued shares (in millions) 1,187.2 1,186.4 1,187.2 1,186.4

Net asset value per ordinary share = Equity attributable to owners of the Company / Total number of issued shares

© Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
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8. Review of Group Performance

The Group operates four business segments, namely Property, Hotel Investments, Industrial Services and Other
Investments.

The Group’s flagship building, 18 Robinson obtained Temporary Occupation Permit (“TOP”) upon the
completion of the previously known Robinson Towers’ redevelopment in January 2019. It is expected to generate
recurring rental income when the tenancies commence following fitting out periods in 2H2019.

The Group has commenced Additions & Alterations (“A&A”’) works at 896 Dunearn Road in 1Q2019 which will
reposition the property to introduce more lifestyle retail and food & beverage tenancies in the building. This is
expected to generate recurring rental income upon completion of the works and commencement of the new
tenancies in 2H2019.

The Group completed the acquisition of P.T. Titian Damai Mandiri (“TDM”), an Indonesia company which holds
a land allocation letter from Batam Authorities granting TDM the rights to acquire 40 hectares of land in Marina
City, Batam in early April 2019.

(i) Financial Performance

202019

The Group’s revenue was $73.9 million as compared to $81.7 million in 2Q2018, a decrease of $7.8 million. The
decrease was mainly due to lower revenue from Industrial Services segment, partially offset by higher revenue
from Property segment.

Gross profit was $13.8 million. The decrease of $1.7 million was in line with the lower revenue.

Other operating income was $1.3 million as compared to $0.5 million in 2Q2018, an increase of $0.8 million. The
increase was mainly due to a write-back of corporate guarantee previously recognised of $0.3 million arising
from the cancellation of bank facilities by an associate and a discount on acquisition of a subsidiary in Indonesia
of $0.4 million.

Distribution costs of $0.9 million were comparable to $0.8 million in 2Q2018.

Administrative expenses were $4.4 million as compared to $6.7 million in 2Q2018, a decrease of $2.3 million.
The decrease was mainly due to a write-back on provision of legal costs relating to a development project,
partially offset by higher manpower costs and professional fees.

Other operating expenses of $0.2 million were comparable to $0.2 million in 2Q2018.

Share of results of equity accounted investments was $6.7 million as compared to $4.9 million in 2Q2018, an
increase of $1.8 million. The increase was the result of higher net profit attributable to shareholders of US$11.3
million from GulTech, as compared to US$8.2 million in the previous corresponding quarter. The increase in net
profit attributable to shareholders was mainly due to an increase in share of profits from Wuxi plant as well as
increased its stake in GulTech Wuxi on 30 June 2018.

Interest income of $1.3 million was comparable to $1.3 million in 2Q2018.

Finance costs were $13.5 million as compared to $10.3 million in 2Q2018, an increase of $3.2 million. The
increase was due mainly to higher interest expense for 18 Robinson. Prior to obtaining TOP for 18 Robinson, the
interest in respect of the borrowing was capitalised. In addition, interest rates on borrowings for other investment
properties had increased in the course of the period.

Income tax expense was $2.3 million as compared to $1.1 million in 2Q2018, an increase of $1.2 million. In

2Q2019, the higher tax expense was mainly due to an under provision of tax arising from a distribution in
Australia and higher deferred tax expense arising from the sale of residential projects that are under development.
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As a result of the above, the profit attributable to the owners of the Company was $1.5 million as compared to
$3.0 million in the same period last year, a decrease of $1.5 million.

1H2019

The Group’s revenue was $151.4 million as compared to $158.1 million in 1H2018, a decrease of $6.7 million.
The decrease was mainly due to lower revenue from Hotels Investment and Industrial Services segments,
partially offset by higher revenue from Property segment.

Gross profit was $30.3 million. The decrease of $1.8 million was in line with the lower revenue.

Other operating income was $1.6 million as compared to $5.5 million in 1H2018, a decrease of $3.9 million. The
decrease was due mainly to the absence of $3.9 million gain from a divestment of a China subsidiary in 2018.

Distribution costs were $2.0 million as compared to $1.3 million in 1H2018, an increase of $0.7 million. The
increase was mainly attributable to higher commission expenses and marketing and promotion expenses relating
to residential projects.

Administrative expenses were $9.3 million as compared to $12.9 million in 1H2018, a decrease of $3.6 million.
The decrease was mainly due to a write-back on provision of legal costs relating to a development project,
partially offset by higher manpower costs.

Other operating expenses of $0.5 million were comparable to $0.5 million in 1H2018.

Share of results of equity accounted investments was $10.3 million as compared to $9.1 million in 1H2018, an
increase of $1.2 million. The increase was because of a higher net profit attributable to shareholders of US$16.8
million from GulTech, as compared to US$15.4 million in the corresponding period last year. The increase in net
profit attributable to shareholders was mainly attributable to an increase in share of profit from Wuxi plant as
GulTech increased its stake in GulTech Wuxi on 30 June 2018.

Interest income of $2.6 million was comparable to $2.5 million in 1H2018.

Finance costs were $26.9 million as compared to $20.5 million in 1H2018, an increase of $6.4 million. The
increase was due mainly to interest expenses for 18 Robinson. Prior to obtaining TOP for 18 Robinson, the
interest of the borrowing was capitalised. In addition, interest rates on borrowings for other investment properties
had increased during the period.

Income tax expense was $4.2 million as compared to $2.5 million in 1H2018, an increase of $1.7 million. In
1H2019, the higher tax expense was mainly due to an under provision of tax arising from a distribution in

Australia and higher deferred tax expense arising from the sale of residential projects that are under development.

As a result of the above, the profit attributable to the owners of the Company was $1.6 million as compared to a
profit of $11.1 million in the same period last year, a decrease of $9.5 million.

(ii) Business Segment

Property segment

Property segment revenue for IH2019 was $50.5 million as compared to $35.4 million in 1H2018, an increase of
$15.1 million. The increase was mainly driven by an increase in sales and percentage of completion of

development properties. This was partially offset by the decrease in revenue from investment properties mainly
due to the on-going refurbishment works to reposition 896 Dunearn Road.
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Profit for IH2019 was $1.5 million as compared to $10.8 million in 1H2018, a decrease of $9.3 million. The
decrease in profit was due mainly to the absence of $3.9 million gain arising from the divestment of a China
subsidiary, and an increase in finance cost of $6.3 million, which was mainly due to interest for 18 Robinson
being expensed after obtaining TOP in January 2019.

Hotels Investment segment

Hotels Investment segment revenue for 1H2019 was $49.5 million (or A$51.5 million) as compared to $54.5
million (or A$53.2 million) in 1H2018, a decrease of $5.0 million (or A$1.7 million). Despite a slight decrease in
occupancy rate, the Melbourne hotel performed better with an increase in RevPAR. However, it was offset by the
weaker performance of the Perth hotel.

Correspondingly, profit for IH2019 was $0.1 million as compared to $1.3 million in 1H2018, a decrease of $1.2
million. The decrease was mainly due to weaker performance of the Perth hotel as well as the under provision of
tax arising from a distribution to its shareholder.

Industrial Services segment

Industrial Services segment revenue for IH2019 was $52.1 million as compared to $68.8 million in 1H2018, a
decrease of $16.7 million. The decrease was mainly due to lower contribution from the Commodities Trading
unit.

The profit of $0.2 million for 1H2019 was comparable to 1H2018 of $0.4 million. While revenue decreased,
profitability was comparable as income is based on the quantity of delivery.

Other Investments segment

Other Investments segment is mainly the Group’s 44.48% equity stake in GulTech, a manufacturer and vendor of
printed circuit boards. The Group’s share of profit in Other Investments segment for 1H2019 was $10.5 million
as compared to $8.9 million in 1H2018. The increase was mainly attributable to an increase in share of profits
from Wuxi plant as Gultech increased its stake in Gultech Wuxi on 30 June 2018.

2Q2019 versus 2Q2018
Corporate Inter-
Hotels Industrial Other and Segment Total
Property Investment Services Investments' Others® Eliminati Ci dated
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000

Revenue 23,930 23,405 26,940 - 2,735 (3,093) 73,917
Profit for the period 1,038 (882) 186 7,178 (5,424) (507) 1,589
Revenue 18,243 25,342 38,405 _ 2,310 (2,637) 81,663
Profit for the period 3,444 (869) 445 4,818 (4,006) (750) 3,082

1H2019 versus 1H2018

Corporate Inter-
Hotels Industrial Other and Segment Total
Property Investment Services Investments' Others’ Eliminati C lidated
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Revenue 50,498 49,494 52,110 o 15,550 (16,272) 151,380
Profit for the period 1,509 122 223 10,498 310 (10,885) 1,777

Revenue 35,421 54,548 68,827 - 19,624 (20,287) 158,133
Profit for the period 10,803 1,324 400 8,923 6,277 (16,471) 11,256
Note:

1. No revenue is reported under “Other Investments” as the Group equity accounts for its investments in GulTech and Pan-West.
2. “Corporate and Others” refers to the aggregation of provision of corporate-level services by the Company to the various subsidiaries and
charged as such. They are eliminated at group-level upon consolidation.
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(iii) Financial Position and Working Capital

Total assets as at 30 June 2019 was $2,872.4 million as compared to $2,917.4 million as at 31 December 2018, a
decrease of $45.0 million. The decrease was mainly due to a disposal of investment property in March 2019.

Total liabilities as at 30 June 2019 was $1,784.2 million as compared to $1,808.9 million as at 31 December 2018,
a decrease of $24.7 million. The decrease was mainly due to a decrease in trade and other payables.

As at 30 June 2019, shareholders’ fund was $1,073.1 million as compared to $1,093.5 million as at 31 December
2018, a decrease of $20.4 million.

The Group’s negative working capital of $290.9 million as at 30 June 2019, was mainly attributed to current
borrowings of $787.8 million, comprising secured borrowings of $558.4 million and MTN (Series I and II) of
$229.4 million. The Group is in on-going discussions with bankers to refinance these loans and borrowings.

(iv) Cash Flows

During 1H2019, net cash used in operating activities of $6.7 million arose from profit for the period, after
changes in working capital and other adjustments.

Net cash generated from investing activities of $33.7 million was mainly attributable to the sale proceeds of an
investment property in Singapore for $42.0 million. This was offset by payments for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in Indonesia, progress payments for investment properties and purchase of property, plant and
equipment.

Net cash used in financing activities of $22.1 million was mainly due to the interest payments of $27.7 million,
dividends paid to shareholders of $9.4 million, partially offset by the net proceeds from loans and borrowings of
$18.4 million.

As a result, cash and cash equivalents were $68.8 million as at 30 June 2019, representing an inflow of $4.9
million since 31 December 2018.

9. Variance from prospect statement

Where a forecast, or a prospect statement, has been previously disclosed to shareholders, any variance
between it and the actual results

Not applicable.
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10. Outlook

A commentary at the date of the announcement of the significant trends and competitive conditions of the
industry in which the group operates and any known factors or events that may affect the group in the
next reporting period and the next 12 months

As the Group marks its Golden Jubilee in 2019, the Group has embarked on a strategic business transformation to
reposition itself from a niche developer to a regional player with value-added opportunities in commercial,
residential and hospitality properties in various gateway cities in the Asia-Pacific, with a particular emphasis in
Singapore, China, Indonesia and Australia.

In Singapore, the office market continues to be favourable. The Group expects 18 Robinson and 896 Dunearn
Road to generate healthy stream of recurring rental income in the second half of the year. The Group will
continue to market their residential projects actively, namely Kandis Residence and Mont Botanik Residence.
Kandis Residence is expected to obtain TOP by year end. This would be a choice development for upgraders in
the serene Sembawang Park vicinity.

In Australia, the Group’s Hotel segment will continue to bring in healthy income. Grand Hyatt Melbourne
continues to perform well whilst Hyatt Regency Perth operates in a softer market. On 10 May 2019, the City of
Perth Council approved the redevelopment plan for the Perth commercial centre. The Group will commence
Asset Enhancement Initiative and it is expected to be completed by 1H2021.

In China, the Group’s investment in the Sanya project has commenced construction work. Upon completion, it
will be an iconic landmark project which comprises commercial, residential and retail components and is
connected to the Sanya High-Speed Railway Station. It will have a total saleable and leasable area of 2.6 million
square feet.

In Batam, Indonesia, the government announced that they will build a bridge to connect Batam and Bintan, as
part of the efforts to develop industry and tourism in the area. This will bring more tourism opportunities to
Batam which will benefit the Group’s development in Batam. The Group intends to develop the site into an
integrated mixed-development township, comprising hotels with MICE facilities, condotels, retail outlets, food
& beverage, entertainment spaces, tourist facilities and attractions as well as residential properties.

In the region, the Group will continue to seek opportunities, explore potential partnerships and collaborations to
grow its portfolio of well-located assets and tourism market.
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11. Dividend

(a) Whether an interim (final) ordinary dividend has been declared (recommended); and
No dividend has been recommended or declared for 2Q2019 and 1H2019.

(b) Interim or final dividend per share
Not applicable.

(c) Whether the dividend is before tax, net of tax or tax exempt. If before tax or net of tax, state the tax rate and
the country where the dividend is derived. (If the dividend is not taxable in the hands of shareholders, this
must be stated)

Not applicable.

(d) Date the dividend is payable
Not applicable.

() Book Closure Date
Not applicable.

If no dividend has been declared (recommended), a statement to that effect

There was no interim dividend declared for 2Q2019 and 1H2019.

12. Interested Person Transactions (“IPTs”)

If the Group has obtained a general mandate from shareholders for IPTs, the aggregate value of such

transactions as required under Rule 920(1)(a)(ii). If no IPT mandate has been obtained, statement to that

effect

The Group has obtained the IPTs mandate from the shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 24
April 2019.

Interested Person Transactions Aggregate value of all interested
person transactions conducted under
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to
Rule 920 of the SGX-ST Listing
Manual (excluding transactions less
than $100,000) for the period
24 April 2019 to 30 June 2019

$°000
Rendering of corporate support to Interested Persons
- Nuri Properties Pte Ltd and its associates 42
Rendering of corporate support from Interested Persons
- Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd and its associates 33

13. Confirmation pursuant to Rule 720(1) of the SGX Listing Manual

The Company confirms that it has procured undertakings from all its directors and executive officers in the
format set out in Appendix 7.7 pursuant to Rule 720(1) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST.
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14. Negative Assurance Confirmation Pursuant to Rule 705(5) of the SGX Listing Manual

We, Ong Beng Kheong and William Nursalim alias William Liem, being two directors of Tuan Sing Holdings
Limited (the “Company”), do hereby confirm on behalf of the directors of the Company that, to the best of our
knowledge, nothing has come to the attention of the Board of Directors of the Company which may render the
financial results of the second quarter and half year ended 30 June 2019 to be false or misleading in any material
aspect.

Ong Beng Kheong William Nursalim alias William Liem
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Julie Koh Ngin Joo
Group Company Secretary
24 July 2019
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